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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBERE

The following is a summary of the published results WTNAAEERZLIABEMREEND AME
and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five ENEEMBERE:
financial years:

RESULTS ES
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“§-f -—B--% C-T-% “E-NF ZBN\F

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT ARSI ARETR  ARETR

Revenue WA 325,620 280,252 183,025 164,940 152,084
Gross profit EH 152,198 147,024 102,707 101,156 82,412
Profit/(loss) for the year KEERF/ (BE) 10,884 30,017 (2,950) (19,640) 6,232
Profit/(loss) for the year WFATERERERE

attributable to: wi/ (E8):

Owners of the Company ARAEEA 13,523 33,011 (2,059) (20,199) 7,588

Non-controlling interests R ER (2,639) (2,994) (891) 559 (1,356)

10,884 30,017 (2,950) (19,640) 6,232

Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREKXEN/ (BB)

(RMB cent) (ARE%) 0.20 0.52 (0.03) (0.37) 0.15
ADJUSTED RESULTS* RAREE
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAER/ (F8) 25,104 43,765 4,525 3,047 17,363
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ~ AFE AR AHEA A

owners of the Company g/ (B8R) 17,265 34,011 357 (7,519) 14,448
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREXRF/ (BB)

(RMB cent) (ARES) 0.26 0.54 0.01 (0.14) 0.29
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBERE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZE-ZE -“E--F CZE-FF —E-fF ZE-)\
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE AREFT AREFT AREFT ARETR
Non-current assets ERBEE 305,383 331,087 274,419 318,821 204,599
Current assets RBEE 250,314 239,273 172,269 123,894 107,613
Current liabilities THaE (76,938) (104,237) (77,597) (62,281) (47,067)
Net current assets RBEEFE 173,376 135,036 94,672 61,613 60,546
Non-current liabilities ERBaE (88,207) (94,870) (106,012) (119,934) (11,979)
Non-controlling interests FERER (737) (3,376) (6,370) (4,212) (2,918)
Equity attributable to owners of the A GIEE AL
Company Bi 389,815 367,877 256,709 256,288 250,248
# Adjusted results refers to activities for the period excluding share-  # ERABREEEPRNZEL TREURD AEE 2

based payments and impairment losses charged/reversed.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE®RE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”) of Chuanglian Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022 (the "Reporting Period”, or the “Year”).

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded a turnover of approximately RMB325,620,000
(2021: approximately RMB280,252,000), representing
an increase of approximately 16.2% as compared
to that of last year. Out of the total turnover,
approximately RMB206,226,000 (2021: approximately
RMB243,310,000) was derived from the educational
consultancy and online training and education segment
which accounted for approximately 63.3% of the total
turnover for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
approximately RMB119,394,000 (2021: approximately
RMB36,942,000) was derived from the financial services
business segment which accounted for approximately
36.7% of the total turnover for the year ended 31
December 2022. The profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
approximately RMB13,523,000 (2021: approximately
RMB33,011,000).

INDUSTRY REVIEW

The popularity of the internet in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC") has continued to grow in recent
years as a result of the rapid development of internet
under the government support. According to the data
published by the National Bureau of Statistics of China,
the population of local internet users in the PRC steadily
increased from approximately 690 million in 2015 to
approximately 1.03 billion in 2022, representing a
compound annual growth rate of approximately 6.0%.
The number of mobile internet subscribers in the PRC
increased from approximately 960 million in 2015 to
approximately 1.46 billion in 2022, representing a
compound annual growth of approximately 6.2%. This
demonstrates the significance and importance of mobile
internet in the internet industry. The Group believes
the rapid growth of mobile broadband user base would

)
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be beneficial to the development of online education
and training in the PRC as the higher speed of data
transmission e.g. the technology of 5G would enable
smoother streaming of videos and more interactive
functions within the online education and training
session. The market value of China’s online education
industry is enormous. According to official data, China’s
total education expenditures in 2021 were approximately
RMB5.8 trillion. Since 2012, the proportion of state fiscal
education expenditures to GDP has continued to exceed
4% for many years. China’s online education market
increased from approximately RMB122.5 billion in 2015
to RMB485.8 billion in 2022, with a compound annual
growth rate of more than 20%. At the same time, the
development of new technologies such as blockchain,
big data, 5G will also drive changes in user experience,
service content, and consumption scenarios, injecting
new vitality into the development of the online education
industry. In addition, the online penetration rate of China
education industry is also reported lower than that of
other industries, such as e-commerce, journalism, and
financial management. Therefore, there is still huge room
for the expansion of online education.

Under the influence of the COVID-19 epidemic in the
past few years, a lot of classrooms have switched from
in-person teaching to virtual learning, which has changed
users’ learning habits to a certain extent and enhanced
users’ awareness of and their use of e-learning.
Moreover, with the gradual relaxation of COVID-19
epidemic prevention measures, more users would like to
participate in on-site training course, they can have more
interaction with the course’s teachers and classmates,
therefore, the Group expects that the demand for on-site
education as well as the demand for online education will
be increased in foreseeable years. In the second half year
of 2022, in order to strengthen the Group’s influence in
the education training industry in the PRC, the Group is
going to acquire a comprehensive office in Jinniu District
in Chengdu, to offer on-site training services in addition
to its online training services, and to establish one more
comprehensive office venue combining 020 online and
offline training and education services.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EE®RE

In addition, the State Council of the PRC has
promulgated several preferential policies to promote
vocational education, including the “Opinions on
Promoting Quality Development of Modern Vocational
Education” and "“Opinions on Deepening the
Construction and Reform of Modern Vocation Education
System” (the “Policies”) since 2021. Therefore, the
Group believes that the vocational education and
training business provided by us will benefit from the
implementation of the Policies, giving us plenty of room
for expansion and development.

Since 2017, the Group has entered into the financial
services business by acquiring an insurance brokerage
firm both in Mainland China and Hong Kong. According
to the statistical data provided by China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission, the total insurance
premium revenue in 2021 and 2022 were approximately
RMB4.490 trillion and RMB4.696 trillion respectively,
representing a growth rate of 2.9% for 2021. The Group
expects that more people will pay more attention to their
health after the event of the epidemic, and they will be
more willing to participate in different life and medical
insurance plans to reduce unpredictable medical costs
in the future, which will be beneficial to the Group’s
revenue from insurance brokerage service in future.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my
sincere appreciation to our management team and
employees for their dedication and hard work during
the Year. | would also like to take this opportunity to
send my best regards to all our shareholders, business
partners, and investors for their support over the years.
With the increasing demand for online education and
training services in the PRC, we remain confident that
we will be able to maintain sustainable business growth
and maximize the shareholders’ value in the future.

Lu Xing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision
of (i) educational consultancy and online training
and education (collectively referred to as
services”) and (ii) financial services.

"education

In respect of the education services, the Group’s vision
is to deeply cultivate the continuing education market,
expand new vocational education and create a vocation
education brand that promotes lifelong learning,
employment and personal career development. While
in respect of the financial services, the Group has
successfully expanded its operations to financial services
business through a series of acquisitions transactions
in the past few years, the management expected both
services can share their resources and integrate with each
other’s, thereby establishing a dual development model
of “education + financial services”.

The Group provides online and offline training services
for millions of professional staff in various provinces
and cities across the PRC to adapt to job requirements
and improve their job skills. The current population of
professional staff in the PRC is over 90 million. There are
certain requirements under the PRC laws and relevant
provisions that professional staff in the PRC are required
to undertake an annual required minimum continuing
professional training in both public required subjects
and relevant professional subjects in order to satisfy
their corresponding job requirements and professional
development needs.

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group is now providing comprehensive online training
and education services to professional staff, through the
Internet and mobile Internet. The Group is operating
more than 200 large-scale online training and education
service platforms for institutional B-end users and 1
online education platform (Rongxue Cloud) for mobile
Internet C-end users. The Group currently has more than
8 million paying users. In the past few years, the Group’s
online training platform has provided training for more
than 60 million times of attendance.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

During the Reporting Period, the Group has provided
its online training and education business to different
geographical areas in the PRC. The Group's online
training and education business currently covers 20
provinces, autonomous regions, and municipalities, and
over 150 cities in the PRC.

Furthermore, the Group has launched a multi-level, multi-
dimensional combination of online and offline internet
training services. By providing a large-scale online
training cloud platform (Rongxue Cloud) combined with
offline training centres currently established in Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region and Sichuan Province,
various forms of training are provided to users with a full
range of training services to meet the growing training
needs for both online and offline services.

Leveraging on the continuous development of the PRC
market and its own advantage in terms of resources, the
Group has accumulated years of experience in the field of
education and has achieved relatively good results. With
financial services being one of the four pillar industries in
Hong Kong, and the Group being a participant in Hong
Kong's capital market, the Group was able to expand
and develop its business in the financial sector by virtue
of its own strengths and the promising growth potential
of Hong Kong’s financial market.

Since 2017, the Group has completed a series of mergers
and acquisitions of licensed financial companies in the
PRC and Hong Kong markets, which accelerated the
Group’s expansion into the financial sector.

As at 31 December 2022, Beijing Zhongjin Insurance
Brokerage Limited (“Beijing Zhongjin”), a subsidiary of
the Group, established branches in nearly 10 provinces
and cities in the PRC, including Shanghai, Shandong,
Jiangxi, Tianjin, and Guangdong. Beijing Zhongjin
actively developed its business and worked together
with Well Tunes Financial Group Limited (“Well Tunes”),
a subsidiary of the Group, with an aim to promote
collaborative development between the two markets.

D)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RuiLian Financial Group Company Limited (“RuiLian”), a
subsidiary of the Group, is a corporation licensed under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance to conduct Type 1
(Dealing in Securities), 4 (Advising on Securities) and 9
(Asset Management) regulated activities. As at the end of
the Reporting Period, its asset management and advisory
businesses contributed to the overall performance
of RuilLian. Under the strategic guidance of and the
efforts made by the management team, RuilLian has
been managing several funds, including Premier Global
Investment Fund SPC, Premier Frontier IPO Fund, CCBT
Global Navigation Fund and CCB Frontier Fortune Fund,
with the total amount of assets under management
reaching approximately HK$1.2 billion.

As an important contributor to the Group’s financial
development, Wellstone Credit Finance Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, is a licensed money lender
in Hong Kong that primarily develops in line with the
Group's overall commitments and provides an absolute
guarantee for the development of its business in
accordance with external requirements. As such, its
operating results have historically contributed to the
overall development of the Group.

In August 2021, the Group expanded its financial
services segment and tap into the PRC finance lease
by acquiring Leading Fortune Global Group Limited
(“Leading Fortune Global”, together with its subsidiaries,
“Leading Fortune Global Group”) (“Acquisition of
Leading Fortune Global”). Leading Fortune Global
Group focuses on the provision of finance lease services
over high-performance data processing computer units
which are specialised in distributed ledger technology,
blockchain and cryptocurrencies, and the provision of
technology consulting services.

BEEFN WD

AEEETHESREEER R (MHE])
REBIFLBEERGN 495 (95 H
EHEBEEFRRS BREFEHER Bf#t
BEEE)XRERDIHEEE BHELRR
SHER HPEEEBENABHRAEB AR K
BREXBERAFLHER EEEENEKES
MBHEET I EEERZEAES 25
Premier Global Investment Fund SPC - Premier
Frontier IPO Fund:CCBT Global Navigation
Fund & CCB Frontier Fortune Fund * & I8 0 & &
BIRE12(8 8T o

AEEETHREEEVBAERABRE/LE
EoRERNEBRE REBHEENEAR
R IBURAAEEBEBERBHBRSER Y
SNEREHBHERARER EAENREE
XEP ORAKENEBRERERT —N

E-

RZEBZ—FN A XEEHERESBRRE D
MY BBUBRERREEARAA (&S
R EZREMBARAMAIRERIEE
M) (RERMEBFHEABTERER
EXB-BERREEFINCERBEIHMAR
Afr- RBFENNTEERLEMNS LR
BEREFERES FIRHEREEERS A
R R S ARTS o

glEmpaRAR FR202 11



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

Shortly after the Acquisition of Leading Fortune Global,
new rules and regulations in relation to cryptocurrencies
were announced and imposed by the PRC authorities and
the People's Bank of China unexpectedly in September
2021. Although Leading Fortune Global was not directly
affected by such new rules and regulations, Leading
Fortune Global suspended its technology consulting
services and tried to reform its business model and
negotiate with its customers to relocate its place of
business operations.

Having considered, among others, the introduction of
such new rules and regulations had limited the growth
and prospects of Leading Fortune Global Group which
is contrary to the Company's expectation when the
Acquisition of Leading Fortune Global was conducted,
in August 2022, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (“Disposal SPA”) with Mr. Pan
Ruixin (“Mr. Pan”), a connected person of the Company
at the subsidiary level and the vendor of Acquisition of
Leading Fortune Global, for disposal of Leading Fortune
Global (“Disposal of Leading Fortune Global”). The
consideration of Disposal of Leading Fortune Global
is HK$43,000,000 (the “Consideration”) and shall be
settled by Mr. Pan to the Group by four instalments, and
Mr. Pan has the right to choose to settle any instalment
in HK$ cash or in the form of Eligible Cryptocurrency (as
defined in the Disposal SPA).

Disposal of Leading Fortune Global was completed on 23
December 2022 and Mr. Pan settled the 1st instalment
of the Consideration, being HK$12,900,000, in the form
of MXC, a type of Eligible Cryptocurrency. On 29 March
2023, Mr. Pan has partially settled the 2nd instalment
of the Consideration, in the sum of approximately
HK$3,680,000, in the form of MXC, a type of Eligible
Cryptocurrency. An outstanding amount of approximately
HK$9,220,000 (the “Overdue Sum”) of the 2nd
instalment remains overdue by Mr. Pan as at the date
of this report. The Group shall continue using its best
endeavours to collect the Overdue Sum from Mr. Pan
as soon as possible. Details of the Disposal of Leading
Fortune Global were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 4 August 2022, 1 September 2022,
30 September 2022, 1 December 2022, 23 December
2022, 3 January 2023 and 31 March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Besides, the Company has been tapping into the
blockchain and cryptocurrency industries since 2021 by
investing in cryptocurrencies such as Bitcoin (BTC) and
Ethereum (ETH). Furthermore, since late 2021, RuiLian
has also commenced providing asset management
services to its clients where a certain portion of the fund
assets is used to invest in cryptocurrency investment
products.

PROSPECTS

In recent years, the Group has continuously invested to
increase the coverage of the Group’s online training and
education services business in the PRC. The Group plans
to continue to deepen the Group’s combination of online
and offline service solutions in the field of continuing
education of professional staff and continue to increase
the market share.

Therefore, based on the strong foundation and growth
of the continuing education for professional staff, the
Group will widen the scope of vocational skills training
for professional staff. The Group will also do its best
to continuously expand its business in the foreseeable
future in accordance with changes in government
policies and new markets coverage, and promote online
training education penetration in existing business areas.

In addition to the business-to-business model, the Group
will continue to allocate more resources to develop the
business-to-consumer model in order to increase the
consumers’ adherence and loyalty to our training and
education platforms. With the success of the launching
of the online to offline training model by opening the
training centers geographically, the Group will seek more
suitable areas to set up more training centers for better
improvement of its post-sales services and increase the
average revenue per user in the future.

As most professional staff would be required to pass
certain examinations before admission as civil servants
and achievement of corresponding professional
qualifications, the Group believes that the market
potential of pre-examination preparation courses is
still huge. In view of this, the Group has continued
to develop this new business line by providing more
pre-examination preparation courses in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

Due to Hong Kong’s position as an international financial
center and the southern-most strategic location in
the Greater Bay Area (“GBA"), in addition to the full
support provided by the Central Government to the
GBA Economic Zone, financial services are of paramount
importance.

The Group has achieved preliminary results in relation
to its active strategic planning in the financial sector.
However, we are always reminded by the increasingly
intense market competition, that we should constantly
step up our expansion plans.

Beijing Zhongjin will continue to set up offices in major
cities in the PRC, in order to satisfy domestic demands
for insurance products, and lay a solid foundation for
market expansion and business improvement. On the
basis of the existing life insurance business, Well Tunes
will actively expand its financial insurance business
starting from inner circles and gradually expanding to
outer circles. Besides, group medical insurance, MPF,
employee benefits and other group insurance plans will
be launched. At present, both companies are actively
accommodating differences between the insurance
products of Hong Kong and the Mainland and utilizing
the respective strengths thereof. Once intraregional
business activities become commonplace, both
companies can expand their operations for them to reach
the next milestone through resources sharing and create
real synergy.

In April 2022, Ruilian has completed the upgrading of
its Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activity, the
Group has realized the business connections among
Type 1, Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) regulated activities. Furthermore, Ruilian is
actively developing its Type 9 business, the total amount
and the types of assets under management have been
on the increase and are targeted to exceed HK$3 billion.
The management believes that the financial services will
promote the growth of the Group's overall revenue in
foreseeable future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately RMB325,620,000 (2021:
approximately RMB280,252,000), representing an
increase of approximately 16.2% as compared to the last
corresponding period.

Out of the total revenue, approximately RMB206,226,000
(2021: approximately RMB243,310,000) was generated
from educational consultancy and online training and
education business, and approximately RMB119,394,000
(2021: approximately RMB36,942,000) was generated
from the financial services business for the Reporting
Period.

The educational consultancy and online training
and education business continued to be the major
contributor of revenue to the Group which accounted
for approximately 63.3% of the total revenue for the
Reporting Period. There was a decrease in the Group’s
revenue from the educational consultancy and online
training and education business for the Reporting Period
was mainly due to the drop of the enrollment and
demand of training courses for professional technical
personnel, as a result of the prevention measures
and social restrictions of COVID-19 outbreak which
temporarily disrupted the training courses enrollments
and the corporate’s training courses arrangements
in certain regions. The Group expects the revenue
from educational consultancy and online training and
education business will be resume to normal as soon as
these restrictions in relevant regions are relieved.

In view of the huge market potential of the online
training and education as well as the PRC government
launched several action plans for promoting high-
quality development of modern vocational education,
the management expects that there will be a steady
and sustainable growth in the Group's educational
consultancy and online training and education business
in future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

The increase of revenue from the financial services
business was due to expansion of insurance brokerage
business in more cities in PRC and more revenue was
generated from four funds during the Reporting Period.
Furthermore, the finance lease business through Leading
Fortune Global and its subsidiaries generated revenue
of approximately RMB21,387,000 during the Reporting
Period, which was then ceased after the completion of
the Disposal of Leading Fortune Global.

The management remains optimistic about the potential
growth of the Group’s financial services business and
its potential synergy with the Group's educational
consultancy and online training and education business.

Cost of services for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB173,422,000 (2021: approximately
RMB133,228,000), representing an increase of
approximately 30.2% as compared to the last
corresponding period. The increase in cost of services
was mainly due to the increase in insurance commission,
course material acquisition costs and service fee.

Selling and marketing expenses for the Reporting
Period was approximately RMB40,919,000 (2021:
approximately RMB36,803,000), representing an
increase of approximately 11.2% as compared to the
last corresponding period. The increase in selling and
marketing expenses was mainly due to the increase in
staff costs and sale commission.

Administrative expenses for the Reporting Period was
approximately RMB90,282,000 (2021: approximately
RMB80,075,000), representing an increase of
approximately 12.7% as compared to the last
corresponding period. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase in staff costs
and share-based payment expense.

In addition, the Group has invested in digital assets
such as Bitcoin and Ethereum during the Reporting
Period, and loss on change in fair value in digital
assets were approximately RMB6,777,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: gain approximately
RMB128,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As a result of the above, the profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately RMB13,523,000 (2021: approximately
RMB33,011,000). The basic earnings per share for the
Reporting Period was approximately RMB0.20 cent
compared to a basic earnings per share of approximately
RMBO0.52 cent for 2021.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The investment objective of the Group is to achieve
earnings and enhance the corporate value to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholder(s)”). The
Group has no specific industry focus on potential
investment.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has three financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") and one financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss with details as follows:

Measured at
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Notes:

(a)

(b)

®)

18

m & AT

Investment A is a private company namely 1k B8 35 38 B Rl &
BMR A7 ("Guoya Tongbao”) incorporated in the PRC and is
principally engaged in the operation of a technology platform
and offering online payment solutions. During the Reporting
Period, Guoya Tongbao was profit-making according to the
management accounts. The management decided to hold the
investment for medium or long-term strategic purpose.

Investment B is an investment in a mutual insurance agency
namely Xinmei Mutual incorporated in the PRC and is principally
engaged in the provision of life insurance products in the PRC.
During the Reporting Period, Xinmei Mutual was loss-making
according to the management accounts. On 22 March 2021,
It RAEEEERZ AR AF, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into a transfer agreement with an
independent third party to sell the loan investment. Due to
non-fulfillment of certain conditions precedent in the transfer
agreement, the transfer of loan investment lapsed on 23
March 2022. Afterward, the management decided to hold the
investment for medium or long term strategic purpose.

Investment C is a private company namely it 5 a5 & B B 35 R
BBRAF] (“Yagus”) incorporated in the PRC and is principally
engaged in the operation of a technology platform and offering
online payment solutions. During the Reporting Period, Yagus
was profit-making according to the management accounts. The
management decided to hold the investment for medium or
long-term strategic purpose.

Investment D is a private company namely 1t 5 &5 1E @12
SR AR AE ("Hengtong”) incorporated in the PRC and
is principally engaged in information technology consulting
services. During the Reporting Period, the management of
Hengtong decided to deregister it due to the continue loss-
making in the past few years. The deregistration process was
completed in the Reporting Period and a loss on deregistration
of financial asset at FVTOCI of RMB1,421,000 was recognised.

Investment E is a private company namely Flying Global Limited
(“Flying Global”) incorporated in Hong Kong and is principally
engaged in investing in cultural innovation industry in the
Greater China region. The financial performances of Flying
Global as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 were
referenced to the respective reports from the manager of Flying
Global. The management will continue to hold the investment
and expect a high yield in the near future.

Investment A, Investment B and Investment C are collectively
referred to as the "Investments”. As at 31 December 2021
and 31 December 2022, the Investments were measured at fair
values. The Group engaged an independent external expert to
determine the fair values of the Investments as at 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022. The fair values of the Investments
were determined using the market approach by applying
market multiples from comparable companies and adjusted by
marketability discount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

To mitigate relevant risks, the Group will optimise its
investment strategies in response to market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant
investments held during the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
On 4 August 2022, Chuanglian Financial Technology
Limited (“CFT"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Mr. Pan, a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level, pursuant to which CFT agreed to dispose
100% of the issued capital in Leading Fortune Global,
a company established in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability. Leading Fortune Global Group engaged
in the provision of finance lease services over high-
performance data processing computer units which are
specialised in distributed ledger technology, blockchain
and cryptocurrencies, and the provision of technology
consulting services. The disposal was completed on
23 December 2022. Details of the disposal were set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 4
August 2022, 1 September 2022, 30 September 2022,
1 December 2022, 23 December 2022, 3 January 2023
and 31 March 2023.

On 2 September 2022, Sichuan Chuanglian Guopei
Education Advisory Limited* (P9Il Bl B B 15 20 B 7% &4
AR AA]), a subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into the agreement with China Railway Industrial
Park (Chengdu) Investment Development Co., Ltd. (¥
HEZXE (KEB)REZERBMR AR, as vendor, in
relation to the purchase of the properties (“Purchase of
Properties”). Details of the Purchase of Properties is set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 2 September
2022.

Saved as disclosed herein, the Group had no material
acquisition or disposal during the Reporting Period.

* For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
During the Reporting Period, the Group finances its
operations by cash flow from operating activities and
bank balances.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank balances
and cash of approximately RMB157,806,000 as compared
to the bank balances and cash of approximately
RMB169,358,000 as at 31 December 2021.

The Group's net current assets totalled approximately
RMB173,376,000 as at 31 December 2022, against
approximately RMB135,036,000 as at 31 December
2021.
as at 31 December 2022 as compared with approximately
2.30 as at 31 December 2021.

The Group's current ratio was approximately 3.25

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group (measured as total
liabilities to total assets) was approximately 29.7% as at
31 December 2022 (2021: approximately 34.9%).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 December 2022,
6,752,210,578 shares in issue.

the Company has

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Group during the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RISKS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

It RAlE % ERERBR QA (Beijing Chuanglian
Education Investment Company Limited*) (“Beijing
Chuanglian Education”) is a domestic enterprise in the
PRC principally engaged in investment management and
provision of investment-related, technical or educational
consultancy services. It holds the ICP Licence and the
licences for the production and publication of audiovisual
products in the PRC. It receives course fees from the
provision of online training and education courses for
civil servants and professional technicians on websites
and platforms.

As advised by the PRC legal adviser to the Company,
the provision of online training and education related
content on websites is subject to various PRC laws and
regulations relating to the telecommunications industry.
Pursuant to Article 6 of the Administrative Rules for
Foreign Investments in Telecommunications Enterprises
GhERESEREEEMRT) and the revised foreign
investment catalog issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC in July 2017, a
foreign investor is prohibited from owning more than a
50% equity interest in a Chinese entity providing value-
added telecommunications services. 1t 5 Al B B 52 2 B} 57
AR F] (Beijing Chuanglian Guopei Cloud Technology
Company Limited* (formerly known as 1t Z= 8IE:H A
KT AR % B BR 2 8])) (“Beijing Chuanglian Guopei”),
being a wholly foreign owned enterprise of the Group,
is ineligible to apply for licenses for the value-added
telecommunications services business including the
ICP License. In addition, Beijing Chuanglian Guopei is
prohibited to obtain more than 50% equity interest in
Beijing Chuanglian Education under the prevailing rules
and regulations in the PRC. To cope with such constraint
and in order to take part in the PRC's online training
and education market, Beijing Chuanglian Guopei has
entered into the Consultancy and Services Agreement
as well as other agreements under the Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing Chuanglian Education to
obtain the right and ability to control and the economic
benefits of Beijing Chuanglian Education.

* For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmRE DM

The following table sets out the financial contribution of TR#EHIIL REIMABEHAEEELMIER
Beijing Chuanglian Education to the Group: B :

Significance and contribution to the Group

HAREBONEZMENER

Revenue Total assets
Wz BEE
For the year ended As at
31 December 31 December
HEt+t-A=1+—HLLFE WR+Z—A=+—H
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E2=-= —_F-— —E-= —_EF-—
Beijing Chuanglian it RAIEHE

Education 63.3% 86.4% 78.7% 75.4%

Revenue and assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements

The table below sets out Beijing Chuanglian Education’s
revenue and assets which are consolidated by the Group
pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements:

BHNRHETHREREE

TR RBBHERBEAOLHAAEE

FAEARNKRENEE:

Revenue Total assets
W = REE

For the
year ended As at
31 December 31 December
2022 2022

BZE
—E_-— i
+=—HA=+—H —E-CfF
tFE +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T
Beijing Chuanglian Education It RAIBHE 206,226 437,451

tl“

‘ 4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The PRC Government may determine that the
Contractual Arrangements are not in compliance
with the applicable PRC laws, rules, regulations
or policies. There can be no assurance that the
Contractual Arrangements will be deemed by
the PRC government to be in compliance with
the licensing, registration or other regulatory
requirements, with existing policies or with
requirements or policies that may be adopted in the
future, or that the Contractual Arrangements may
be effectively enforced without limitation.

The Group depends upon the Contractual
Arrangements in conducting the online training and
education services business in China and receiving
payments through Beijing Chuanglian Education,
which may not be as effective as direct ownership.

The registered shareholder of Beijing Chuanglian
Education (i.e. the Guarantor) may have potential
conflict of interests with other Shareholders and
hence defaulting risks by the Guarantor cannot be
eliminated completely.

As the Group relies on the operating licenses held
by Beijing Chuanglian Education, any deterioration
of the relationship between Beijing Chuanglian
Education and the Group could materially and
adversely affect the business operation of the
Group.

The Contractual Arrangements may be challenged
by the PRC tax authorities on the basis that the
Contractual Arrangements were not entered into
based on arm’s length negotiations and as a result,
the Group may face adverse tax consequences.

Further details on the risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements are set out under the
paragraph headed “Risk Factors Relating to the
Contractual Arrangements” in the Company’s circular
dated 28 June 2013.

(1)

(3)

BEEFN WD

FEBNAEEERNLHEINNAER
FEDER RO OERBLEE X AR F
BRZHEBEPERAFRRTAFA T
MekEMEERTE XTEREBEKA
EERKRERMREXBR  HENLH
BB MAITI AL AR )

AEERAORER T BEETREE
REBERBGEB LB B REBHE K
IR RV B RERERAN -

ERAIBBEEMBRR (BIERA)RE
HEMRRFEEEMNDZER BT
EHRERANZORER -

AEBKRELRABHEMTHNELEH
Rt RBIBAE BARENBEREEN

sm

A EESNUEES S )2 SN

ERBARHALIFERAFERF L B
AEBE R REHEER A RBER BhE
MEERAGHANTHIRE RS-

BANZHBBNEBROEZFBEHRAR A
AT —=F~AZ+t/\BzBH[ES
NZHBBNREKREZE] — K-

BlBERER AR F3R202 23



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

In light of the above risks associated with the
Contractual Arrangements, the Group has adopted
relevant procedures and internal control measures to
ensure the effective operation of the Group and the
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
including (i) discuss and make all necessary modification
to the Contractual Arrangements in order to maintain
the economic interests; (ii) regular report by relevant
divisions of the Group to the senior management of
the Company in relation to the compliance of the
Contractual Arrangements; (iii) regular report by the
senior management of the Group to the Board any non-
compliance issues; (iv) retain legal adviser and/or other
professional to assist the Group to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements, if
required; and (v) annual review by the independent non-
executive Directors on the compliance of the Contractual
Arrangements.

Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal adviser
to the Company, the Contractual Arrangements are in
compliance with and, to the extent governed by the
PRC laws currently in force, are enforceable under the
current PRC laws. The Company will monitor the relevant
PRC laws and regulations relevant to the Contractual
Arrangements and will take all necessary actions to
protect the Company’s interest in Beijing Chuanglian
Education.

MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Chuanglian Education and
Beijing Chuanglian Guopei entered into the consultancy
and services agreement pursuant to which, among other
matters, Beijing Chuanglian Education engaged Beijing
Chuanglian Guopei on an exclusive basis to provide
consultation and related services to Beijing Chuanglian
Education for a term of 20 years (the “Consultancy and
Services Agreement”). In consideration of such services,
90% of the business revenue of Beijing Chuanglian
Education shall be paid as consultancy and service fee to
Beijing Chuanglian Guopei.

)

Y
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Including the Consultancy and Services Agreement,
Beijing Chuanglian Education, Beijing Chuanglian
Guopei and Mr. Lu entered into the business operation
agreement (the “Business Operation Agreement”), share
disposal agreement (the “Share Disposal Agreement”)
and equity pledge agreement (the “Equity Pledge
Agreement”) on 25 March 2011 (collectively the
“Contractual Arrangements”), in order for the Group
to carry out its online training and education services
business in the PRC with the purpose of, among other
matters, obtaining the economic benefits of the right
and ability to control the business of Beijing Chuanglian
Education.

In view of the requirements set out in the Guidance
Letter HKEx-GL77-14 of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), a supplemental
agreement to each of the agreements forming part of
the Contractual Arrangements was entered into between
the respective parties thereto to supplement and amend
the terms of the respective agreements on 16 December
2015 (the “Supplemental Agreements”), including,
among other matters:

(@) the dispute resolution clause in each of the
Consultancy and Services Agreement , the
Business Operation Agreement, the Share Disposal
Agreement and the Equity Pledge Agreement
will be amended to provide (in addition to the
respective agreements) that (i) the arbitration
tribunal or the arbitrators may, in accordance with
the terms of the agreement and the laws of the
PRC, award any remedies, including interim and
permanent injunctive relief (e.g. for the conduct
of business or to compel the transfer of assets),
specific performance of contractual obligations,
remedies over the equity or assets of Beijing
Chuanglian Education or winding up order of
Beijing Chuanglian Education; and (ii) on the
condition that the prevailing laws and regulations
and arbitration rules in effect have been complied
with, among others, the courts of Hong Kong, the
Cayman Islands and the PRC shall have the power
to grant interim remedies pending the formation of
the arbitration tribunal or in appropriate cases;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

(b) the Business Operation Agreement will be
amended to provide (in addition to the
Business Operation Agreement) that Beijing
Chuanglian Education and Mr. Lu shall pass
to the directors the business licence, common
seal and other important documents and
seals to the directors, legal representatives
and senior management recommended or
nominated by Beijing Chuanglian Guopei
under the Business Operation Agreement; and

(c) each of the Share Disposal Agreement
and the Equity Pledge Agreement will be
amended to provide (in addition to the
respective agreements) that Mr. Lu shall make
all appropriate arrangements and execute
all necessary documents to ensure that, in
the event of the death, loss of capacity,
bankruptcy, divorce (or other circumstances)
of Mr. Lu, there would be no adverse effect
or obstacles in enforcing the Share Disposal
Agreement and the Equity Pledge Agreement
(and the supplemental agreements thereto) by
Mr. Lu’s successors, guardian, creditors, spouse
and any other third party.

The loan agreement was entered into between Beijing
Chuanglian Guopei, as lender, and Beijing Chuanglian
Education, as borrower, on 16 December 2015 pursuant
to which Beijing Chuanglian Guopei shall grant loans
to Beijing Chuanglian Education according to the needs
of Beijing Chuanglian Education and the amount, time
of grant and term of loan are to be agreed upon by the
parties thereto subject to further negotiations (the “Loan
Agreement”).

The Loan Agreement was entered into for a term
commencing from the date of the agreement and
expiring on the same date as the expiry of the term of
the Consultancy and Services Agreement.

Y
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, loans due from Beijing
Chuanglian Education thereunder shall be repayable
upon the following circumstances: (a) 30 days after the
issue of a written demand for repayment from Beijing
Chuanglian Guopei to Beijing Chuanglian Education;
(b) where Beijing Chuanglian Education having received
from any third party claims exceeding RMB11 million
(being the amount of the registered capital of Beijing
Chuanglian Education); or (c) where Beijing Chuanglian
Guopei having exercised the exclusive option to acquire
the entire equity interest in Beijing Chuanglian Education
under the Share Disposal Agreement.

A supplemental agreement to each of the agreements
forming part of the Contractual Arrangements (the
“Supplemental Agreements”) was entered into with
a view of observing the requirements set out in the
Stock Exchange's Guidance Letter HKEx-GL77-14,
which was published in May 2014 after the annual
caps for the transactions contemplated under the
Consultancy Services Agreement for the three years
ended 31 December 2013, 2014 and 2015 which were
approved by the independent Shareholders on 27 July
2013.

In relation to the Loan Agreement, taking into account
that 90% of the business revenue of Beijing Chuanglian
Education was agreed to be paid as consultancy and
service fee to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei pursuant to
the Consultancy and Services Agreement, the financial
resources available to Beijing Chuanglian Education may
not be able to meet the capital requirements for its
daily operation, business development or investments
in other entities. As such, the Loan Agreement would
allow Beijing Chuanglian Education to obtain further
capital from the Group for its daily operation, business
development and/or investments in other entities when
opportunities arise.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

With Beijing Chuanglian Education being a subsidiary
of the Company by virtue of the Contractual
Arrangements, the transactions contemplated under the
Loan Agreement would be equivalent to intra-Group
transactions providing the necessary capital for the
operation or development of a member of the Group.
The additional capital available to Beijing Chuanglian
Education under the Loan Agreement is expected to
facilitate its business expansion and, possibly, revenue
growth. Together with the Contractual Arrangements,
the Supplemental Agreements and the Loan Agreement
shall constitute the New Contractual Arrangements
(the “New Contractual Arrangements”). Taking into
account the factors above, the Directors (excluding the
independent non-executive Directors) considered that the
Supplemental Agreements and the Loan Agreement are
on normal commercial terms, in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. In
view of Mr. Lu’s equity interest in Beijing Chuanglian
Education, Mr. Lu is deemed to have a material
interest in the Supplemental Agreements and the Loan
Agreement and had abstained from voting at the Board
meeting approving the same. Apart from Mr. Lu, no
other Directors are required to abstain from voting at the
Board meeting approving the Supplemental Agreements
and the Loan Agreement.

The Company applied to the Stock Exchange and the
Stock Exchange granted the conditional waiver (including
the annual caps requirements of service fee from Beijing
Chuanglian Education) on 26 October 2015, subject to
the conditions required by the Stock Exchange.

The New Contractual Arrangements were approved by
the independent Shareholders in an extraordinary general
meeting held on 16 December 2015. As Mr. Lu has a
material interest in the New Contractual Arrangements,
Mr. Lu and his associates were required and did abstain
from voting at the extraordinary general meeting held on
16 December 2015.

D)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement was entered into between the respective
parties on 10 November 2017 with amendment to the
consultancy and service fees from 90% of the business
revenue of Beijing Chuanglian Education to 100%
of its net income (after deducting relevant costs, tax
payment and reserved funds as required by PRC laws and
regulations) (“net income”).

Apart from amending the consultancy and service fees
to 100% of net income of Beijing Chuanglian Education,
no other changes are proposed to be made to the New
Contractual Arrangements.

The proposed change in consultancy and service fee
from 90% of business revenue to 100% of net income
of Beijing Chuanglian Education will more accurately
reflect economic reality since it will move away from
determining economic benefit based on previous
estimation or current forecast of business operations
which no longer reflects economic realities of the Group’s
business since the Group is operating in the fast moving
online training and education industry. Furthermore,
such proposed change will not unduly restrict the
business operation and development of the Group since
Beijing Chuanglian Education does not need to restrict
its expenses to 10% of its business revenue and Beijing
Chuanglian Education may incur more expenses for the
continuing development of the Group’s online training
and education business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

Taking into account of the factors above, the Directors
consider that the Second Supplemental Consultancy
and Services Agreement is on normal commercial
terms, in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. In view of Mr. Lu’s
equity interest in Beijing Chuanglian Education, Mr. Lu
is deemed to have a material interest in the Second
Supplemental Consultancy and Services Agreement
and had abstained from voting at the Board meeting
approving the same. Apart from Mr. Lu, no other
Directors are required to abstain from voting at the
Board meeting approving the Second Supplemental
Consultancy and Services Agreement.

Beijing Chuanglian Education is treated as the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, at the same time, treated as
Company’s connected person as it is wholly-owned by
Mr. Lu, an executive Director, the chairman of the Board
and a substantial shareholder of the Company, for the
purposes of Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”). As the applicable percentage ratios are more
than 5% and the aggregate amount of the fees payable
under the Consultancy and Services Agreement (as
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreements and
the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement) and the loans to be granted under the Loan
Agreement is expected to be more than HK$10,000,000
in aggregate, the transactions contemplated under the
Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreements) and the Loan Agreement
(the “New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented
by the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement)”) technically constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company for the purposes
of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Directors
considered that it would be unduly burdensome and
impracticable, and would add unnecessary administration
costs to the Company, for the transactions contemplated
under the New Contractual Arrangements (as
supplemented by the Second Supplemental Consultancy
and Services Agreement), being the fees payable
thereunder, to be subject to the annual cap requirement
under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Company applied to the Stock Exchange and the
Stock Exchange granted the new conditional waiver
(including the annual caps requirements of service fee
from Beijing Chuanglian Education) on 31 August 2017
(the "New Waiver"”), subject to the conditions required
by the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to the New Waiver granted to the Company,
the New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented
by the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement) shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the economic benefits derived by the consolidated
affiliated entities through the business structure under
which the net income (after deducting relevant costs, tax
payment and reserved funds as required by the PRC laws
and regulations) generated by the consolidated affiliated
entities is substantially retained by the Group (such that
no annual caps shall be set on the amount of service
fees payable to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei under the
Consultancy and Services Agreement as supplemented).
Subject to the conditions of the New Waiver and the
approval from the independent Shareholders, the fees
payable under the Services Framework Agreement wiill
not be subject to the annual caps requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the New Waiver has been set out under the
section headed “New Waiver from Strict compliance with
the Listing Rules” in the circular of the Company dated
19 October 2017.

The New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented
by the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement) were approved by the independent
Shareholders in an extraordinary general meeting held
on 10 November 2017. As Mr. Lu has a material interest
in the New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented
by the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement),
and did abstain from voting at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 10 November 2017.

Mr. Lu and his associates were required
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWEDN

The actual amounts of the transactions contemplated
under the New Contractual Arrangements (as
supplemented by the Second Supplemental Consultancy

and

Services Agreement) for the year ended

31 December 2022 are set out below:

BE_ T+ _A=+—HIEFE #HE
#22 B (# 58 — 10 1 78 o5 5 B BR 765 Wp e P 47 € )

HTMHETXZNERSBEHINT

4

L

Actual amount

Nature of continuing connected transactions REBEISFHNE ERe5
RMB'000
ARBF T

1. Service fee payable to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei 181 & 7 M IR % 13 > it -
by Beijing Chuanglian Education pursuant to the &l & fE 1 1t R Al Bt &
Consultancy and Services Agreement BEHRSE

2. Loan to Beijing Chuanglian Education by Beijing 1815 & B & 3K 7 #% 4t = &Il B 10,480
Chuanglian Guopei pursuant to the Long Term E#% @4t R AIBE 2 E EH &

Loan Agreement 8%

Notes: M 5E

1. Mr. Lu, a substantial shareholder of the Company, is holding 1. ANBEERRBELEFBILRAIEZE 100% o
100% interest in Beijing Chuanglian Education.

2. Beijing Chuanglian Guopei and Beijing Chuanglian Education are 2.  dbRAIBERE ML RAIMHE AAEENHE A
the subsidiaries of Group which the balances and transactions LTHRRENESRERGBETEHBHRELENE0
mentioned above are eliminated in the consolidated financial SERARE M ISR P
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard 10.

3. On 30 August 2017, the Group has obtained an approval to 3. RZZE—tFNA=Z+H AEECEEHE  HUE
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waive the annual caps requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for the fees payable under the Consultancy and
Services Agreement and the Services Framework Agreement.
On 19 October 2017, the Group also has issued a circular for
reporting such approval.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the
New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented by
the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement) and confirmed that: (i) the transactions
carried out during the Year have been entered into
in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented by
the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement), have been operated so that the revenue
generated by Beijing Chuanglian Education has been
substantially retained by Beijing Chuanglian Guopei;
(ii) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the consolidated affiliated entities (including
Guopei Wang Beijing (as defined below)) to the
holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group
and (iii) any new contracts entered into, renewed or
reproduced between the Group and the consolidated
affiliated entities during the financial period which
the framework may be renewed and/or reproduced
upon the expiry of the existing arrangements or in
relation to any existing or new wholly foreign owned
enterprise or operating company (including branch
company) engaging in the same business as that of the
Group which the Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as the existing New Contractual
Arrangements, are fair and reasonable, or advantageous
to the Shareholders, so far as the Group is concerned
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

For the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
and in particular the definition of “connected person”,
the consolidated affiliated entities will be treated as
the Company’s subsidiaries, but at the same time, the
directors, chief executives or substantial shareholders
of the consolidated affiliated entities and its associates
will be treated as connected persons of the Company
(excluding for this purpose, the consolidated affiliated
entities), and transactions between these connected
persons and the Group (including for this purpose, the
consolidated affiliated entities), other than those under
the New Contractual Arrangements, will be subject to
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

Reference is made to paragraph (e)(iv) under the New
Waiver, taking into account that the consolidated
affiliated entities of the Company, will be treated
as subsidiaries of the Company by virtue of the
New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented)
and therefore not treated as connected persons of
the Company, thus the transactions between the
consolidated affiliated entities and the Group will not
be treated as connected transactions. Furthermore, the
results of consolidated affiliated entities of the Company
will be consolidated to the accounts of the Group, the
Directors consider that it is fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole for the fees payable under the Consultancy and
Services Agreement (as supplemented) not to be subject
to the annual caps requirements under Rule 14A.53 of
the Listing Rules.

Details of the New Waiver has been set out under the
section headed “New Waiver from Strict compliance with
the Listing Rules” in the circular of the Company dated
19 October 2017.

Pursuant to the New Waiver granted to the Company,
the New Contractual Arrangements (as supplemented
by the Second Supplemental Consultancy and Services
Agreement) shall continue to enable the Group to receive
the economic benefits derived by the consolidated
affiliated entities through the business structure under
which the net income (after deducting relevant costs, tax
payment and reserved funds as required by the PRC laws
and regulations) generated by the consolidated affiliated
entities is substantially retained by the Group (such that
no annual caps shall be set on the amount of service
fees payable to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei under the
Consultancy and Services Agreement as supplemented).
Subject to the conditions of the New Waiver and the
approval from the independent Shareholders, the fees
payable under the Services Framework Agreement will
not be subject to the annual caps requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

D)
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MANAGEMENT DI

SCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEFN WD

Details of the New Waiver has been set out under the FT# R ZFH1E %Z RALDABHBE-_T—+F
section headed “New Waiver from Strict compliance with  + A ‘f'jl B2 @[ ERi&EF LR B
the Listing Rules” in the circular of the Company dated %] —%i-
19 October 2017.
The actual amounts of the transactions between the W THIEMIEHABEREAEEMNZS
consolidated affiliated entities and the Group for the REZ T - —"F+_-_A=+—HIFEZE
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out below: RE R
Actual amount
Nature of continuing connected transactions SEMER SIS BEReRE
RMB'000
ARBTT
Service fee payable to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei 1t 5 &l B 2 B 1R & IR IS 4E 28 -
by Beijing Chuanglian Education pursuant to the 1% & 1~ F 1t &= Al B B 5% AR
Services Framework Agreement e
Service fee payable to Beijing Chuanglian Guopei EJIIE'J %ﬁiﬁﬁﬁlﬁ 6w R 667
by W) ElE RIEHEAAER AR (Sichuan 28 ([HJIAIBEE]) IR
Chuanglian Guopei Education Advisory Limited*) HgﬁEik$[ 21 F§T¢?Fit3i
(“Sichuan Chuanglian Guopei”) pursuant to the &I 52 RIS &
Services Framework Agreement
Service fee payable to Beijing Chuanghan Guopei EJII%'JH’»‘»%%%%E%% BAAR -
by W BB EEHE XA ER AR (Sichuan 28 ([ AIBEE])IR
Jixu Education Advisory Limited* ) (“Sichuan T@EE%E?@%%F’EH?&E?
Chuanglian Jixu”) pursuant to the Services AIBELEERGE
Framework Agreement
Service fee payable to Beijing Chuanghan Guopei B4 (it R)%ﬁlﬁﬂ B 73,720
by BER (tFR)HEREBR AR (Guopei RAR (HEAILR])IIR
Wang (Beijing) Education Technology Company TJQ%EE%H[?RWJ ZEN T IR
Limited*) (“Guopei Wang Beijing”) pursuant to AlE# B 55 ARG &
the Services Framework Agreement
Service fee payable to Beumg Chuanglian Guopei A HEFERBERIFAERA -
by NS & B2 B B AR A A (Inner Mongolia 7 ([R5 & B 5 |) 1R & AR
Lianpei Education Technology Limited*) (“Inner #51E 28 1 3% & < 3 4t I Al B
Mongolia Lianpei”) pursuant to the Services &R E
Framework Agreement
74,387

*  For identification purposes only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR D

Notes:

1. Mr. Lu, a substantial Shareholder, is holding 100% interest in
Beijing Chuanglian Education. Beijing Chuanglian Education
is holding 100% interest in Sichuan Chuanglian Guopei, 51%
interest in Guopei Wang Beijing, 99% interest in Sichuan
Chuanglian Jixu and 100% interest in Inner Mongolia Lianpei.
All the above companies are the subsidiaries of the Company as
the Company is able to exercise control over these companies
through the contractual arrangement.

2. Beijing Chuanglian Guopei, Sichuan Chuanglian Guopei, Guopei
Wang Beijing, Sichuan Chuanglian Jixu and Inner Mongolia
Lianpei are the subsidiaries of the Group which the balances and
transactions mentioned above are eliminated in the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 10.

3. On 30 August 2017, the Group has obtained an approval to
waive the annual caps requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules for the fees payable under the Consultancy and
Services Agreement and the Services Framework Agreement.
On 19 October 2017, the Group also has issued a circular for
reporting such approval.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
all the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that these transactions have been entered into
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group
on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the
relevant agreement governing them which are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

The auditor of the Company was engaged to report on
all the Group’s continuing connected transactions above
and issued the unqualified letter containing the findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor's letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

j,>q @ »
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

On 28 April 2021, the Company and ASA Securities
Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered into a share
placing agreement (the “Share Placing Agreement”) and
a convertible bond placing agreement (the “CB Placing
Agreement”) respectively, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent conditionally agreed to place, on a best effort
basis, for up to 470,000,000 new shares of the Company
(the “Placing Shares”) at a price of HK$0.102 per Placing
Share (the "Placing of Shares”) and for convertible bonds
(the "Convertible Bonds”) in the principal amount of up
to HK$90,000,000 (the “Placing of CB").

The Placing of Shares and the Placing of CB were both
completed on 28 May 2021 in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Share Placing Agreement
and CB Placing Agreement respectively. A total of
470,000,000 Placing Shares had been successfully placed
to not less than six (6) placees, who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners were independent third parties, at the
placing price of HK$0.102 per Placing Share, and the
Convertible Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 have been placed to one placee, namely
Mr. Song Bo (“Mr. Song”), being a PRC resident and a
general investor. Mr. Song was appointed as an executive
Director on 25 June 2021 and resigned as an executive
Director on 6 February 2023. On 15 September 2021,
320,000,000 Shares upon conversion of the Convertible
Bonds in the principal amount of HK$40,000,000
were issued and thus the Convertible Bonds was fully
converted and no remaining outstanding balance.

The net proceeds from the Placing of Shares and
Placing of CB which were completed on 28 May
2021, after deduction of the relevant fees paid by the
Company in connection therewith, were approximately
HK$47,790,000 and HK$39,760,000 respectively.

BB W&k DA
FEREAR

R-ZE-—FNMA -+ /)\H ARAREFHE
HFAERAF ([BEERIE]) DRI TIRMGE
EwmE(IRNESHE]) RURKRESRE
E ([TRREFRERZ]) Bt BER
BEBKRHERERBEMEEELREREERN
0.102/% 7T B9 B #& Fid & AN A Al & %£470,000,000
B m ((REKRD]) (TROBEE]) - UKk
1% 5% %90,000,00078 T AN & 58 Bl & AT R R (&
F ([ ESH]) ([AIRRESHEE]) -

BROBEERAIBRRESFEEHER T = —
FRAAZT N \BDRIBRERMD B E & K&
BREFEEHBEZNERRGEHETK & %
470,000,0000% f2 & % 2 2 Bk I 1% & A% B & A%
701028 T AL E B R E T T R /N(6)%& &
MA(ERESREZHREARBBILE=F)
N N4 48 %8 /540,000,0008 TR A] R EH
BREET 2R BEARBEE(IREE] A
FRERE—MEREE) REERZT=—
FRAAZTHEHEZERDTES TR ZZ
CEFZRAANHBARTESE R =—F
NA+HHE &K% A40,000,0005 7T H#) 7] # 5%
fEHEE - I B 317 /5320,000,0008% J& 15
Bt IR EHFCE2EELR BEK TR
B ek

BOHEERIRAREFEEER_F_—F
AAZTNBZER AEXREFE(RAK
ARBBREXNMBEBRER ZE)DRNR
47,790,000% 7T %239,760,000/% JT °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from Placing of Shares and Placing of CB in the same
proportion and manner as shown in the announcement
of the Company dated 28 May 2021. An analysis of the
utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 December 2022

RAATBBRAQNTR _ZE-—FHA=-+N\H
HENAEMTIENRARAERARMES X
MRESEEMSRBFR - BEREE_ZT
o+ A=+ BYAMBREFEZY
s :

is set out below:

Net proceeds Unutilised
utilised during balance of net Expected
Original the year ended proceeds up to timeline
allocation of 31 December 31 December for unused
net proceeds 2022 2022  net proceeds
BE-Z-—% HEE-E-C-%
FBé%E t+t=A=+-B t+=ZA=t-H ABRAFRE
RENRE LEEEHA ABARSHAE HEFED
Intended use of net proceeds FEREFENRERE ABER FERERE FHEAER AHREX
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FET FET FET
Possible investment in the education ~ HHER & BT 60,050 42,000 18,050 2023
and finance market ETEERE B
General working capital —REEES 27,500 27,500 - -
Total st 87,550 69,500 18,050
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE S EE & B

Substantially all of the business transactions of the Group
are denominated in Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars.
The Group adopts a conservative financial policy. As at
31 December 2022, the Group did not have any bank
liabilities, interest or currency swaps or other financial
derivatives for hedging purpose. Therefore, the Group is
not exposed to any material interest and exchange risks.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no contingent
liabilities (2021: Nil).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
charges on its assets (2021: Nil).

j'D‘J‘ »
Y

38 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

AEBBAZBEHEIHUARE KB T
B AEERDRRTOMERR- R _FT ==
FHtZA=1t—A AEELELARITAE
MEeREEERREME TR G2 2RITET
H oo [t - AN 5 B 3 M A A] B OKF R N SN E L

AN
oo
S

o

HAREE
R-ZEZ_F+_A=+—B XEELEL
MEREBE(ZT - —F: &)

AEENEEER
RZEZZF+ZA=+—B XEELEIE
RERMEE(ZT-—F: &)



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding
capital commitment in respect of capital contribution
of acquisition of property, plant and equipment
and interests in associates of RMB25,794,000 and
RMB13,840,000 (2021: Nil and RMB13,840,000)
respectively.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OF CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
immediate plan for material investments or acquisition of
material capital assets.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date of this report, the Group had no material
events occurred after the financial report date which
need to be disclosed.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION AND
REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 484 employees
(2021: 381 employees) in Hong Kong and the PRC and
the total staff costs (including all Directors’ remuneration
and fees) are approximately RMB72,460,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
RMB50,491,000).

The Group continues to provide remuneration packages
to employees according to market practices, their
experience and performance. Remuneration policy
is basically determined with reference to individual
performance as well as the financial results of the Group.
Remuneration to staff will be reviewed from time to time
when warranted considering the performances of staff.
Other benefits include medical insurance scheme and
contribution of statutory mandatory provident fund for
the employees. The Group also adopted a share option
scheme whereby qualified participants may be granted
options to acquire Shares. There has been no major
change in staff remuneration policies during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

BEEFN WD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE W& D

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those Hong Kong employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme,
which contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and the employees of
the Group which operates in the PRC are required to
participate in a central pension scheme (the “Central
Pension Scheme”, together with the MPF Scheme, the
"Defined Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local
municipal government, which these subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage, which was
pre-determined by the local municipal government, of
the sum of basic salary and allowance of employees to
the Central Pension Scheme. The contributions by the
Group for the Defined Contribution Schemes are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the relevant rules of the respective
schemes.

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution
Schemes vest fully and immediately with the employees.
Accordingly, (i) for each of the years ended 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022, there was no forfeiture of
contributions under the Defined Contribution Schemes;
and (ii) there were no forfeited contributions available
for the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions
to the Defined Contribution Schemes as at 31 December
2021 and 2022.

For each of the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2022, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.

The Group is confident that our employees will continue
to provide a firm foundation for the success of the
Group and will maintain high standard of service to our
clients.

D)
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Xing (“"Mr. Lu”), aged 55, was appointed as
an executive Director and chairman of the Board on 11
December 2014. He is also a director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lu holds a bachelor
degree. He worked for the system of Construction Bank
of China for several years. He accumulated extensive
experience in many respects such as project financing,
risk assessment and control and financial management.
Mr. Lu held various positions, including chief operating
officer and chief financial officer, during his tenure as
executive director of a number of listed companies in
Hong Kong. He has gained ample expertise and resources
in strategic planning, overall operation and financial
management relating to internet and media enterprises,
and has unique in-depth insights, all-rounded strategic
vision and sophisticated operation capability for “Internet
+ Education”. Since the establishment of Chuanglian
Education Group, Mr. Lu has been committed to
transforming traditional teaching patterns into online
education mode. So far Online Chuanglian Education
has become the largest vocational education training
platform in the PRC.

Mr. GAO Yongzhi ("Mr. Gao"), aged 50, was appointed
as an executive Director and chief executive officer on
25 February 2022 and 28 February 2022 respectively.
He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Gao is a private investor and has
extensive knowledge and years of experience in
investment markets of the PRC and Hong Kong. He
has rich experience in business negotiation and project
management, and is familiar with the relevant investment
environment and policies in PRC and Hong Kong as well
as overseas. The Company is of the view that Mr. Gao’s
extensive experience would enable the Company to
make achievements in expanding new business as well as
further developing its existing business.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEEREFS

Mr. LI Jia (“"Mr. Li"), aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director on 1 August 2013. He is also the
chief strategy officer of the Company and a director of
a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Li has 14
years of experience in media operation and advertising
business in the People’s Republic of China. He graduated
from Capital Medical University with a bachelor degree.
From 2009 to 2010, he held the position of deputy
general manager at Beijing CRI Glory Advertising Co.,
Ltd. (I RBEEXKREEER QA ) where he was
responsible for media promotion and advertising sales for
the domestic channels of China Radio International (CRI).
From 2006 to 2009, he worked at Beijing ChinalP. TV
Advertising Co., Ltd. (R ER W MNESZHBR R AF]) as
executive deputy general manager and Asia Media Group
(a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange of Japan)
as director of the business development department
respectively. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Li was the deputy
general manager of Beijing Yunhong Advertising
Co., Ltd. (It =B HEESERAF), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hunan TV & Broadcasting Intermediary Co.,
Ltd. (TIK) and the media director and deputy general
manager of Beijing Ai'erbeisi Broadcasting & Advertising
Co., Ltd. (ItREH B BERES AR QA respectively.

Mr. XU Dayong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 42, was appointed
as an executive Director on 8 January 2019. He is also
the chief technology officer of the Company and a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Xu graduated from Northeast Normal University with a
bachelor's degree in computer science and technology.
Mr. Xu was a software development engineer of the
Tokyo Management System Institution from July 2002
to July 2003. From July 2004 to August 2011, he served
as a development manager and project supervisor of
Beijing Tianyuan Network Technology Company Limited
(ERMRTHEEMKRG AR AEF). From November
2011 to May 2015, he worked as a system architect and
development manager in the Telecom Division of Yonyou
Group (AREEEEFEE %) (now known as Yongyou
Guangxin Network Technology Company Limited ( &
EEMAEEE AR 2AT) . Since June 2015, he has been
the technical manager and was further promoted as the
technical director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHANG lJie ("Mr. Zhang”), aged 63, was appointed
as an executive Director on 25 June 2021. He is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Zhang hold a Bachelor degree in Engineering
and professional engineer qualification in computer
technology.

Mr. Zhang has over 20 years' experience in risk
management, electronic engineering, fund management
and marketing. Mr. Zhang had worked as a software
engineer at Beijing Computer Research Institute* (1t %=
ST EMATIFT) , as the president of China Region in
Canada Wuzu Engineering Company* (12 K21 T 12
‘2d]), and as the general manager of Beijing Zhongjia
Lida Electronic Engineering Co., Limited* (4t & & jn )i
BFIRERAT).

He has been the chairman of Beijing Hongrui Changtai
Investment Co., Limited* (It RBIHERKEBRAA),
and the executive director of Hongfu Growth (Suzhou)
Investment Management Center (Limited Partnership)*
(BEEE (BRMN)IEEEERFRL(BRAEE)) since
2014.

*  For identification purposes only
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EENSHREEEREFS

INDEPENDENT NON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LEUNG Siu Kee (“Mr. Leung”), aged 46, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on
22 December 2009. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company and a member of
each of the remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Leung obtained his
bachelor degree of Business Administration majoring
in Accounting at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with first honour. He has extensive
accounting knowledge as he had worked in two
international accounting firms for more than 6 years,
mainly to provide auditing and business assurance
services. After wards, Mr. Leung has devoted to
develop his career in corporate finance and corporate
restructuring businesses. Currently, Mr. Leung is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and has been qualified
for practice. Since August 2019, Mr. Leung is an
independent non-executive director of Kingkey Financial
International (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on
the main board of Stock Exchange, stock code: 1468).
From January 2018 to October 2019, Mr. Leung was an
executive director and company secretary of Coolpad
Group Limited (a company listed on the main board of
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2369). Mr. Leung was also
an independent non-executive director (later appointed
as non-executive director) of KK Culture Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Cinderella Media Group Limited) (a
company listed on the main board of Stock Exchange,
stock code: 0550) from September 2015 to January
2018.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Yalin (“Mr. Wu"), aged 60, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 30 December
2016. Mr. Wu is also the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company and a member of each
of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of the Company. Mr. Wu graduated from Wilfrid
Laurier University in Canada with a master degree in
Economic Geography in 1988. Mr. Wu has over 21
years of experience in financial consulting and financial
investment services. He has successively held a range of
key positions including chief executive officer, director
and senior management in Deloitte and Cap Gemini
Ernst & Young (Sl#EZ K &5 ANTT), governmental
environment protection center of Midland County,
Canada (/2 XRBEHMBBMARMEF L) and various
financial consulting firms. Mr. Wu is familiar with the
latest market information in domestic, international, and
also emerging markets. He managed and participated in
operation and consultation of several significant projects,
and has accumulated rich experience in financial
management. Mr. Wu is currently the independent
director of Synutra International, Inc. and the chief
executive officer of Northern Investment & Financial
Consultants Ltd. Co. (L FHREZERAF) .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEEREFS

Ms. WANG Shuping (“"Ms. Wang”), aged 64, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on 11 January 2013. Ms. Wang is also the chairman
of the remuneration committee of the Company and a
member of each of the audit committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Ms. Wang graduated
from the Politics & Law Department of Capital Normal
University with a major in Politics and Law in 1992.
She holds the qualification of Corporate Accountant
in the PRC. Ms. Wang has been engaged in banking
related businesses for many years and accumulated 35
years of extensive experience in banking management.
Ms. Wang held various positions during her service
with China Construction Bank, including the head of
accounting department, chief auditor, deputy manager
and deputy general manager. Ms. Wang served as the
deputy manager of Beijing Xuanwu Sub-branch of China
Construction Bank during 1999 to 2002. Ms. Wang held
the position of the deputy manager of Beijing Railway
Sub-branch of China Construction Bank during 2002 to
2010. And Ms. Wang was the deputy general manager
of the Cash Operation Centre of the Beijing Branch of
China Construction Bank during 2010 to 2011.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Fu Kin (“Mr. Lau”), aged 41, joined the
Company as chief financial officer in October 2021
and is responsible for overseeing the financial affairs of
the Group. He is also a director of a subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Lau has over 15 years of experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management, internal
control and taxation covering a variety of industries
including property development and investment,
manufacturing, trading, entertainment and fintech.
Prior to joining the Group, he was financial controller
and company secretary of a fintech company and audit
manager of an international accounting firm covering
areas such as IPO, mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Lau
holds a bachelor's degree of Commerce in Accounting
and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Maintaining high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance practices have always been one of
the Company’s goals. This report describes its corporate
governance practices, explains the applications of the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
and the deviations, if any.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code
of corporate governance. The Company believes that
by achieving high standard of corporate governance,
the corporate value and accountability of the Company
can be enhanced and the Shareholders’ interests can
be maximised. The Board has continued to monitor and
review the Company’s progress in respect of corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance. Meetings
were held throughout the Reporting Period and where
appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes were
issued to Directors and senior management of the
Company to ensure awareness to issues regarding
corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
was in compliance with the relevant code provisions set
out in the CG Code except for the deviations explained
below.

Code provision Reasons for the non-compliance
and improvement actions took or
to be taken

F2.2 Due to other business engagements,
Mr. Lu, the Chairman, was not able
to present at the annual general
meeting ("AGM") held on 13 June
2022 ("2022 AGM"). However, Mr.
Gao, the chief executive officer and
an executive Director present at
the 2022 AGM, took the chair of
the 2022 AGM to ensure effective
communication with the Shareholders
thereat.
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TEERRE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND OTHER
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
its Directors. The Company had made specific enquiries
of all Directors, and the Company was not aware of any
non-compliance with the required standard in the Model
Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the
Board comprised the following Directors:

Mr. Lu Xing (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Yongzhi (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 25 February 2022)

Mr. Li Jia

Mr. Xu Dayong

Mr. Zhang lJie

Mr. Song Bo (resigned on 6 February 2023)

Mr. Hu Dingdong (resigned on 28 February 2022)

Mr. Leung Siu Kee
Mr. Wu VYalin
Ms. Wang Shuping

Following the appointment of Mr. Gao as an executive
Director (i.e. 25 February 2022) and prior to the
resignation of Mr. Hu Dingdong as an executive Director
becoming effective (i.e. 28 February 2022), the number
of independent non-executive Directors falls short of
the minimum number required under Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, which requires the number of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of
the board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Starting on 28 February 2022, after the resignation
of Mr. Hu Dingdong as an executive Director became
effective, the Board comprise nine members including six
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. Accordingly, the Company is in compliance
with the requirement under Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules.

Among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Leung Siu Kee has appropriate professional
qgualifications in accounting or relevant financial
management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

The Company has set out the respective functions and
responsibilities reserved to the Board and those delegated
to management. The Board delegates day-to-day
operations of the Group to executive Directors and senior
management of the Company while reserving certain
key matters for its approval. The Board is responsible
for the approval and monitoring of the Company’'s
overall strategies and policies, approval of business
plans, evaluating the performance of the Company and
oversight of management. Decisions of the Board are
communicated to the management through executive
Directors who have attended the Board meetings.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the Directors.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETING
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
has held 10 meetings. The Board also passed resolutions
by way of written resolutions. The attendance of the
Directors to these Board meetings is set out in the below
section headed “Attendance at Board and Committees
meetings”.
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TERERBE

The company secretary of the Company assists the
chairman of the meeting in preparing the agenda and
ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. The company secretary of the Company also
keeps detailed minutes of each meeting, which are
available to all the Directors for inspection. Draft of
Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for their
comments and approval as soon as practicable after the
Board meetings. All Directors have access to relevant
and timely information, and they can ask for further
information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the
advice and service of the company secretary of the
Company, who is responsible for providing the Directors
with Board papers and related materials and ensuring
that Board procedures are followed.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
held 1 general meeting. The attendance of the Directors
to the 2022 AGM is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Committees meetings”.

INDEPENDENT VIEWS OF THE BOARD

The Company has put in place a mechanism to allow
the Directors of the Company to seek independent
professional opinion in respect of the performance
of their duties and responsibilities at the cost of the
Company to ensure that the Board of Directors can
obtain independent views and opinions.

The Board has examined and reviewed the above-
mentioned mechanism and is of the view that it has
been duly implemented and effective.

)

Y

50 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ARABMARMEBYERETFLEERRE XL
ERESTHAEMBRI MR ARRH A E
MENTRFEAEZNFASHLE AIHte
BEFEM -BEFCCRCRERLATNES
CERERRENEATHBERERERT 2
BESEHUAERSERT AR E -2 EE
R THEABLERMER BRFRA ERIE
HE—ER INBEREF B EERERM -
BREFAAZRHIRARRRARAMENE
SRR RrAMERERNESTENESRREMR
X RAEME YRERNTAESTSEREF-

HE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HLFE AR
AIBRTIAREAE T -__FREBFX
ENEELERBRENTXIEZEREZES
eFHERE] -

EEEBHIUR
ARARIBHAFARRNEERBOIRSZ
REREESRBIEEES BEAHAQR
A ANBREFGENESBLERLE
B

EFecEH LIRS YR/RECEZRAN

B



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in a programme of
continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
The Company should be responsible for arranging and
funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of the Directors.

All the then Directors have participated in continuous
professional development by reading articles, training
materials and updates as regards legal and regulatory
changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in
the discharge of their duties and provided a record
of training they received for the year ended 31
December 2022 to the Company. The Company has
also continuously updated Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

During the Year, the position of chairman of the Board
was held by Mr. Lu Xing. And for the position of chief
executive officer, Mr. Hu Dingdong held the position
till his resignation on 28 February 2022, and Mr. Gao
Yongzhi was appointed as the chief executive officer
since 28 February 2022. The chairman of the Board is
principally responsible for the strategic planning of the
Group and the management of the operations of the
Board. The chief executive officer is mainly responsible
for the operations and business development of the
Group.
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ERERARE

DIRECTORS’ TERM OF APPOINTMENT AND
RE-ELECTION

The term of Mr. Li Jia as an executive Director has been
renewed for the period from 1 August 2022 to 31 July
2025, subject to termination by either party by serving
prior notice to other party not less than one month’s
notice in writing.

The term of Mr. Xu Dayong as an executive Director has
been renewed for the period from 8 January 2022 to 7
January 2025, subject to termination by either party by
serving prior notice to other party not less than three
months’ notice in writing.

The term of Mr. Zhang Jie as an executive Director has
been renewed for the period from 25 June 2022 to 24
June 2023, subject to termination by either party by
serving prior notice to other party not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

The term of Mr. Leung Siu Kee as an independent non-
executive Director has been renewed for the period from
22 December 2022 to 21 December 2023, subject to
termination by either party by serving prior notice to
other party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

The term of Mr. Wu Yalin as an independent non-
executive Director has been renewed for the period from
30 December 2022 to 29 December 2023, subject to
termination by either party by serving prior notice to
other party not less than one month’s notice in writing.

The term of Ms. Wang Shuping as an independent non-
executive Director has been renewed for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 24 January 2024, subject to
termination by either party by serving prior notice to
other party not less than one month’s notice in writing.
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According to article 87 of the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company (”Articles of
Association”), at each annual general meeting one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Article 86 of the Articles of Association provides that any
Directors who are appointed to fill casual vacancies shall
hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after their appointment, and are subject to re-
election by Shareholders.

At the forthcoming AGM of the Company, separate
ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the
Shareholders in relation to the proposed re-election of
Mr. Lu Xing as executive Director, and Mr. Leung Siu Kee
and Ms. Wang Shuping as independent non-executive
Directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "Audit
Committee”) was established in 2004 with written terms
of reference which complies with the Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include
overseeing the relationship with the Company’s external
auditor, review of financial information of the Group,
and oversight of the Group's financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee currently comprised three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Leung
Siu Kee, Mr. Wu Yalin and Ms. Wang Shuping. Mr. Leung
Siu Kee is the current chairman of the Audit Committee.

TERERBE

REBEARRZERZAMEAY ([ER2AR])E
87k REBERRBFREL ER=02—
CEFARESE WERESARIEB=F
TR R -FERMAFECKERE EREEZE
MEHBERERNESETRERSTEZER
MARFEEERAEAL YAXBRREE
BERRR -

RARBEERRBEFAS L FHEHAEE
BITRERAITES URRKELERTR
MR ERBUFMTEFTNBE L T BRBRR
RETHRR-

BEREEY

ARAMERZEG ([BRZEEGR-F
P0G R 7 3 3 AR T AR R DA R PR A
BE-BEREEGNEIEREREEHARQT
S BB G BHALENTHER R
EEASEOMB2BAL AREER N

EERgG-

ERZESHRH-RBYIIFNTETREE
A REMEERERFLLEK RIKE
EERREERZESEE-

BIBERR AR AT 3202 53



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERBE

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings
and 2 of the meetings were attended by the Company’s
external auditors. During these meetings, the Audit
Committee was to consider the external auditor’s
proposed audit fees, their independence and scope of
the audit; review the risk management and internal
control systems; review the annual financial result and
report of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021, the interim financial result and report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022,
particularly judgemental areas, accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group; review the external
auditor’'s management letter and management’s
response; and review the Group's adherence to the CG
Code. The Group’s audited annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

The attendance of the Audit Committee to these
meetings is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Committees meetings”.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established in 2005
with written terms of reference which complies with
the Listing Rules. It is responsible for formulating and
recommending the Board in relation to the remuneration
policy, recommending the remunerations of executive
and non-executive Directors as well as the senior
management of the Company, and reviewing and making
recommendations on the Company’'s share option
scheme and other compensation related issues. The
Remuneration Committee consults with the Board on its
proposals and recommendations.

)
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During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors including
Ms. Wang Shuping, Mr. Leung Siu Kee and Mr. Wu
Yalin. Ms. Wang Shuping is the current chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

Meetings of the Remuneration Committee shall be
held at least once a year and as and when required.
During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held
3 meetings to review and make recommendation on
the remuneration package of Directors and senior
management of the Company. The attendance of
these meeting is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Committees meetings”.

The remuneration of Directors is determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the
Company as well as the prevailing market conditions.
Details of emoluments of Directors for the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements. The emoluments paid
to senior management of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 falls within the following bands:
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established in 2008
with written terms of reference which complies with
the Listing Rules. The principal responsibilities of the
Nomination Committee include the following duties:

- review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and make recommendations
to the Board regarding any proposed changes;

- identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

— assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and

- make recommendations to the Board on relevant
matters relating to the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors including Mr.
Wu Yalin, Mr. Leung Siu Kee and Ms. Wang Shuping.
Mr. Wu Yalin is the current chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 3
meetings to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and senior management of the
Company, including the balance of skills, knowledge
and experience, and independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and make recommendation to
the Board accordingly. The attendance of these meeting
is set out in the below section headed “Attendance at
Board and Committees meetings”.
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The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on 23 August 2018 which sets out
the nomination criteria and procedures for the Company
to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion in the Board.
The Nomination Policy could assist the Company to
achieve board diversity in the Company and enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors
such as the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience
will be taken into consideration as a whole. In the case
of independent non-executive Directors, they must
further satisfy the independence criteria set out within
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the selection of
candidates should ensure that diversity remains a central
feature of the Board, a range of diverse perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience
would be considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board
would be as follows:

(1) identifying potential candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members,
professional search firms and the Shareholders;

(2) evaluating the candidates based on the approved
selection criteria through methods such as reviewing
the resume and conducting the background checks;

(3) reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates
and interview them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the
selected candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession
plan to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be
created or expected due to the Directors’ resignation,
retirement, death and other circumstances and to identify
candidates in advance if necessary. The Nomination
Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.
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The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, one of which is female. The Company targets
to avoid a single gender Board and will timely review
the gender diversity of the Board in accordance with the
business development of the Group.

The Group has also taken,
steps to promote diversity at all levels of its workforce.
Opportunities for employment, training and career
development are equally opened to all eligible employees

and continues to take,

without discrimination. Currently, the male to female
ratio in the workforce of the Group including Directors
The
Board considers that the gender diversity in workforce is

and senior management is approximately 49:51.

currently achieved.
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEES EZEEeRZESE€BHEAIH
MEETINGS

Audit  Remuneration Nomination

Board  Committee Committee Committee
meetings meetings meetings meetings 2022 AGM
E5g Fk%EE FMEEe REZES i
S B B 2% BRRAEFKE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lu Xing BITHRE 10/10 0/1
Mr. Gao Yongzhi mKERE 717 11
Mr. Li Jia FREE 10/10 11
Mr. Xu Dayong BRBRAE 10/10 n
Mr. Hu Dingdong HERELE
(resigned on (R-—ZE—-—4F
28 February 2022) = A=+ AEF) 23
Mr. Zhang Jie RELE 9/10 01
Mr. Song Bo PNE S 5/10 01
Independent non-executive ~BYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Leung Siu Kee DREFE 9/10 3/3 33 33 1
Mr. Wu Yalin NS 10/10 33 33 3/3 11
Ms. Wang Shuping FRERL 10/10 3/3 3/3 3/3 171
N
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% -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company's corporate governance functions are
carried out by the Board pursuant to a set of written
terms of reference adopted by the Board in compliance
with code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, which
include (a) to develop and review the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Group and
make recommendations to the Board; (b) to review
and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management
of the Company; (c) to review and monitor the Group’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; (d) to develop, review and
monitor the compliance of the Model Code; and (e) to
review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had
reviewed and performed duties of the above-mentioned
corporate governance matters of the Company. The
Company had complied with the principles and
applicable code provisions of the CG Code and was not
aware of any non-compliance to relevant applicable legal
and regulatory requirements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit
and non-audit services paid/payable to the Company's
external auditor, SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited or its
affiliated firms, are as follows:
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Type of Services AR 75 $R Y HK$'000

FAET
Audit services Z SR 75 1,500
Non-audit services (Note) FEZERTE (FIFE) 75
Total 18t 1,575
Note: non-audit services include tax advisory service. MiEE: JERBRBeEREERRR-
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to
prepare financial statements for each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and in presenting the interim and annual financial
statements, and announcements to the Shareholders, the
Directors aim to present a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Group’s position and prospects.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the Company is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditor's Report” in this report.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries,
consider that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Z.L. Global Corporate
Services Limited (“"ZLGCS"), to provide compliance
and full range of company secretarial services to the
Company in order to assist the Company to cope
with the changing regulatory environment and to suit
difference commercial needs.

Mr. Lam Man Kit (“Mr. Lam”), the representative of
ZLGCS, has been appointed as the company secretary
of the Company with effect from 30 March 2021. His
primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr.
Gao Yongzhi, the chief executive officer and an executive
Director of the Company.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Lam
has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any
one or more members of the Company holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may send their enquiries, in written form,
to the principal place of business in Hong Kong of the
Company indicating the Board or the company secretary
of the Company as the addressee.

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant
information to the Shareholders in a timely manner.
Annual and interim reports offer comprehensive
operational and financial performance information to
the Shareholders and the annual general meeting of the
Company provides a forum for Shareholders to exchange
views directly with the Board. The Company regards the
annual general meeting of the Company as an important
event and all Directors, senior management and external
auditors make an effort to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company to address Shareholders’
queries. All the Shareholders are given a minimum of 21
clear days’ notice of the date and venue of the annual
general meeting of the Company. The Company supports
the CG Code’s principle to encourage Shareholders’
participation. The Company has also complied with the
requirements concerning voting by poll under the Listing
Rules.

D)

62 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Y

RERER

RIBEEZRABNFES8 EF — (s A ERIEZ
ZRAYFHATIPRARBGRBEA (HER
ARABBERAELEREE) T D2 —HWART
BERNEMEREEEBAARBESTG KW
ERHEMER BREFSAMBMRFTRIK
UREABELTHEANTMAER: A&
RERNEZ2ZEREMEARNET HWEZ
B-_t+t—HBR EFERBARZAE AR
EBRALTAATURAEZRTAEL R ME
EERATHEFEREEARAEMARES
MFARX  AHARBRKEEN-

BRANEEZAKERRTETARAEE
EEEWE WHAIBARAEFTEAR
mIWE -

ARARETRERERRKERBENOBRE -
FERTHESARRERZENZERYS
XEER MARFABRRBEAGHRBRIE
HEXREFTEIRNERNWE ARA KA
ARABERBEFAERRERENH 28ES
= ARE IR E M SRR BB AR ) R AN A R AUR
BFEARG UBERREF 2BRRERE
PUNREENARRBRRBFAGENERLE
BHEM AR FHEEERTRHNRE
NEEBR S EE - AR A BT EHRA
A NARERIRTT AR E °



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy
and considered it to be effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) on 23 August 2018 which sets out the
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending
the dividend payment of the Company. The Company
takes priority to distributing dividends in cash and
shares its profits with the Shareholders. The dividend
distribution decision of the Company will depend on,
among others, the financial results, the current and
future operations, liquidity and capital requirements,
financial condition and other factors as the Board may
deem relevant. The Board may also declare special
dividends from time to time. The Dividend Policy will be
reviewed on a regular basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To foster effective communications, the Company
provided all necessary information to the Shareholders in
its annual report and interim report. The Directors host
the AGM each year to meet the Shareholders and answer
to their enquiries. Directors make efforts to attend the
AGM so that they may answer any questions from the

Shareholders.

The Directors,
appropriate members of senior management of the
Company will also respond to inquiries from Shareholders
and investors promptly.

the company secretary or other

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 7 March 2023. The Company proposed to amend
the existing Articles of Association at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company. Details of the proposed
amendments are set out in the Company’s circular dated
26 April 2023. The proposed amendments are subject to
the passing of a special resolution by the Shareholders.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no significant
change or other proposed change in the constitutional
document during the year ended 31 December 2022. A
latest version of the Company’s constitutional documents
is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange's website.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the
risk management and internal control systems. Such risks
would include, amongst others, material risks relating
social and governance ("ESG"). The
Board oversees such systems on an ongoing basis, while

to environmental,

ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems
of the Group is conducted at least annually. The scope
of such review covers all material controls, including
operational and compliance controls as well
as the process for the identification, evaluation and
management of the significant risks (including ESG risks)
faced by the Group. The Board also reviews the adequacy
of resources, employees’ qualifications and experience,
their training programmes, and budget of the Group’s
accounting, compliance, risk management, internal audit

financial,

and financial reporting functions as well as those relating
to the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Group’s risk management and internal control
systems are designed to managing risks rather than
eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant
authorities) of risk management and internal control to
the Audit Committee, and the management has provided
a confirmation to the Audit Committee and the Board on
the effectiveness of these systems for the year ended 31
December 2022. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:

)
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The Group adopts a risk management system which
manages the risk associated with its business and
operations. The system comprises the following phases:

o Identification: ldentify ownership of risks,
business objectives and risks that could affect the
achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation. Analyze the likelihood and impact of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure
effective communication to the Board and on-going
monitor the residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted during the
Year, no significant risk was identified.

The Company has put in place an internal control system
which is compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQO")
2013 framework. The framework enables the Group to
achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and efficiency
of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The
components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes
and structures that provide the basis for carrying
out internal control across the Group.

e Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process
for identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the
Group's objectives, forming a basis for determining
how risks should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies
and procedures to help ensure that management
directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of
objectives are carried out.
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e Information and Communication: Internal and
external communication to provide the Group with
the information needed to carry out day-to-day
controls.

° Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to
ascertain whether each components of internal
control is present and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling
inside information, and to ensure the truthfulness,
accuracy, completeness and timeliness of its public
disclosures, the Group also adopts and implements
an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to
time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent
a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the

Group, which include:

e The access of information is restricted to a
limited number of employees on a need-to-know
basis. Employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the
Group enters into significant negotiations.

e  The executive Directors are designated persons
who speak on behalf of the Company when
communicating with external parties such as the
media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted during
the Year, no significant control deficiency was identified.

The Board is responsible for establishing, maintaining
and reviewing an effective system of internal control and
safeguarding the assets and the interests of the Group
and the Shareholders as well.
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The Group has established policies and procedures for
approval and control of expenditures. Pursuant to a risk-
based methodology, the Board plans its internal control
review with resources being focused on higher risk areas.
Internal control review has been conducted on ongoing
basis to ensure that the policies and procedures in place
are adequate. Any findings and recommendations would
be discussed by the management and followed up
properly and timely.

The Directors had engaged an independent service
provider to perform an independent review on the
internal control systems of the Group. The review report
showed that the Group maintained an adequate and
effective internal control system and no major control
deficiency had been identified. The scope and findings
of the review had been reported to and reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Group continues to strengthen its integrity building
by formulating Anti-corruption policy and Whistle-
Blowing policies, establishing strong ideological integrity
and compliance, continuing to solid the integrity and
self-discipline awareness of the management and
employees of the Group.

Whistleblowing procedures are in place to facilitate
employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company. Policy and system that promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations are also in place.

The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board has reviewed the need for an
internal audit function and is of the view that in light of
the size, nature and complexity of the business of the
Group, as opposed to diverting resources to establish
a separate internal audit department, it would be
more cost effective to appoint external independent
professionals to perform independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need
for an internal audit department.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Chuanglian Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased
to present our Environmental,
Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of the
Group’s management on significant issues affecting the
operation, and the performance of the Group in terms of
environmental and social aspects. This Report is prepared
by the Group with the professional assistance of APAC
Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control Services
Limited.

Social and Governance

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix
27 to the rules governing the listing of securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) — “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” and has complied
with “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group
in respect of corporate social responsibility, covering its
operating activities which are considered as material
by the Group — (i) provision of educational consultancy
and online training and education services in the
People's Republic of China ("PRC"), (ii) securities trading
business in Hong Kong (“HK"), and (iii) provision of
insurance brokerage services, money lending services,
investment advising services and finance leasing services
in Hong Kong and the PRC. With the aim to optimise
and improve the disclosure requirements in the Report,
the Group has taken initiative to formulate policies,
record relevant data as well as implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese
and English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should
there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and the
English versions, the English version shall prevail.

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives
during the reporting period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022.
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The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for
our sustainability initiatives. You are welcome to contact
us through the following method:

Tel: (852) 3582-5200
Fax: (852) 3582-4296

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
the online training and education services in the PRC.
Being one of the very few pioneers of online education
providers in the PRC, we mainly provide vocational
training in relation to job adaption and skill enhancement
to civil servants and professional technical personnel in
the PRC. The current population of civil servants and
professional technical personnel in the PRC is over 90
million. There are certain requirements under the PRC
laws and relevant provisions that, civil servants and
professional technical personnel in the PRC are required
to undertake an annual required minimum continuing
professional training in both public required subjects
and relevant professional subjects in order to satisfy
their corresponding job requirements and professional
development needs.

The Group is currently providing online training and
education services to its users through internet and
telecommunication networks. The Group is operating
over 200 larger-scale online training and education
platforms and a mobile terminal learning platform,
Rongxue Cloud App. Currently, we have over 8 million of
paid users. Moreover, the Group has established on-site
training centres in Guangxi and Sichuan for providing
offline training and education to its customers. During
the reporting period, the Group continued to expand
our online and offline training and education business to
more geographical areas in the PRC. In the coming years,
we will continue to expand our geographical coverage to
new business areas and promote the online and offline
training and education penetration rate in the existing
business areas.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s
business depends on the support from its key
stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest
in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence the
outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or
affected by or have the potential to be affected by the
impact of the Group's activities, products, services and
relationships. It allows the Group to understand risks
and opportunities. The Group will continue to ensure
effective communication and maintain good relationship
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of
the Group's roles and duties, strategic plan and business
initiatives. The Group engages with its stakeholders to
develop mutually beneficial relationships and to seek
their views on its business proposals and initiatives as
well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence
gained from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and
continuous interest in the Group's business activities. The
Group has identified key stakeholders that are important
to our business and established various channels for
communication. The following table provides an overview
of the Group's key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen
and respond.
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Stakeholders

BE

Expectations

B

RE - HERER

Engagement channels

SRRE

HE

Measures

)i

Government - Comply with applicable laws - On-site inspections and checks - Operated, managed and paid taxes
and requlations - Research and discussion according to laws and regulations,
- Proper tax payment through work conferences, strengthened safety management,
- Promote regional economic work reports preparation and accepted the government’s supervision,
development and employment submission for approval inspection and evaluation for example,
- Annual and interim reports accepted certain 1-2 on-site inspections
- Website throughout the year, and actively
undertook social responsibilities
B - BYERARNER - ERBERE - REBE ARER ROEMB MER
- RZRER - PRAIFEAE BERER PERBRUREEREEN BA
- REMBEEERRRRSERZ EHIFRSETHENTR EERXBRIZ2NENRE RER
- ERERPHES REHBEFR
- ®%
Shareholders - Low risk - Annual general meeting and - Issued notices of general meeting

and Investors

RRRRE#E

Return on the investment
Information disclosure and
transparency

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

gl

REEH

EARBRERE
RERFEZRATURRR

other shareholder meetings
- Annual and interim reports,
announcements

- RRBEREREMERAE
- EERREEE LF

and proposed resolutions according
to regulations, disclosed company's
information by publishing
announcements/circulars/annual and
interim reports
Carried out different forms of investor
activities with an aim to improve
investors' recognition. Held results
briefing upon necessary. Disclosed
company contact details on website
and in published reports and ensured all
communication channels are available
and effective
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Stakeholders

BE

Expectations

RS

Engagement channels
SHRE

Measures

Employees - Safeguard the rights and - Trainings, seminars, briefing Provided a healthy and safe working
interests of employees sessions environment; developed a fair
- Working environment - Cultural and sport activities mechanism for promotion; established
- Career development - Newsletters labor unions at all levels to provide
opportunities - Intranet and emails communication platforms for
- Self-actualization employees; cared for employees by
- Health and safety helping those in need and organized
employee activities
] - REERENANG - Bil-#de @ne RUERR R2NIERE BUAT
- IR - X[tRkEEE® MEMES: KUERISHE R
- BxuR#e - A BIRRTA:BREE EHERX
- BAER - RBBNES EERALERED
- BERZ2
Students - Safe and high-quality - Website, brochures Established parent committee to

and Parents

educational service

- Email and customer service

maintain good communication; held

- Student information protection hotline reqular online training and examination
- Integrity - Regular meeting to find their difficulties in learning
- Business ethics - Satisfactory survey
BERZRR - RRLEEEHERH - BT RUFRZEGURBRIPER: B
- BERSRE - EEREPREAK THBREI RAHNEREEN
- R - EHed 2%
- EBEY - MEEH#Z
Suppliers/ - Long-term partnership - Business meetings, supplier Invited tenders publicly to select best
Partners - Honest cooperation conferences, phone calls, suppliers and contractors, performed
- Fair, open information interviews contracts according to agreements,
resources sharing - Regular meeting enhanced daily communication, and
- Risk reduction - Review and assessment established long-term cooperation with
- Tendering process quality suppliers and contractors
i,/ - REBHER - EBed fEEEAE. LYRR EREEMEARARE
AEBH - B3Rk FHEER I BORGAR MERBRR BEE
- RPRRERERNE - EdEm HEBRARBERAAE
- RERR - Rk
- RE8E
Public and - Social responsibility - Community engagement Engaged in charity and volunteering
Communities - Open information - Information disclosure Disclosed information timely
MBALRHE - HeRf - HREZ2E HEEERDERE
- RREE - [EERE REREES
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the
Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to
make more informed decisions, and to better assess and
manage the resulting impact.

The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in
the ESG reporting by understanding the key ESG issues
that are important to the business of the Group. All the
key ESG issues and key performance indicators (KPls) are
reported in the Report according to recommendations
of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group have evaluated the materiality and importance
in ESG aspects through the following steps:

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the
review of relevant ESG reports of the local and
international industry peers.

e The materiality of each ESG areas was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to
the Group through internal discussion of the
management and the recommendation of ESG
Reporting Guide (Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules).

e  The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key
ESG areas identified above to ensure all the key
aspects to be covered.

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders
and internal discussion among the management,
the Group’s management ensured all the key
and material ESG areas, which were important to
the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2022, those
important issues to the Group were discussed in this
Report.
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Board'’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG
issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in
overseeing the management of the Group’s sustainability
issues. During the year, the Board spent significant time
in evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our
operation and formulating relevant policy in dealing with
the risks. The oversight of the Board is to ensure the
management to have all the right tools and resources
to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and
long-term value creation.

The Group attaches great importance to ESG work.
Under the leadership of the Board of the Company, the
Group has set up a dedicated safety and environmental
protection department (“ESG Working Group”) to
implement specific safety and environmental protection
work, so as to comply with government requirements,
implement the concept of “safety and environmental
protection” in its operation and fulfil its social
responsibilities.

During the reporting period, the ESG Working Group
mainly consisted of chief executive officer, chief
financial officer, human resource manager. The ESG
Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management
of the Group. Different ESG issues were reviewed by
the ESG Working Group at the meeting, which holds
once per year. During the reporting period, the ESG
Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG
governance and different ESG issues.
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Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for
material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and
expectations of different stakeholders on our ESG issues,
materiality assessment is conducted each year. We
ensure various platforms and channels of communication
are used to reach, listen and respond to our key
Through general communication with
stakeholders, the Group understands the expectations
and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained
allow the Group to make more informed decisions, and
to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

stakeholders.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance
in ESG aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area
identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG
area prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (3)
validation and determining material ESG issues based on
results of communication among stakeholders and the
management. Hence, this can enhance understanding of
their degree and change of attention to each significant
ESG issue, and can enable us to more comprehensively
plan our sustainable development work in the future.
Those important and material ESG areas identified during
our material assessment were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations and its
business activities do not have significant impact on the
environment and natural resources. In spite of this, as an
education provider, the Group recognizes that it has an
obligation to reduce the impact of our operations on the
environment and be accountable for the resources and
materials that are used in our daily operations.

Throughout the year, the Group fully complied with all
of the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
the countries and regions, such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People's Republic of China in the
PRC and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311)
in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded cases regarding
environmental issues were brought against the Group.
As our Group continues to develop, we are committed to
continuously improving the environmental sustainability
of our business operations, ensuring that environmental
considerations are top priorities in our daily business
operations.

The Group promotes environmental stewardship
throughout our business ecosystem by introducing a
number of measures to enhance the environmental
protection awareness among its employees, encouraging
them to develop environment-friendly working habits and
to take action in protecting the precious environment.
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As one of the world’s leading online education
services providers, the Group recognizes that
it has ethical duties to reduce emissions. Given
that most of our operations is offices based, the
Group bears low impact on air pollutant emission
and greenhouse gas emission. In the meantime,
the Group fully complies with all of the relevant
environmental laws and regulations in the countries
and regions where we operate such as the
Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China (2015) in the PRC,
the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty) Ordinance
(Cap. 611) and the Road Traffic Ordinance (Cap.
374) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded cases
regarding emissions brought against the Group or
its employees during the year.

Air Pollutant Emission

Air pollutant emission control is essential to
mitigate the impact on the environment and to
protect the health of employees. No substantial
emissions are generated from any type of fuels in
daily operation as the Group is not engaged in any
industrial production. The Group’s air pollutants are
mainly generated from the canteen operation and
mobile sources. The Group has taken the initiatives
to formulate plans in traffic management for the
reduction of air pollutants in the daily business
operation, for examples:

o Encouraging employees and clients to take
video conference instead of unnecessary
transportation.

J Ensuring no idling vehicles with running
engines.

o Maintaining vehicle regularly including
replacement of any wear components and
generator cleaning.

J Giving top priority to the use of electric
vehicles instead of fossil fuel vehicles.
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Taking into consideration of materiality ESG
reporting principle and further improvement in air
pollutant reduction policy, the Group takes its own
initiative to extend ESG reporting scope in 2022
to include nearly all subsidiaries data which are
considered as material to be disclosed. The increase
in nitrogen oxides and sulfur dioxide emission in
2022 was mainly attributable to the increased petrol
consumption for more frequent vehicle use in this
year. Moreover, the increase in particulate matter
emission in 2022 was mainly attributable to the
increased LPG consumption by a restaurant/canteen
of a PRC subsidiary during the year, which mainly
serves staff of PRC subsidiaries, business partners
and outside customers. Furthermore, the Group
targets to reduce the emission of air pollutants by
5% in 2026. The air pollutant emission during the
reporting period is as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ZEIRE HELEABRESEZMRA
MEEZERSRARBRRE-FRE ~&H
RREBSBEBERRABA T -

RE HEMEMREHE BHELTH
ERREABENMAENBARBIE -1
—E-F AR/ R _Em IR
I B 5 A AR 2 55 9 68 P SR R4 0 -
BOURMERM U — T —FHE
FRFHRRENETERRFAFPE [
MEARMNERE RENRLAHRE
BN ZER/REXERETENE
REIM BT - EBERBH RINERE P o thsh -
AEBERR-_T A FAHRERTHE
MEEMER 5% - RBEHA - ZR)5
RYBERINT

2022 2021

Air Pollutant Emission Unit HK PRC Total Total

—ZE_-_— —EFE - —4F

=R R B & F it HEt

Nitrogen oxides (NO ) kg 2.69 18.49 21.18 18.46
AE(LHNO) F5

Sulfur dioxide (SO,) kg 4 .31 4.42 3.88
— S{LF(S0,) 5

Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.20 16.86 17.06 13.77
F2IZ KL (PM) Fr
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emission

Climate change is gradually concerned by the
community as it affects our daily life. GHG is
considered as one the major contributors to the
climate change and global warming. The Group
tackles the GHG emission by lowering the energy
consumption. Policies and procedures (as mentioned
in the section "Use of Resources”) to encourage
energy saving have been incorporated throughout
the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint. Our Group is taking action to minimize
the GHG emissions in our business operations.
We have adopted energy saving initiatives that
are mentioned in the section “Use of Resources”.
During the reporting period, no GHG emissions
were generated or emitted through stationary
sources as the Group was not engaged in any
industrial production.
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The Group's scope 1 direct emissions, scope 2 AEEBESHEIEE R SE2RAEERR
indirect emissions, and scope 3 other indirect HESHMEEZFERETEREEE D RIE
emissions mainly came from mobile combustion, THRSRE BERABMEER =
purchased electricity, and business air travel by T _FREREBHENHERAEEE N

employees respectively. The increase in total GHG TERHNAFERBSREWMERA
scope 1 emission in 2022 was mainly due to more TEMeBRFAFTINRBE EBHER
frequent vehicle use for business meeting during BR RPESIEZHAE T ==
the year. Owing to the business expansion of the BERBHENASE M REE KN
training and education business during the year, E_EZRFBAEREBERER 5% °
more offices have established in the PRC, the total R|EBRAN NEERERBEERAOT

GHG emission in 2022 was increased. The Group
will strive to reduce the emission of GHG by 5% in
2026. The GHG emission of the Group during the
reporting period is as follows:

2022 2021

GHG Emission’ Unit HK PRC Total Total

—B-_CF —E-—F

BE R By 0 h @t st

Scope 12 tonnes of CO,-e 19.21 68.20 87.41 76.78
#EN? —&fth ﬁ?é%

Scope 23 tonnes of CO,-e 15.47 871.97 887.44 710.13
#E2 “alkikEE

Scope 3* tonnes of CO,-e - 36.65 36.65 39.84
#E3 H_alixEe

Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,-e 34.68 976.82 1,011.50 826.75
RERBHNAE —&fth ﬁ?é%

GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO,-e/m’ 0.09 0.24 HK: 0.07

PRC: 0.19

BERBHERAE “EEE/FAK H7%:0.07

HE:0.19

1 The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on ! BEREBERZAEDENRERESR
the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from FEZ [PEEFRRELR] -

greenhouse gas protocol.

2 Scope 1: Direct emission from sources that are owned or 2 HET:AEEHREHIEF 2 RRZE
controlled by the Group. B

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity 3 HE2:-AEEBHEEMBEEE N 2B
consumed by the Group. BERR e

4 Scope 3: All other indirect emissions that occur outside 4 BEI:ARAUNINTEEZFBHEM
the company, including both upstream and downstream BB B8 L R T BER -
emissions.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group recognizes the importance of waste
reduction. Waste management measures have
been introduced and implemented to minimize
the amount of waste generated and the impact
on the environment. Under its business operation
in respect of its nature, no hazardous waste was
generated during the reporting period.

For non-hazardous waste, the waste is mainly
generated from daily office operation. The Group
takes initiative to reduce waste by implementing
different measures. Generally, the Group has
engaged qualified recycling companies to collect
and handle the waste in accordance to the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Waste (2015 Amendment) in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in Hong
Kong. For office, the Group promotes the idea
of “green office” by introducing more paperless
solutions in its daily operations to reduce the
volume of paper and printed materials used.

The Group introduces knowledge on environmental
protection to all employees and encourages them
to consider environmental-friendly printing such as
double-sided printing and copying. The Group also
encourages employees to reuse single sided non-
confidential print out.

On top of that, the Group actively promotes the
use of email to replace traditional mails. Email
is used among staff whenever possible. Office
Automation system is used for administration
of notice and leave application instead of paper
record. All these measures are geared at reducing
waste such as paper waste which can help mitigate
the global greenhouse effect as well. Recycling bags
are available for paper collection. All paper boxes,
paper, newspaper and magazines are collected for
recycling purpose.
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The Group takes effort to reduce wastes in our
daily business operation and handles wastes in an
environmental-friendly way. Under our business
operation in respect of its nature, the Group
generates very small amount of waste during the
reporting period. As the Group outsources its office
cleaning work to independent contractors for
handling and collecting the non-hazardous waste in
the office, the complete waste volume record is not
provided by the cleaning contractor. Although our
non-hazardous waste amount is insignificant, the
Group will coordinate with the cleaning contractor
to collect the complete waste volume data in the
coming year in order to formulate appropriate
measures and target to reduce the non-hazardous
waste production.

During the reporting period, due to the gradual
relaxation of COVID-19 epidemic prevention
measures, more frequent use of training centres
and the Group has established more offices in the
PRC for expanding the business, which resulted
in increase in the amount of non-hazardous
waste generated in 2022. The Group has set
comprehensive reduction target by 10% reduction
in non-hazardous waste generation by 2026. The
non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group
with different management methods during the
Reporting Period are summarised as follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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AEBRNNBLBEEEBEZEREY
FRABRRTAREERY REELMEEDN
EBEL AEERBEHAELEHLE
R ARAKEBERLEBRITIE
SIMBTFBLABRERIERKRERAEE
EREY BFREABBYL MEHTENE
EVELH -BERMESTERVEIT L
AEBRKERBEABHAIEANRERK
FREMNTERRYERE UGIEEEHE
BEBNEEEZERVNES -

RBEHA AR20019BRFSHEIB
P& P E B EEIIR O fFE R E
KM AEBRFPRARIESRHAIEL
MEES HWREHN T - —FELNE
EEREMHELN - AEEEETERZ
ZTARFHHEREEEVEELEEZEARD
10%MEBZE-REHE AEEBAT
FERFREENESEEZYHRMET

2022 2021
Wastes Unit HK PRC Total Total
—E-C —E
BEY) By BE hE A5t 1@z
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes N/A 32.21 32.21 0.70
EENBEEEEY W T
Non-hazardous waste generated tonnes/m? N/A 0.007 HK: N/A
intensity PRC: 0.002
EENBERRNAE /7K T A TNER
L 0.002
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The Group considers environmental protection
as an essential component of a sustainable and
responsible business. The Group has an in-depth
understanding of the importance of safeguarding
sustainable development of the environment and
thus to attach importance to efficient utilization
of resources by introducing various measures in
daily business operations. It understands that staff
participation is the key to achieve such goals. The
Group strives to build up a working environment
that emphasizes the “Green office” and “Low
Carbon” policy such as a set of guidelines to
improve the efficient use of energy, water and other
resources. As we are engaged in provision of online
training and education services but not industrial
manufacturing, no packaging materials and related
resources were consumed during the reporting
period.
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Energy

The Group considers environmental protection
as an essential component of a sustainable and
responsible business. With aims of resource saving
and implementation of energy saving measures,
the Group actively promotes the concept of energy
saving and emission reduction into the entire
process of its business development and operation.
In the meantime, the Group puts effort to promote
energy saving awareness among its staff by posting
related reminders or messages through emails,
recommending them to switch off all the lights,
computers and printers by the end of the work day.
The Group encourages all of its employees to set
their computers to sleep-mode automatically when
left idle for a certain period of time. Printers and
copiers are also set to sleep-mode automatically for
the computers. Receptionists are responsible for
turning off lights and all the electronic appliances
after meetings. Notices are posted in the office to
remind staff to turn off light before leaving office.
Air-conditioners are set within a reasonable range
of around 25 degrees Celsius. During lunch time,
air-conditioners in the office area are switched
off. Under these measures, less electricity will be
consumed.

j,)q @ »
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In order to keep pace with the market trends, the
Group regularly upgrades its existing facilities such
as replacing outdated computers, phones and
other electrical appliances to meet the needs of
our customers and enhance operational efficiency.
The Group regularly upgrades its existing facilities
such as replacing outdated computers, phones and
other electrical appliances to meet the needs of our
customers and employees and enhance operational
efficiency. The Group adheres to environmental
protection and waste reduction principles for its
upgrading processes, and reuses existing facilities
and materials wherever possible, so as to reduce
waste. Meanwhile, it also actively uses eco-friendly
equipment for any replacement.

The Group’s energy consumption is classified into
three fuel types — town gas, electricity and petrol.
During the reporting period, purchased electricity
was our major energy consumption source for daily
office operation. Regarding electricity consumption
for the PRC and Hong Kong offices, most of the
electricity supplies are solely controlled and centrally
managed by their respective property management
companies. Hence, it is not feasible for the Group
to provide all relevant electricity consumption
data as there is no separate submeter for each
individual office unit to record electricity usage. In
order to improve efficiency of energy consumption,
the Group strictly complies with the Energy
Conservation Law of the People's Republic of China
and the relevant documents and regulations in the
countries and regions where we operate.
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RE HEREGHRS

The Group is also exploring energy saving and green
management measures for our facilities, and strives
to reduce resource consumption by 5% by 2026.
The increase in purchased electricity in 2022 was
mainly attributable to more frequent use of training
centres and the Group has established more offices
in the PRC for expanding the business during the

A5 B 7T 3 3R APT R 4R 2R AR

KRIRRE

BEE YHAR - NFERR 5%
BREFE —_S__FHEESHEMNE
EHAEINPLERAEMBE  UARASE
ERFRNEHFRENLEZHRAEZENER
¥B - —_T__FAHEAEENNIEE
A F R E R R SRR IE h0 - IR & EIA -

year. The increase in petrol consumption in 2022 BEIRBEREMT
was mainly due to more frequent vehicle use during
the year. During the reporting period, the energy
consumptions is as follows:
2022 2021
Energy Consumption Unit HK PRC Total Total
“BI-fF —T-—%
AR ERE B BB th @t i st
Purchased electricity MWh 21.79 947.86 969.65 774.01
BEE KEE
Petrol MWh 64.20 235.66 299.86 273.27
i KR
Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) MWh - 46.62 46.62 36.64
RICRAR KR
Total energy consumption MWh 85.99 1,230.14 1,316.13 1,083.92
RRHRERE KRB
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m? 0.23 0.30 HK: 0.15
RRERRE KRB/ FHK PRC: 0.25
Fi£:0.15
025
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Water

Water is another important natural resource.
Regarding water consumption for the Hong Kong
offices, the water supplies are solely controlled
and centrally managed by their respective
property management companies. Hence, it is
not feasible for the Group to provide all relevant
water consumption data as there is no sub-meter
for individual office unit to record water usage.
However, the Group actively seeks ways to mitigate
water consumption by raising employees’ awareness
of water saving through green office policy such
as reminding employees to turn faucet off tightly,
conducting regular inspection and maintenance
of water facilities, and posting notices in pantries,
washrooms and other communication channels.

In 2026, the Group targets to achieve the reduction
of the total water consumption by 10%. The
increase in water consumption in 2022 was mainly
attributable to more frequent use of training centres
and the Group has established more offices in the
PRC for expanding the business during the year.
The water consumption of the Group is summarized
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as follows:

2022 2021
Water Consumption Unit HK PRC Total Total
—F-= —E-—F
ERE Bl &t i 3t it
Water consumption m3 N/A 7,233 7,233 5,617

k2 UK TEH
Water consumption intensity m3/employee N/A 18 HK: N/A
PRC: 16
RKBE IAKR/EE TEm B TER
HE 16

<
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The Group’s daily operations have no significant
impact on the environment, taking account of its
business nature. The Group also ensures to strictly
abide by and implement the relevant environmental
and natural resources policies and regulations
where it operates. Besides, no concluded cases
regarding significant impacts of activities on
the environmental and natural resources were
brought against the Group or its employees
during the reporting period. The Group reviews
its environmental policy from time to time and
will consider implementing further eco-friendly
measures and practices in the Group’s business
operations in order to enhance environmental
sustainability and lower the impact of operation on
the environment.

Governance

Our group addresses climate-related risks based
on the nature of the risk to our operations. The
physical impacts of climate change, including
extreme weather events, or damage to facilities
have immediate operational impacts and are treated
as operational risks. Long-term challenges, such as
emerging ESG issues and climate-related risks and
opportunities, may be discussed by the Group’s ESG
Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly
during board meetings and ensures that they are
incorporated into our strategy.
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To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest
trend of climate-related issues, climate competence
training will be provided to ensure it has the
necessary expertise and skills to oversee the
management of climate-related issues. Our Board
also seeks professional advice from external experts
when necessary to better support the decision-
making process.

Our ESG Working Group provides effective
governance for integrating and addressing ESG
issues, including climate change, within our
business. The ESG Working Group is responsible
for approving operational emissions targets for the
Group and commissioning an ESG benchmarking,
as well as gap analysis exercise to identify gaps in
both disclosure and policy relative to best practice
standards. Moreover, the ESG Working Group
works closely with the Group’s different operation
departments, with an aim to develop consistent and
enhanced approaches on addressing ESG risk issues
and report to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk
profile through its role in increasing the frequency
and intensity of certain diseases, and the health and
mortality impacts resulting from natural disasters.
We assess the overall level of risk by taking into
consideration a range of diverse risk factors across
the many categories in our product or services
range. This diversity of risk is combined with our
business strategy and broad geographic footprint
helps us distribute risk and provide protection
against the impacts of short-term climate change
effects.
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Our products and services continue to provide
protection for people in our communities against
weather and heat-related disease. Besides, we plan
to explore opportunities to engage our business
partners and encourage them to develop climate
resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration of different
climate-related scenarios, including a “2° C or lower
scenario” through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate
Change Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed
to substantial changes, such as stricter policies
including the introduction of and increases in
carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology
and changes in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on
the International Energy Agency (“IEA") scenarios
and others, we developed multiple future images of
2026 as the external environment that will surround
our Group. With regard to the IEA scenarios, we
put focus on the 2° C scenario (2DS) and pictured
future images in case where climate change
measures do not progress and where such measures
progress further Beyond 2° C scenario.

Step 2. Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each
of the future images developed in Step 1. We
believe that in such a society, it will be possible to
expand carbon dioxide reduction effects.
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With regard to effects on raw material procurement
and production, introduction of and increase in
carbon pricing is anticipated in accordance with
the global advance of climate change measures,
leading to the possibility of higher raw material
procurement and production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate
change measures are not adequate throughout
society, production interruptions and supply chain
disruptions are likely to increase as a result of
higher frequency and intensification of natural
disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
non-renewable energy in our business operation.
This strategy will allow for flexible and strategic
responses to each demand for the regions where
the emission factors of purchased electricity
consumptions are high. By promoting real carbon
emissions reductions throughout the world through
comprehensive energy-saving and introduction of
renewable energy and hydrogen, we are working to
achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

With respect to renewable energy in particular,
we have set a new target, achieve a 5 percent
reduction rate for purchased electricity by 2026.
With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the
suitability and progress of the Group’s strategies,
we believe that we will have opportunities for
stable funding and sustainable increases in
corporate value through appropriate information
disclosure, dialogue with institutional investors and
other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related
risks or to test the existing risk management
strategies under climate change with the aid of risk
assessment. Hence, the areas where new strategies
are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information and
expert knowledge, which can identify how climate
change may compound existing risks or create new
ones. The risk assessment is conducted through the
following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

e Objective/goal

J Scale

e Time frame

e Climate change scenario for most climate
variables and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

e Identify the record of occurrence of climatic
hazard in the past in the area

o Risk management strategies in place to tackle
future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risk and opportunities

. Explore climate change projections for the
selected time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

o Investigate whether any existing risk from
Step 2 may get worse under future projected
changes

e Identify new risks that can emerge under
future projected changes

j,)q @ »
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Step 4. Analyse and evaluate risk

J Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.
Geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be
at risk in future

As outlined within the Governance section above,
the Group has robust risk management and
business planning processes that are overseen by
the board of directors in order to identify, assess
and manage climate-related risks. The Group
engages with government and other appropriate
organizations in order to keep abreast of expected
and potential regulatory and/or fiscal changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change
in regard to monitoring of carbon and energy
footprint in our daily operation. However, there
remains gaps in understanding how such climate
risks and opportunities may impact our operations,
assets and profits. Our Group assesses how the
business addresses climate change risks and
opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor
and reduce their environmental footprint.
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Climate-related risks description

REERABNEROHT

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate-

related physical risks and transition r

isks, which

have impacted and/or may impact our Group’s

business and strategy in (i) operation

s, products

and services, (ii) supply chain and value chain, (iii)

adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv)

investment

in research and development, and (v) financial

planning, as well as the steps taken
these risks, are as follows:

Physical Risk
Em kR

Acute physical risks
sEEREE

Climate change can lead to more -
frequent extreme weather. Super

typhoon may be an extreme weather. It

can cause serious impacts on the office

and learning centres” infrastructure.

Office windows may be broken due

to heavy wind and rain. The Group's
documents, systems, back up storage

may be destroyed as a result of

typhoon.
REECAREHERERBAR B -
MBE AT AR AR - E A8 & Wik
RERBBEROHERREERES
FE-MREEFPAREARRARERM
Bz - AEEOXM RE - BRTH
BE e

to manage

Financial Impact

MEXE

Operating cost and
maintenance cost
increase.

BERARREERA
-

EARIZNEERE

RBEME FER AP EREE
P& &~ Edn MRS : (D ESE M E(E
B (i)ERNMERTE (WIFEKRE: R
W BRETENEHMRENEXR
LR (R AR R A W 3 R B RO R LR 0 A B
REBZEZERMERRAE R

Steps taken to manage the risks

REBZSARMRNNER

- Al our learning centres and office will take
sufficient and necessary measures when
there is an announcement of typhoon.

All documents will be stored in a proper
manner and kept away from the window.
Additionally, the electronic version of the
documents will also be saved for backup.
The backup will be kept by the senior
management and stored outside of the
office.

- REHBALER BMAEZERLR
MREREBRAD RV BRI A X
BAZER A FRHIRBER P < fLoh X
EFRAEENFRE B HEERER
BREVEBDEINFH -

o |

|
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks

REEZEARMRRNER

HRBRENEROEL e
Chronic physical risks
&#f%ﬂﬁ

Prolonged hot weather may increase
the air-conditioner use and energy
consumption. As electricity supply is
very important for running a business,
a surge of energy consumption may
lead to fuel shortage, results in
shortage of electricity supply.

- RERBXRA AL Mz AR R
R-BNRRUEBELRAEE &
RARAE RSB ER RS
NBERR

- Climate change can lead to an increase
in extreme weather, such as drought,
super typhoon, flood, etc., which can
affect the ecosystem. The Group is
dependent on paper for course note
printing and consumes a huge amount
of paper. Printed course notes are
essential for the services provided to
students. One of the raw materials for
paper is wood. If prolonged extreme
weather events occurred, the supply of
wood will be affected, hence, affecting
the supply of paper.

- RIRB(CAREIEBRREMN fim
ZR BRRE RKE WARPE
ERERAG ARERBARKITNRE
B WHRFEAERE 4T ENHRH R
EREURARNBLERENOREER
ZRRORME 2 —BAM %
ERBRERAREN  AHHRERT
NYE R YEARAE-

Operating cost
increases.

EERAE-

The Group is always taking effort in saving
energy by encouraging staff to switch off
the lighting, air conditioner and electric
power of office equipment when it is
unnecessary. Energy saving could help to
reduce the operating cost of the Group, in
the meantime, save the world resources.
AEE— E”ﬁ?@aIF$HEIRT
SR ZRARMARBERADA &
%ﬂﬁ%hﬁ$¢lk SRR B R -
HAOLERER-

The Group aims to minimise paper
consumption in its operations by:

1) Selecting suppliers who supply
environmentally-friendly paper and/
or carry out relevant policies to
protect the environment;

2)  Reminding staff regularly to reduce
paper consumption; and

3)  Implementing measures for waste
paper collection within the Group
for recycle purpose.

Engagement with local or national
governments and local stakeholders on
local resilience.
AEEFRNBATIAARARERIE
BEMBRRER:

1) EHERRERRE/ARTEH
HERARER B GIER

2) TEHREEIR AR R
3) EARENHERDRERNER-

LT AR T B KB R gy 5 40
Fafke

LN
g A

£ 3
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

MEXE

Steps taken to manage the risks

REEZEARMRNNER

HERABRNERNHL

Transitional Risk
BERR

Policy risk

BFE R
- Mandates on and regulation of
existing products and services. If
there is a restriction on logging for
environmental protection purpose
imposed by relevant governments,
the supply of wood will be affected,
hence, affecting the supply of paper
and other natural resources.

Operating cost
increases due to
increased insurance
premiums.

Production cost
increases due to

changing input prices.

Selecting suppliers who carry out relevant
policies to protect the environment.

- REREERBEMLERG-WERK - EREZNMEHE RESTHEBRRARERENOHES
g%%ﬁ%@%&'ﬁgﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁ BRAE-
J%;JHZ'Eéanﬁgﬁﬁ/\ﬁﬂgmélﬁtx Tﬁ)\fg*%@’ftﬁg
B BUEEK AN

Legal risk

EER R
- Exposure to litigation. We have
to adapt the tightened law and
regulations issued by the government

due to climate change, and they have
the risk of litigation once they failed to

obligate the new rules.

- Enhanced emissions-reporting
obligations. The Group may have to
spend much time on fulfilling the
report standards to comply the new
obligations.

- The loan, investment and the

underwriting in insurance of economic

systematic risk may cause or worsen.

- EEFR-RMAEREREE (LS
BB E B AR LR B~

%ﬁ%*%%?%ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%%@

Operating cost
increases for high
compliance costs and
increased insurance
premiums for the
Group.

FEBOBE AR
AR

Monitor the updates of environmental laws
and regulations and implemented GHG
emissions calculations in advance.

BAEERBERRERNEHNREIE
EREHMGE

- BRERBREEA-AKETRLERE
AERARTHRERENETHAL

- EEAREBERBROER RERAR
A B S MBI A ©

= -4
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

HELE

Steps taken to manage the risks

HERABRNRRNHLE REEZEARMRRNER

Market risk

% /E%

- More customers are considering
climate-related risks and opportunities,
which may lead to changes in
customers' demand for products and
services.

- Increased cost of raw materials. More
environmentally-friendly raw materials
may be much expensive, which may
increase the cost.

- PERFILEERGHBRRRES.
%Eij—-i;t EENRFHERRRBENS

- REMERAE M ERERM AR
SE AR

Revenue decreases for
the change in revenue
mix and sources.

Operating cost
increases as abrupt
and unexpected shifts
in energy costs.

Production cost
increases due to
changing input
prices and output
requirements.
ARAEE kKRS
kﬁﬁﬁ%Aﬁ&o
& B B IR AR
W%&“% LM 8
e
EEKARRAER
?Eﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%
u o

Tighten the control of the environmental
hazardous materials in our products

and studied the application of recycled
materials.

PSR P E MR IR A E AT O £
T IE ] AT o

Reputational risk

ﬁ‘ﬁéﬁ
Unable to fulfil the expectations of
the customers, damage the Group's
reputation and image.

- Stigmatization of our business sector,
such as more stakeholder concern
or negative stakeholder feedback
on the product designed in a less
environmentally-friendly way.

- BIRREPEH BREAKENEE
I§i2 &

- EMEBRANERL NEERNE
REIHNEHURTIRRIARE
MEm A HRE -

Revenue decreases
from decreased
demand for goods
and the decrease in
production capacity.

Operating costs
increases from
negative impacts
on workforce
management and
planning.
EEms SR R E
FEBRARD
BEXAREIEE

&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%%
e

Support the green productions.

Fulfilled the social responsibility by
organizing more activities or executing
actions to demonstrate how we place
importance on climate change.

NEBRBLEE-

BBERE L EYRNTTHAERLM
MAERREECRETHEEE

a
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-
related opportunities and the corresponding

financial impacts were as follows:

Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities

BRERRIREEEE N AR

Resource efficiency

BRM

Reduce more packaging material usage
Reduce water usage and consumption
WA E % BEMEHER

A Ik A K OH %

RSP B IR BN E B8 RIT
RSB ENT

Financial Impacts
BT E

Operating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions
BB A B W R KBS IR E 15 AN R

9\

Energy source

BEIR SRR

Use of lower-emission fuel sources
Use of supportive policy incentives
Use of new technologies

158 FRE BE BUR 4 2RIR
1% A S FF1E BUR BB
158 P 3 01

Operating cost reduces through use of lowest
cost abatement

Returns on investment in low-emission
technology

3B 0 BB A AR B P (EE & R

R BE R T 60 1% & | )

Products and services

EmRR%

Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

Ability to diversify business activities

il T S 10k 538 & Ko AR B [\ B g R 77 R
%L E 15 R BRI AL

Revenue increases through new solutions to
adaptations needs, such as insurance risk
transfer products and services

FBE SR KA R RIGINUA - il an
R Bex [ B #8745 72 o B R 75

Markets
™5

Access to new markets

#AFT 5

Revenue increases through access to new and
emerging markets
BB AR TH 5 SR BT 5 1 N A

‘ 4
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Detailed description of climate-related

opportunities

FRERKFREEKBNFAELR
Resilience
EEN

Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures
Resource substitution or diversification

2] BAERRER MEFENRERNEE

BERERARNZHEM

RS HEREGHRE

Financial Impacts

MBTE

Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as infrastructure, land and
buildings

Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increase
Revenue increases through new products and
services related to ensuring resiliency

FIBEENBEENTE WEMRRE T
kEF
HEEN T SEERSEIEETELSENREF

3B 3B 6 B RE R B B 0 B0 RN EE o Mo AR A% 18 Ak
A

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and
manage climate-related risks and opportunities. The
energy consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG)
emissions indicators are the key metrics used to
assess and manage relevant climate-related risks
where we consider such information is material and
crucial for evaluating the impact of our operation
on global climate change during the year. Our
Group regularly tracks our energy consumption and
GHG emissions indicators to assess the effectiveness
of emission reduction initiatives, as well as set
targets to contribute our effort to have minimal
impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target
applies and base year from which progress
is measured are described in the section AT:
“Emissions” and section A2: “Use of Resources”
of this Report. Our Group adopts absolute target
to manage climate-related risks, opportunities and

performance.

EERBER
AEBERANBREZAFGEREERK
MERE B N B o BETRE R MR E R BB
(GHG)BE IR 1R & A 1A aF Ml I B HE R IR 43
FAERMERESR LARMARSZEN
HRMEENFRAEZRRRELOF
EBEANEHERE - AEBEHRRE
BER OB R SOR = R B8 B DR IR A R (&R
PR AR URHEBR UERK
PmARENEEHE 2 REENRE -

FEERERANSHEENEEE RE
EREEFHNFBIRARNREAIE : [H
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

The Group recognizes that maintenance of strong,
healthy and friendly business relations with
employees, supply chains, and which a business
a connected or expects to have a connection,
whether internal or external, is the foundation for
the Group success and development. The Group
highly considers employees as important assets and
is committed to earning respect from employees,
maintaining work-life balance, and making them to
grow together with us. With supporting business
sustainable development, the Group works closely
with suppliers to manage social risks.

Also, with a goal of understand the needs and
interests of communities where the Group operates,
the Group takes its own initiatives to actively
contribute to the society in various ways.

The Group believes our employees are the
most valuable asset. Therefore, we are
committed to earning respect from employees,
maintaining work-life balance, and making
them to grow together with us. We actively
assist the employees in building a value
of integrity, enterprising, cooperation and
innovation, in compliance with the national
laws and the system of the Group, and to
refuse violation of business ethics.

j,)q @ »
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Throughout the year, the Group fully
complied with all of the relevant laws and
regulations in the countries and regions, such
as the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57),
the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608),
the Labour Law of the People's Republic of
China, and other relevant regulations where
we operated. We pursue fair and equitable
principle, promote equal opportunity in
recruiting and promotion for employees and
prohibit any kind of forced labour. The Group
solely considers the knowledge, character,
ability and experience of candidates to
meet the appropriate conditions of service,
regardless of his/her gender, race and family
status, etc.

The Group is strictly in compliance with
the Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labour issued by the State Council
of the People’s Republic of China. The
Group strictly conducts checking of identity
card of candidates to prevent hiring child
labour. All new employees must undergo
interview, questionnaire, business test and
other procedures to ensure the fairness of
recruitment. Prior to the official joining of the
employees into the Group, employees must
sign the labour contracts, which set out clearly
the information such as job descriptions,
remunerations, etc., to prevent any form of
forced labour. During the reporting period,
no concluded case regarding social issues was
brought against the Group.
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The Group pays special attention to its
employees’ right; hence, it treats its employees
fairly based on a series of standardised
internal policies and procedures in a proactive
manner. The Group updates and improves
these policies and procedures regularly by
taking into consideration the health and well-
being of its employees. All employees are kept
abreast of any updated policies and practices
through emails, and details are also available
from the Human Resources Department.

The employees of the Group stick to the
principle of “Morality Come First”, and to be
fair, honest and trustworthy, and has positive
impact on the environment with the power
of integrity. Being dutiful, efficient, taking up
responsibility, actively taking up new tasks
and challenges, at the same time, employees
should keep curious, in pursue of excellence
through continuous learning.

In addition, employees also need to be opened
for win-win situation, enjoy the success of the
industry with partners and the industry, not
only cooperate with the other teams, achieve
goals together, but also share professional
knowledge and working experience, grow
together with colleagues.

Our employees believe everyone can be
innovative and everything can be innovated.
Our employees are brave to break through,
to try, to fail and to learn. We not only
have comprehensive mechanism to manage
the salary of employees and recruitment
procedure, but also provide different benefits
and diversified training to employees and care
about the safety and health of employees.

Y
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The Group adjusts employees’ remuneration
on a yearly basis in order to provide them with
salary of market competitiveness. The Group
also sets up salary scale to ensure employees
will be treated equally according to the
business system and the ranking.

Other than providing statutory welfare
protection such as the social security program
“five insurance and housing provident
fund” (covering pension insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity
insurance, employment injury insurance and
housing provident fund) to all the employees,
the Group also purchases accidental injury
insurance and supplemental medical insurance.
We also offer subsidies for lunch, transport
and telecommunication as a support to the
employees at work.

To let the employees to reach a work-life
balance, the Group does not encourage
overtime work. In case of any needs in
extending the work hours, the overtime
work has to be negotiated for consensus and
also compensated with overtime payment
or compensation leaves. In addition to the
statutory holidays, the employees are also
entitled to annual leave, marriage leave,
prenatal leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, breast-feeding leave, extra maternity
leave, compassionate leave etc.

To establish a corporate culture which cares
for the employees, during the year, the Group
provided various employee benefits such as
celebration on the 8th March Women's Day
with female employees, providing annual
health check for free, giving out festive cash
or gifts during Chinese festivals, providing
cash or gifts for birthdays, marriage and birth,
and providing free oral consultation. The
Group attempts to meet its employees’ needs
in all aspects so as to cultivate loyalty and
dedication.
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RBER NEBREE R HE
BA84%ZBE (T ——%:381% 1R
B) TN ARER  FikER EE
A iR B D RES A :

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
has 484 employees (2021: 381 employees)
located in Hong Kong and the PRC. Below
is the employee breakdown by gender, age
group, employment category and geographical

region:

2022 2021
Employee breakdown E E R4 —_E_= —E -4
By gender R B
- Male -3M 49% 45%
— Female - 51% 55%
By age group RERAR
— Age 30 or below - 305K AR 34% 32%
— Age 31-40 ~ 3B R408 38% 38%
— Age 41-50 - 413 E5075% 20% 21%
— Age 51 or above - 515k A 8% 9%
By employment category RERER
- Senior management -EREERE 6% 7%
- Middle management -FRERE 19% 23%
— General staff -—RET 75% 70%
By employment mode RERER
— Full time - 28 99% 99%
— Contract/short term -&#8/RET 1% 1%
By geographical region Rih @
- Hong Kong - BB 6% 6%
- The PRC - 94% 94%

j'D‘J‘ »
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The employee turnover rate during the year

RS HEREGHRE

FARMB - FiE R K EE 5 H

by gender, age group and geographical region EBEREBLLENT:
are as follows:
2022 2021

Employee breakdown E EfH40 —Eg=-= =4
By gender 71 Bl
— Male - B 46.7% 33.1%
— Female - 49.5% 21.5%
By age group REwRA R
— Age 30 or below - 30K AR 66.4% 38.5%
— Age 31-40 — 3B R408 40.9% 24.2%
— Age 41-50 — MR ES0R 38.6% 17.6%
— Age 51 or above - 51k A £ 36.8% 21.6%
By employment mode RERER
— Full time - 2B 48.5% 26.8%
By geographical region Riv &
- Hong Kong - BB 39.1% 40.9%
— The PRC i 48.7% 25.8%
Overall wee 48.2% 26.8%

The Group takes into consideration every
precaution to establish a healthy and safe
working environment for its employees. The
Group strictly complies with the rules and
guidelines stipulated in the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance by the Labour
Department in Hong Kong and any other
applicable laws and regulations such as the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases. Besides, we maintain a healthy and
safe workplace for our employees. Reviews
will be conducted with immediate follow-up
actions and improvements whenever necessary.
Safety guidelines are in place for our
laboratories as well. In 2022, no concluded
case (2021: nil, 2020: nil) regarding health and
safety was brought against the Group or its
employees, and there was no lost day (2021:
nil, 2020: nil) due to injury.
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Safety and health of employees are assets of
the Group. For the vast majority time, our
employees working the office, for instance,
reading documents, writing and typing.
Therefore, providing a healthy and comfortable
working environment for them is extremely
important.

Apart from focusing on the cleaning of our
office, we also put emphasis on the design,
maintenance and repair of workplace. In
terms of the hygiene condition of the office,
employees need to keep clean and tidy in
workplace.

Smoking, spitting everywhere and littering are
prohibited in office. With regard to the design
of office, we do not encourage employees to
store stuff under their tables. Enough space
should be kept above their legs and at their
feet, allowing their feet to move intermittently
and ensuring users’ proper sitting posture.
We also understand that being kept in same
position is exhausting for employees, so we
encourage employees to change their working
mode regularly or have mild exercise, releasing
stress to improve productivity. In addition to
maintaining the furniture in office on a regular
basis, for problems in relation to the office
furniture brought up by employees, we also fix
them in a timely manner.
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Apart from providing the employees with
safe and comfortable working environment,
we also comply with the regulations such as
the Fire Protection Regulation of the People’s
Republic of China, formulate responsibility
system on fire safety of the Group to prevent
fire and mitigate fire hazards, protect the
lives and property of employees and build
a harmonious society. We implement the
guideline of “Prevention First, Combination of
Fire Prevention”, develop annual firefighting
plan, organize the implementation of daily fire
safety management and prevent fire hazards.
In this year, there was no death due to
employment injuries. The Group is committed
to prevent the incidents of employment
injuries of employees in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The Group
also provides safe working environment
and ensures the employees are free from
occupational harms.

The Group not only values the healthy
and safe working environment, but also
puts attention to the mental health of its
employees. Through team activities, we
expect to strike an effective balance between
employees’ work and life and enhance the
ability to work in teams. For the purpose of
encouraging employees, livening things up and
strengthening departmental cohesiveness, the
Group finances internal collective activities for
every department. In addition to strengthening
departmental internal cohesiveness, we also
wish to promote employees’ cooperation and
communication across departments as well as
to create a united and harmonious working
atmosphere.
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As a result, we set up team building
expenditure, enabling employees of the Group
to organize tea party, book club, fellowship,
colloquium, chess and card entertainment,
cultural and sporting activities, competition
and contest, scenic spot visit, etc.

Through a variety of employees’ activities
such as monthly birthday parties, handmade
sachet event of Dragon Boat Festival, and
Spring Festival Festive Gala, the members of
the Group can believe themselves, enhance
their health and physique, have a feeling for
the warmth of the organization. Besides, this
can facilitate exchange among the colleagues
and nurture the team spirit along their tense
work. This allows the employees to devote
themselves to the work with fresher faces and
better spirit in achieving individual values.

The Group sticks to be fair, just and
open. According to the performance and
contribution of employees, and the employees
who possesses integrity, work ability and great
contribution will be promoted. The Group
also introduces competition mechanism and
implement the principle of “the Survival of
the Fittest”. It forms a positive mechanism
for employees. In addition, the Group
conducts regular examination to employee
for motivation purpose. Additional bonuses
will be distributed according to the results
of the examination. The Group also holds
outstanding staff election annually and
the candidates of each department will be
recommended by the way of secret ballot. The
elected outstanding staff will be finalized by
the management and rewarded prize in-kind,
training, travel or cash.
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The Group values talent training, actively
supports employees’ development. Through
continuous learning of new idea, new
knowledge and new method, it can improve
the quality and skill of the employees
gradually in order to promote the sustainable
development of the Group's business and to
be successful. We value the feelings of new
employees. Apart from arranging training to
make new employees understand the basic
situation and the development of the Group,
familiarize with the organizational structure
and corporate culture and learn the system
and conduct code of the Group, department
heads will be assigned to follow the working
situation of the new employees in probation
period, completion of the objectives and
so on, by way of encouraging to point out
where needs to be improved and set stages
of objectives as well as expectations. The
department head is also the mentor of new
employees who helps the new employees to
familiarize with the internal and surroundings
of the Group, knowing about the duties
and personnel of each department, to solve
problems and difficulties encountered and
helps new employees to adapt to the team at
lunch times.

We value the sustainable development of
employees and encourage the employees
to participate in study and training with
objectives of broadening the horizon and
develop more knowledge categories of the
employees.

The Group provides diversified on-the-job
trainings to employees, particularly wealth
management and financial market directions
and decision-making, with the aim to ensure
that employees have the technical and
professional skills needed to perform tasks
smoothly and efficiently.
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Trainings at all levels are available to meet the
needs of respective positions as below.

1. Orientation trainings — New employees
will receive orientation trainings related
to corporate culture.

2. Job skills trainings — All new and
internally transferred employees will
receive trainings related to department
functions, job responsibilities and
job skills within the first week of
work to ensure they have a complete
understanding of the job.

3. External trainings - Professional
trainings for certain job positions based
on the operation needs of the Group
such as WMC Orientation Workshop
provided by Wealth Management Cube
Limited, Advanced Technical Analysis
Module 3 provided by Vocational Training
Council, and Law Relating to Asset
Protection — Trusts provided by Vocational
Training Council.

The detailed breakdown of the percentage of
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employees trained by gender and employee BEESLLAMFBERT
category is as follows:
2022 2021

Percentage of employee trained (%) LEJREEBDL (%) —E-= —E -4
By gender 2 1 Bl
- Male -3k 63.5% 90.0%
— Female - 65.4% 68.1%
By employment category RERER
— Senior management -ERERE 52.8% 69.2%
- Middle management -HREEE 55.3% 67.0%
— General staff -—ET 67.8% 79.6%
Overall Eg: ] 64.5% 81.7%
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During of the reporting period, the RIEBA - ZIER REFEEE S
composition of employees received training MXMEEAKDAT
by gender and employment category was as
follows:
Composition of 2022 2021
Employees Received Training o)l e B 4R —E-- —T-—F
By gender =Bl
— Male - B4 47.2% 50.9%
- Female -2 52.8% 49.1%
By employment category REFERR
— Senior management -ERERE 5.3% 6.2%
- Middle management -hREERE 14.7% 20.3%
- General staff -—f%EBT 80.0% 73.5%
In addition, the average training hours AN R EBRA RERRESR
completed per employee by gender and AMEIDHEEEE TKHFHEEI
employee category during the reporting period (53 G UNNE
is as follows:
Average training hours 2022 2021
(hours/employee) NS () ’E) —E=-C —ET-—F
By gender =A% R
- Male -5 1.4 1.9
- Female -t 1.7 2.1
By employment category RERER
— Senior management -EREERRE 0.9 1.9
- Middle management -RRERE 2.0 2.5
- General staff -—fRET 1.5 1.8
Overall B 1.6 2.1
Y 4
7
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The Group respects the human rights of
employees, and is strongly against the
employment of child labour and forced
labour. The Group is strictly in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations, such
as the Labour Law of the People's Republic of
China. We pursue fair and equitable principle,
promote equal opportunity in recruiting
and promotion for employees and prohibit
any kind of forced labour. The Group solely
considers the knowledge, character, ability
and experience of candidates to meet the
appropriate conditions of service, regardless of
his/her gender, race and family status, etc. The
Group strictly complies with the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour issued
by the State Council of the People’s Republic
of China. The Group strictly conducts checking
of identity card of candidates to prevent hiring
child labour. All new employees must undergo
interview, questionnaire, business test and
other procedures to ensure the fairness of
recruitment. Prior to the official joining of the
employees into the Group, employees must
sign the labour contracts, which set out clearly
the information such as job descriptions,
remunerations, etc., to prevent any form of
forced labour.
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As part of its commitment to environmental
and corporate responsibility, the Group
attaches great importance to supplier
management and monitors by formulating
internal procedures and guidelines for
managing environmental and social risks
of the supply chain. It undertakes regular
reviews on its supply chain to ensure that its
partners do not have significant impact on the
environment and society. During the reporting
period, the Group had 5 major suppliers which
were located in the PRC.

The Group puts emphasis on procurement
and adheres to the principle of “Act with
Justice, Safeguard the Group's Interest”
while purchasing. We understand that the
business activities will bring about impacts
on economy, environment and society. Some
suppliers may provide false certifications to
us, which affect our selections. Therefore,
we develop a clear procurement system and
uphold five major principles, namely, principle
of inquiry and price comparison, principle of
consistency, principle of seeking for low price,
principle of suppliers’ evaluation and principle
of incorruptibility, to purchase, to mitigate
the environmental and social risks caused by
supply chain.
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During the process of selecting suppliers,
the Group adheres to principles of openness,
equity, fairness and honesty to conduct
tendering and bidding. We not only
require our suppliers to be legally operated
enterprises, but also consider their credibility,
financial position, service capacity and service
awareness. We also take measures to request
the suppliers to ensure that no child labour
is hired and no human rights are violated.
Signing contract is required when conducting
all procurements. Negotiation with suppliers
shall be made in the presence of at least
two employees, with cash discount and
sales discount from suppliers to the Group
stipulated in the contract so as to rigorously
oversee the implementation of contract and
control the disbursement of funds.

Apart from paying attention to social risks
caused by supply chain, the Group also
commits to mitigating the environmental
pollution resulted from supply chain.
Therefore, for suppliers who share similar
conditions, the Group tends to choose supplier
based on the principle of proximity to reduce
carbon emissions from transport. The Group
also has a supplier roster to review and update
on a regular basis, eliminating suppliers
who are not in compliance with the Group's
sustainable development principle.
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The Group is committed to providing quality
and customer-centred online educational
services. We continue to cultivate a corporate
culture which emphasises the provision of fair
and just services for its customers. The Group
is in strict compliance with related laws and
regulations, including “Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China”. During the
reporting period, the Group did not discover
any significant risk exposure in relation to the
product responsibility.

Operating Practices

To realize the Group’s business philosophy
“Client Centered”, we are committed to
providing the clients with high quality services
to cater for their needs. For the purpose of
protecting our product patents, we have
applied for and acquired approximately
70 software copyrights. We also conduct
promotion campaigns by strictly abiding by
relevant advertising laws and regulations such
as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic
of China. In addition, we attach importance
to the personal privacy of our clients and the
cybersecurity.

Other than looking forward to gaining the
clients’ respect, we expect to grow together
with suppliers as well. Through adhering to
sustainable business conduct and continuous
improvement, clean and righteous social
climate can be created.
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Complaints Handling

The Group's department of commerce is
responsible for dealing with the complaints
from customers. Prompt response will be made
and the problem will be tackled to prevent
similar complaints from happening. During
the reporting period, no complaints related to
the quality of products were received by the
Group. Regular customer satisfaction survey
is carried out biannually for the continuous
improvement of quality of products and
services.

Quality Management

In order to enhance the quality of products
and services provided by the Group, the
Group has set up internal policies — “Product
Inspection Procedures”, “Products Recall
Guidelines” and other related procedures
in accordance with the requirement of I1SO
9001:2017 - Quality Management System.
Inspections are performed in different stages
of the production line before the products
are packed for delivery to ensure the quality
of products. Procedures for control of
nonconforming products shall apply to protect
customers against safety risks for any products
which are inspected to be unqualified. If
products are recalled for safety and health
reasons unfortunately, product recalling
procedures and analysis shall be carried out to
reduce similar incidents. During the reporting
period, no product sold was recalled for safety
and health reasons.

j,>q @ »

Y

116 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RFEE
REEFNELEERBELRF F
BRF VE O [0 8 0 % g R ) B DA By 1 3
ERLURF - RIREHE AEEL
BRI BEHERLENRF -FFF
ETEHEPMBERE  URER
ﬂ&uu ERBEE -

EEEE
REARNSEMEHEER KRS
BHE AEERIEISO 9001 :2017
—BEEEEBRNERBITE AR
K-EmRBEF] - [ELGREIE
SIIREMEEREF RERBER
NAE EEEZR TR BRETRERIA
BRERDE -EHITERERME
FHERARRERFP2EFKRR LT
EREMNERNEZZRER WL E
FiEERETE=REER  BETE
DDm@*ir_& ﬁ%}ﬁ@\iﬁﬂl%#c
REeEHE BEMEEERRAELS
MREEREAME -



Information Protection

The Group respects customer data privacy and
is committed to preventing customer data
leakage or loss. According to the Group's
“Customers Property Control Procedures”,
collected customer personal data and property
are accessible only by authorised personnel
and handled with care. The Group complies
with relevant customer information protection
laws and regulations. During the year, no
severe laws violation in this aspect was found
to have posed significant impact on the
Group.

Network information security is not only
related to the operation of our regular
business but also related to national security
and social stability. With regard to network
information security work, the Group complies
with the laws and regulations concerning
privacy matters such as the Standards for
the Assessment of Internet Enterprises’
Protection of Personal Information in the
PRC, the Provisions on Protecting the Personal
Information of Telecommunications and
Internet Users in the PRC, and the Computer
Crimes Ordinance in Hong Kong, establishes
a sound management system, implements
various technological preventive measures,
filters the harmful and malicious information
in a timely manner and keeps user information
strictly confidential so as to ensure the security
of network and information. Protecting
security, confidentiality and integrity of
information, which is of great importance to
the Group, is also the commitment made to
our clients.
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In order to protect the data of clients, we
not only establish a safe clients management
system and configures access privileges for
client’s information, learning record and
payment record etc., but also designate
personnel to manage client’s information.
In addition to improving the security
management of system, the Group also signs
confidentiality agreement with employees
and carries out secrecy concerning system
security, virus prevention, internet use and
download. The Group organizes seminars
regarding network information security from
time to time, enabling the employees to
fully understand the importance of network
security and to conform to relevant laws and
regulations. We establish accountability system
for information security and confidentiality as
well to pragmatically bear the responsibility
of ensuring network and information security
confidentiality.

We specifically put into practice those
responsible and their responsibility, refine
working measures and workflow, set up
and improve management system and
implementation approaches, to guarantee the
provision of safe network and information
services to customers.
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Apart from keeping clients’ information
confidential, we also need to guarantee the
cybersecurity. We have installed software
firewall on both web server and workstation,
and applied a complete set of precautions
against computer virus and malicious attack
so as to the website system from disturbance
and sabotage of harmful information. Login
password of web server is kept by dedicated
administrator, while 24-hour surveillance
for web server is conducted by surveillance
system. Strict access control is implemented
for the administration interface. We also
adopt third-party network security software to
scan the network system of the Group on a
regular basis. Aside from security management
aimed at the system, we are also staffed by
high-quality and professional web employee
to update the information and content of
the website. All the information published
on our website is subject to the approval of
management.

For information collection, employees should
scrupulously comply with relevant national
laws and regulations as well as relevant
provisions. Disseminating content prohibited
by related laws and regulations such as the
Regulation on Internet Information Service of
the People’s Republic of China through the
Group’s website and messaging platform is
strictly forbidden for employees.
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The Group holds itself to the highest level
of integrity and ethical standards upon its
businesses. The Group has been in strict
compliance with the related local laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong
including the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
and the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China. Therefore, it formulates a set of
policy guidelines and codes of conduct for
the employees, under which any kinds of
bribery and corruption practices are strictly
forbidden. There is also a comprehensive
system for declaration of interests, as well as a
sound reporting mechanism for any suspicious
activity. These principles are well conveyed to
our employees through daily communication,
trainings and workshops such as Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Seminars provided by the Securities and
Futures Commission. Our customers, suppliers
and contractors are expected to follow the
same policy when working with us. During
the reporting period, there was no legal case
regarding corrupt practices brought against
the Group or its employees.
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The Group has been upholding the operational
principle of incorruptibility. Employees should
comply with rigorous ethical requirements, and
shall not accept any gift, bribe or all forms of
presents or funds from anyone related to the
Group's business operation. For presents that
are hard to refuse, employees should hand
all of them over to the Group for handling.
We also stipulate that employees can neither
leak business and occupational secrets nor
reap personal gain to carry out corruption and
fraud by using their position. When dealing
with third party company on behalf of the
Group, our employees have to adhere to the
principle of impartiality, and avoid receiving
special treatment for specific person by using
their own influence or personal preference.
In addition to formulating scrupulous
management requirements and incorrupt
procurement process for employees, we also
set up regulatory department to supervise and
question procurement activities, preventing the
occurrence of any violation in incorruptibility
system.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIR HERERRE

The Group provided training sessions of anti-
corruption to the directors and staff. During
the year, about 44% (2021: 48%) of the staff
has received the anti-corruption training. At
the end of the reporting period, the number
of employees received anti-corruption training
and the training hours by employment

AEEMEEREIRHEREGE
AR - FR - H44% (ZTBZ—F:
48% )MEBTERXRE)FHI -1
BERAR RERERISHEXR
BB R B A BRSO 8o
T

category were as follows:

2022 2021
Anti-corruption training REEE —E=-C - =
Number of employees received ZillEREAH

training

— Board of directors -EEg 9 9
— Senior management -ERERE 4 13
- Middle management -hREERE 30 39
- General staff -—f%EBT 138 120
Total employees EEAY 181 181
Number of training hours 3 5| B
— Board of directors -EEg 9 4
— Senior management -ERERE 4 4
- Middle management -HREEE 16 13
- General staff -—f%EBT 93 53
Total training hours #8355 )| B B 122 74

The Group is committed to supporting and
contributing to the society by implementing
related policies and measures to understand
the needs of the community. Contribution to
the community and maintaining a harmonious
relationship with the stakeholders in the region
of operation are crucial for the sustainable
development of the Group.
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The Group is willing to participate in
activities organised by the community in
order to enhance the communication among
different stakeholders. As a committee unit
of International Association for Continuing
Engineering Education (IACEE), the Group
actively engages with different educational
institutions oversea in order to create an
international platform to exchange educational
resources.

IACEE is an international, non-profit and
nongovernmental organization, which aims
to support the lifelong engineering education
and trainings worldwide, enhance lifelong
technological learning and training worldwide
as well as strengthen the accessibility and
integration among the information of the
tertiary engineering education sector. Apart
from earning respect from society in terms
of business, we also care for the community
to make the whole community grow with us.
We encourage our employees to participate in
charitable events proactively and join together
to create a harmonious society. The essence
of education is to make everyone live a better
life.

The Group will never lose sight of its mission.
We will strive to fulfil social responsibility,
spare no effort to let every learner have access
to more abundant educational resources and
humanistic care.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING INDEX

RE-HERER

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures

and Key Performance Indicators (KPls)

IEHE B -REERBREMERKPS)

A. Environmental

A1: Emissions

General Disclosure

-REE

KPI AT.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data
HREE R BN AR

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate,
intensity
/J]]l:tﬁ f?@ﬁfﬁﬁ(g&(ﬁﬂiﬂ ) ﬁfg

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity
FEANBZRENLER (NEE)RE

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate,
intensity
FEANEZEENEER (PEE)BE

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results
achieved
HREFNENERRMEKR

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are

handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved
RiREEEEREZEYN A REELENEERAR
K F

A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure

-REE

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
and intensity
RERASNERR/AMBEHEREREERAE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity
BRKEREE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
weREANETERAENR

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
R SKEERKR LRI A AR - kMG B RARRR

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and, if

TD%'

= -4

applicable, with reference to per unit produced

HumMRBEVNAER (NER) 22 BLEENGE
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RE - #H#EREBRERG

Section

B

A B5E

A1 HER

“Environmental Aspects”
[RSEEE]

“Emissions — Air Pollutant Emission”
(B - ERS LB

“Emissions - Greenhouse Gas Emission”

[HEH - REREHM
No hazardous waste was generated during the
reporting period
REEHAREELBEREY
“Emissions - Hazardous and Non-hazardous
Wastes"
[ - AEREEEEN]
“Emissions - Air Pollutant Emission”
“Emissions — Greenhouse Gas Emission”
[wm—ﬁﬁﬁ AR
[ - REREHNK

“Emissions - Hazardous and Non-hazardous
Wastes"

(B -BEREZEEY]
A2 ERER

“Use of Resources”
[ERER]

"Use of Resources - Energy”

[BREH -8R
“Use of Resources - Water"
[ERER - K

"Use of Resources - Energy”

[BREM - &R

“Use of Resources - Water"

[ERER - K]

No packaging material was generated during
the reporting period

RBEPAEEE LR

71
78

78

N/A

TER
82

71,79

83

86

87

84-85

87

N/A

TER



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures

and Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
TEEE BH -REERBRENERKPS)

RS HEREGHRE

Section
2

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
General Disclosure
-REE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them

BESHRERARERNEAY ERARNEREH
A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure

-REE

KPI Ad.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and
the actions taken to manage them
BEYERARY ERTANEARGRAMERERNE
B

B. Social

Employment and Labour Practices
B1: Employment
General Disclosure

-REE

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region
RUR BREE FRAFRMEASNESEH

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

geographical region

BRUR FRAR SRR ANESRBLE
B2: Health and safety
General Disclosure

-REE

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
AIfBEMITHAGRLE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury
RIGEAIERY

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored

HAARANBXRERZ 2EEARBBATRER DA

A3 RERAAER

“The Environment and Natural Resources" 88
[RERKAAER]

“The Environment and Natural Resources” 88

[BERRAER]
A RREL
“Climate Change”
BT

“Climate Change”

88-93

94-99

[RIEEA)

B.4&

BREZIER

B1: fEfE

"Employment” 100
(R

"Employment” 104

[EfR]
“Employment” 105

[EfE)

B2: 2 ER%2

“Health and Safety” 105
[BERZ2]

No case of work-related fatalities was observed N/A
TEFRRTEBREME RN TEA
"Health and Safety” 105
[BERZ2]

"Health and Safety” 105-108
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIS HEREREKE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures

and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

TEEE BEE -REERBEERERKPL) Eff

B3: Development and Training B3 BB R

General Disclosure "Development and Training” 108

-R#E Byl

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained and employee category ~ “Development and Training” 110
BElEENEI L RERRS Byl

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by "Development and Training” 111

gender and employee category

BEFIREERHESNEEEE TN THHENEH Efyegll

B4: Labour Standards B4 H TR

General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 112

-REE [ T8 ]

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to “Labour Standards” 112
avoid child and forced labour
BRI ERARANARAREETRBHAT (& T 28]

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when “Labour Standards” 112
discovered
BREERERERRRREIRRHSTRAMRRNS  [$TEH]
2

Operating Practices BERR

BS: Supply Chain Management BS ftEEER

General Disclosure "Supply Chain Management” 113

-REE [ rEEE R ]

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region "Supply Chain Management” 113
RpEESMHERHA [ rEEE R ]

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, "Supply Chain Management” 114

number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored
HIAEERMEANEN RARTRBEMNMERY [HEREE]
B ARERENRTRERE
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental “Supply Chain Management” 113
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored
RERRBRABEMERORARHERRNEN JRE [HEREE]
BEANNTRERNE
KPI B5.4 Descriptions of practices used to promote environmentally “Supply Chain Management” 114
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored
HIREREERARNERERRANNERRRBNED [HEREE]
DRERENRTRERRE

= -4
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERERRE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures

and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section

TEEE BE -REERBREVEAKY) #

B6: Product Responsibility B6 :EmE(E

General Disclosure "Product Responsibility” 115

-REE [EmEf]

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  No product sold was recalled for safety and N/A
for safety and health reasons health reasons
EESCERERREPRL2REFEAMARENES HECEERAREREREAMKED TR
it

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received “Product Responsibility - Complaints Handling” 116
and how they are dealt with
REBNERRRBHRFHEUARES A [EmBE- RFRE]

KPI B6.3 Description and practices relating to observing and protecting - N/A
intellectual property rights
EEIRRENAEERBENERRED - TR

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures — “Product Responsibility - Quality Management” 116
AREERTRRREMER [EmEf-EEEH]

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,  “Product Responsibility - Information 117-119
how they are implemented and monitored Protection”
BIURBEEHRERBLEXARRERIRERE  [EmER- GRRE]

B7: Anti-corruption B7:RES

General Disclosure " Anti-corruption” 120

-REE [R&%3)

KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices ~ “Anti-corruption” 120

brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the case

RESHRHRTARERERLLCERNBSHARE  [RES)

HEENEEN S
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing * Anti-corruption” 121
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored
HABENRERERET UREBRTRERAE [R&%3)
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors " Anti-corruption” 122
and staff
BERESRETRENRERE [R&%3)
Community HE
BS: Community Investment B8 HERE
General Disclosure “Community Investment” 122
-REE MERE]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental “Community Investment” 123

concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport)
EIEREEE (D45 BERE SIS BE LR  [HERE]

£F)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g., money or time) to the focus area  “Community Investment” 123
EEIEBEMYAER (D2 EAKMH) [MtERE]
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The Directors hereby present the annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company's
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of educational
consultancy and online training and education services,
and financial services.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year
by business segments is set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the
year and its future development and outlook, important
events affecting the Group occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2022 and an analysis of the
Group's financial performance, and key relationships
with stakeholders as required under Schedule 5 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong) are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
report and which also constitute part of this report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Detailed information on the Group’s environmental
policies and performance, key relationships with the
Company’s key stakeholders as well as compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have significant
impact on the Company are set out in the section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
of this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
was not aware of material non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Company.

j,)q @ »
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

For details of significant events affecting the Group
occurred since the end of the financial year is set out
in the part headed “Events after the Reporting Period”
in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis”.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Risks relating
to the Contractual Arrangements” in this report, the
following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group:

The business operation of the Group is also subject to
government policy, relevant regulations and guidelines
established by the regulatory authorities. Failure to
comply with the rules and requirements may lead to
penalties, amendments or suspension of the business
operation by the authorities. The Group closely monitors
changes in government policies, regulations and markets
as well as conducting studies to assess the impact of
such changes.

The Group has been relying on third-party service
providers in parts of business to improve performance
and efficiency of the Group. While gaining the benefits
from external service providers, the management realizes
that such operational dependency may pose a threat
of vulnerability to unexpected poor or lapses in service
including reputation damage, business disruption and
monetary losses. To address such uncertainties, the
Group engages only reputed third-party providers and
closely monitors their performance.

The Group recognizes the accomplishment of the
employees by providing comprehensive benefit package,
career development opportunities and internal training
appropriate to individual needs. The Group provides a
healthy and safe workplace for all employees. No strikes
and cases of fatality due to workplace accidents are
found in the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

The Group encompasses working relationships with
suppliers to meet our customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The departments work closely to
make sure the tendering and procurement process is
conducted in an open, fair and just manner. The Group's
requirements and standards are also well-communicated
to suppliers before the commencement of a project.

The Group values the views and opinions of all customers
through various means and channels, including usage of
business intelligence to understand customer trends and
needs and regular analysis on customer feedback. The
Group also conducts comprehensive tests and checks to
ensure that only quality products and services are offered
to the customers.

Our major suppliers are generally cloud delivery network
providers and computer hardware providers and had
business relationship with the Group for over 5 years on
average, which mainly located within Hebei Province, the
PRC.

The payables were usually settled within the credit
period. The credit terms granted to the Group ranged
from 30 to 90 days.
payables of the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set
out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the trade and other

The Group puts emphasis on procurement and adheres
to the principle of “Act with Justice, Safeguard
The Group’s Interest” while purchasing.
alleviate risks for conduct of suppliers, the Group has
developed a clear procurement system and uphold five
major principles, namely principle of inquiry and price
comparison, principle of consistency, principle of seeking
for low price, principle of suppliers’ evaluation and
principle of incorruptibility, to purchase, to mitigate the
environmental and social risks caused by supply chain.

In order to

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
did not have any significant disputes with our major
suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Group is principally engaged in the provision
of educational consultancy and online training and
education services, and financial services. Our major
customers are mainly government associations and
industry training platforms which offer training to civil
servants and professional technical personnel and the
trading terms with them are mainly on monthly basis.
Besides, the Group has entered into the insurance related
business in 2017 and the major customers are those who
demand for insurance products. The trading terms with
them are mainly on contract basis. The years of business
relationship with the Group ranged from 3 to 5 years.
Details of the trade and other receivables of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As we are providing online services, network information
security is important to the operation of our regular
business. In order to alleviate the security risk, the Group
has complied with the laws and regulations concerning
privacy matters such as the Standards for the Assessment
of Internet Enterprises’ Protection of Personal Information
and the Provisions on Protecting the Personal Information
of Telecommunications and Internet Users, establishes
a sound management system, implements various
technological preventive measures, filters the harmful
and malicious information in a timely manner and keeps
user information strictly confidential so as to ensure the
security of network and information.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
has not experienced any major disruption of business due
to material delay or default of payment by our customers
due to their financial difficulties. The Group did not have
any major product dispute with our customers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 154
to 155.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWE

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the
Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group during the Year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 158 to 159.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association requiring the Company to offer
new shares to its existing shareholders in proportion to
their share holdings and there is no restriction against
such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
report are:

Mr. Lu Xing (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Yongzhi (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 25 February 2022)

Mr. Li Jia

Mr. Xu Dayong

Mr. Zhang lJie

Mr. Song Bo (resigned on 6 February 2023)

Mr. Leung Siu Kee
Mr. Wu Yalin
Ms. Wang Shuping
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Pursuant to article 87 of the Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Lu Xing,
Mr. Leung Siu Kee and Ms. Wang Shuping shall retire by
rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
41 to 46 to this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service
agreement with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and
officers liability insurance and such permitted indemnity
provision for the benefit of the Directors is currently in
force and was in force throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or his or her connected entity had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the Year.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed above and the share option scheme
of the Company disclosed in the section headed “Share
Option Schemes” below, there was no other equity-
linked agreement entered into by the Company during
the Year or subsisted at the end of the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Group has two equity-settled share option schemes
which were adopted on 31 October 2004 (the “Share
Option Scheme 2004") and 28 May 2014 (the “Share
Option Scheme 2014") (collectively, the “Share Option
Schemes”) for the purpose of enabling the Company
to grant options to Participants (as defined below) as
incentives and rewards for their contribution to the
Company or its subsidiaries. Under the Share Option
Schemes, the Board might, at its discretion, offer options
to any employees (whether full time or part time),
executives or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (including any executive Director), business
consultants, agents or legal and financial advisers to the
Company or its subsidiaries (the “Participants”) whom
the Board considered, in its sole discretion, as having
contributed to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme 2004
and Share Option Scheme 2014 are summarised as
follows:

The Share Option Scheme 2004 and Share Option
Scheme 2014 were adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 31 October 2004 and 28 May 2014
respectively. The Company had by resolution in the
annual general meeting of the Company dated 28 May
2014 resolved to terminate the Share Option Scheme
2004 and to adopt the Share Option Scheme 2014.

The consideration for the grant of option is HK$1.00.
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of:

(i)  the nominal value of the shares;

(ii)  the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of
the grant of the option; and

(iii) the average closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the 5
business days immediately preceding the date of
the grant of the option.

D)
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Under the Share Option Schemes, the total number of
shares which may be allotted and issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
number of shares in issue at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme Limit”) provided
that, inter alia, the Company may seek approval of
the Shareholders at a general meeting to refresh the
Scheme Limit. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Schemes may not
exceed 30% of the share capital of the Company in issue
from time to time.

As at the date of this report, there are no outstanding
share options and no shares are available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme 2004.

The maximum number of shares issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each grantee or of shares to be
issued upon the exercise of outstanding options under
the Share Option Schemes in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.
Any further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit
shall be subject to issuance of a circular by the Company
and the approval of its shareholders in accordance with
the Share Option Scheme. The period within which the
Company’s securities must be taken up shall be in any
event not later than 10 years from the offer date, subject
to the provisions for early termination of the Share
Option Schemes and there is no general requirement that
an option must be held for any minimum period before it
can be exercised but the Board is empowered to impose
at its discretion any such minimum period at the time of
grant of any particular option. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme 2014 is 3 years.
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Movements of share options during the year ended 31 U TFABEZE-E-_—F+_-_A=+—RHLFE
December 2022 under the Share Option Scheme 2014 Z—Z—NFBERETEIETHERES SN -
are summarised as follows and details of which are set HAREFBEHNGEA P BHRERNMTE34

out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements:

Balance as at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance as at
1January  during the  duringthe  duringthe  during the 31 December  Exercise Date of

List of Grantees 2022 Year Year Year Year 2022 Price grant  Exercise Period

WZE-—%F i

—-A—8 +=A=1+-H
ERARE MHEE  FARL ERTE FRER EREHE mEBE  TRE  KHEH 755
HKS
BT

Directors
F
Xu Dayong 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - - 0.127  29/06/2017  29/06/2017-28/06/2022
N (Note) (i)
Wu Yalin 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - - 0.127  29/06/2017  29/06/2017-28/06/2022
R (Note) (Fi#zE)
Wang Shuping 500,000 - - (500,000 - - 0127 29/06/2017  29/06/2017-28/06/2022
TRE (Note) (Fi1 &)
Subtotal 2,500,000 - - (2,500,000) - -
Nt
Employees
E&
In aggregate 27,800,000 - - (27,800,000) - - 0.127  29/06/2017  29/06/2017-28/06/2022
ny (Note) ( Fif )
Subtotal 27,800,000 - - (27,800,000) - -
I
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EEEWRE

Balance as at Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Balance as at
TJanuary  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December  Exercise Date of
List of Grantees 2022 Year Year Year Year 2022 Price grant  Exercise Period
R-B--F R-B-F
—-A—H +ZA=1+—H
ERARE MBE  FARL FRTE FRER EREH mHE  TRE  KHEH 755
HKS
BT
Consultants
B
In aggregate
By 3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) - - 0.127  29/06/2017  29/06/2017-28/06/2022
(Note) (i 7F)
- 100,000,000 - - - 100,000,000 0.103  04/01/2022  04/01/2022-03/01/2025
Subtotal 3,000,000 100,000,000 - (3,000,000) - 100,000,000
It
Total 33,300,000 100,000,000 - (33,300,000) - 100,000,000
@zt

Note: Not more than 30% of the share options has been vested on 29  Fff&E: TERI0% 2 EREERZZ—NFAZTH

June 2018. Not more than 60% of the share options has been
vested on 29 June 2019. Not more than 100% of the share

options has been vested on 29 June 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, 100,000,000
share options were granted, 33,300,000 share options
were lapsed and no share options were exercised or

cancelled under the Share Option Scheme 2014.

The total number of securities available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme 2014 is 396,851,057,
representing approximately 5.88% of the issued shares

of the Company as at the date of this report.
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AZ+NBEHE-TZR100%H 8B EED N =
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2022, the following Directors or
chief executive of the Company had held the following

EERBEITHRAERARGHEM
BEENKRD SRRORESTH
BaERKXR

RZEB-Z—F+_A=+—H8 AXRQaNUTE
ERZBITHABRAR B s H A58 L E

interests or short positions in the shares, underlying (EZEREHFRBEEN ([BHREPEEG])
shares (as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance SBXVE) MM B REKH (T& LEFH K H

(the “SFO")) and debentures of the Company or any of

EGRM)REFTREELHENREESFLPE

5

its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part {5 55352157817 B #) & 52 i A A9 (T fa] #E 25 2K

XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to A& _ME}T‘“J:FE%E Il Bff 8% + P L A0 12 4
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise

\\\

A A

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10

to the Listing Rules:

= 2

EARRNB BRI EMEESORB T

Approximate

Number of aggregate
Number of ~underlying shares Aggregate percentage
issued ordinary  held pursuant to number of  of the issued
Name of Directors Nature of interests shares held share options shares held  share capital
1R 5 B A 1
PrisE 17 igsxel EBEITRA
EESaa EntE il ROEE PEROHBHE BORES
Lu Xing (“Mr. Lu") Beneficial owner 604,468,000 - 1,394,096,323 20.65%
BT ([BEE]D EREEA
Held by controlled corporation 789,628,323 (Note 1) -
ERREGLARE (FzET)
Gao Yongzhi ("Mr. Gao”)  Beneficial owner 6,148,000 - 611,064,000 9.05%
BxE ([REE]) EREERA
Held by controlled corporation 604,916,000 (Note 2) -
ERREGDARE (FzE2)
Li Jia Beneficial owner 7,936,000 - 7,936,000 0.12%
g EREEAA
Zhang lie Beneficial owner 198,658,000 - 273,830,000 4.06%
RoE EREEA
Held by spouse 75,172,000 (Note 3) -
mEERE (F7E3)
Song Bo (resigned on Beneficial owner
6 february 2023) 275,240,000 - 275,240,000 4.08%
RE(RZFZ=# EREEA
ZANHEE)

j)* »

Y
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Notes:

1. Of these 789,628,323 shares, 109,628,323 shares are held by
Ascher Group Limited; and 680,000,000 shares are held by
Headwind Holdings Limited. Ascher Group Limited and Headwind
Holdings Limited are companies incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands with limited liability and wholly owned by Mr. Lu.

2. These 604,916,000 shares are held by Easy Team Investment
Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
and ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Gao through Prime Goal
Developments Limited.

3. These 75,172,000 shares are held by Ms. Yuan Xiaoling who is
the spouse of Mr. Zhang lJie.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company held
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares (as defined in the SFO) or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the
Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any of the Directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
companies, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EEEWRE

fi -

1. R #25789,628,323% A% 7 # + Ascher Group Limited
#765109,628,323 % 15 K Headwind Holdings
Limited# 5680,000,0008% i% 15 ° Ascher Group
Limited } Headwind Holdings Limited3 /4 7 % & 5& 22
HEAMR M ERAR WAKEEL2EHEE -

2. %%604,916,0008 8 HEEIER E B R QA RHEE
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other
than Directors or chief executives of the Company) had
an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register

required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Name of substantial shareholders

of the Company Nature of interests

KRR EREREHE, 1H EmtE

FERRREQXTRGEEBRAW
*‘gfu'l&/KF'

RZEBZZF+ZA=+t—H UTFTAL(R
RAEFRZETHABRINRARTHR
MERBEEROTPHEECHENBREIZHFRBAER
PE3CIFRBFENELMAMNEZIONE

Approximate
aggregate
percentage of the
issued share capital

Number of issued
ordinary shares/
underlying shares held

Aggregate number
of shares held

Beneficial owner

EREAA

Held by controlled
corporation

BRXEHARARE

Beneficial owner

Headwind Holdings Limited

Prime Goal Developments Limited

Guo Zhen Bao

#LE ERHEEA
Held by spouse
REEHS
Choi Chung Lam (“Mr. Choi"”) Beneficial owner
R ([8EE]) ERERA
Held by controlled
corporations
BRXEHAARE
Notes:

BRI EER,/ HEBTRA

BERERHEE P 8 BOBEED

680,000,000 (Note 1) 680,000,000 10.07%
(P3ET)

604,916,000 (Note 2) 604,916,000 8.96%
(H&E2)

184,622,032 381,030,032 5.64%
196,408,000 (Note 3)
(H&E3)

3,500,000 539,552,000 7.99%

536,052,000 (Note 4)

(HE4)
W

These 680,000,000 shares are held by Headwind Holdings
Limited, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability and wholly owned by Mr. Lu.

These 604,916,000 shares are held by Easy Team Investment
Limited, which is incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
and ultimately wholly owned by Mr. Gao through Prime Goal
Developments Limited.

These 196,408,000 shares are held by Ms. Ren Jiying who is the
spouse of Mr. Guo Zhen Bao.

Of these 536,052,000 shares, 434,724,000 shares are held by
HTHTIMES Limited and 101,328,000 shares are held by Team
Effort Investments Limited. HTHTIMES Limited and Team Effort
Investments Limited are companies incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liabilities and wholly owned by Mr.
Choi.

7)* 5
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the
Company had not been notified of any interest or short
position being held by any substantial Shareholder in the
shares or underlying shares in the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in this report, no contract of
significance has been entered into between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders
or any of their subsidiaries, at any time during the
year. No contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the
controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries.

COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors, the
management, Shareholders or substantial Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates has engaged
in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group, or has any other conflict of
interests with the Group.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentage of purchases for the year ended 31
December 2022 attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers is as follows:

EEEWRE
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REIEMEBERDPRELENREZF K
HIE 1RBIZE336IK AR A AT ENE LM P
ER SRR -

HEERRRZER

BABREAJBEN RFERAEMEH A2
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TERERREF
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EEEHEEMERBETHLNT

Percentage of

purchases
FIh R A D
The largest supplier &N H R 9.4%
Five largest suppliers combined AREEEEE 29.4%
Y 1
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The percentage of sales for the year ended 31 December
2022 attributable to the Group’s major customers is as
follows:

BE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—BItFE K&
BFXrEEFMEHEEEa LT

Percentage of sales

FriEHERB D
The largest customer BRARPF 8.4%
Five largest customers combined hAREPEET 19.8%

None of the Directors, their close associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had
an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted
above.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed herein, no contracts concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related party transactions during the Year are disclosed
in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTOR

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the
change of information on the Directors is set out in the
part headed “Directors’ Term of Appointment and Re-
election” in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report”.

7)* 5
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, of any listed
securities of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Please see the “Corporate Governance Report” set
out on pages 47 to 67 of this report for details of its
compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lu Xing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B 2 AR E

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS
LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Chuanglian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 154 to 296, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA™) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,
311 Gloucester Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION OF ONLINE
TRAINING AND EDUCATION SERVICES

Refer to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 173 to 176.

The key audit matter
HRETER

AEBIRABRE 2 WARR

FL2MGAVBERRNF7TUAREI73R1768
VEETEER ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMESTHPNEERLE

Revenue from online training and education services
is recognised over time based on output method,
which is to determine progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the
online training and education services.

The Group maintains information systems to record
the number of accounts activated during the
training period, including commencement date of
service which is the activation date of the customer
and the closing date of the courses.

We have identified revenue recognition of online
training and education services as a key audit matter
because revenue is one of the key performance
indicators of the Group. Also, revenue from online
training and education services involves complicated
information systems and with high volume of
transactions. All of which give rise to an inherent
risk that revenue could be recorded in the incorrect
period or could be subject to manipulation.
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Our audit procedures were designed to challenge
the accuracy and completeness of the amounts
recognised as revenue. These procedures included
testing the management’s design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of the Group’s key
controls over revenue recognition process and
general information technology environment used
to capture and maintain the training records and
relevant data for revenue recognition of online
training and education services and performing
substantive test on the Group's revenue from online
training and education services.

We had engaged IT audit expert to test the Group’s
information systems.

We checked the arithmetical accuracy of the
computation of stage of completion based on
the information generated from the information
systems.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT OF INTANGIBLE

ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Refer to notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies on pages 202 to

204 and 171 respectively.

The key audit matter
HRETER

B 2 AR E

BREERBERENME

BORNZHEAMBERERMEIOR20A K E
202E E204B N E1T1ERNE TR -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BMESFTPNEELE

The Group has intangible assets of approximately
RMB55,614,000 and goodwill of approximately
RMB38,290,000 as at 31 December 2022.
Independent value was engaged by the
management for the impairment assessment of
intangible assets and goodwill as at 31 December
2022.

Impairment assessment of intangible assets and
goodwill involves judgement and estimations
concerning the forecast future cash flows
associated with the intangible assets and goodwill,
which is estimated based on past performance
and expectation for market development. The
adoption of key assumptions and input data may
be subject to management bias and changes in
these assumptions, including sales growth rates,
costs, gross margin and discount rate employed in
the cash flow projections, may result in significant
financial impact.

We have identified impairment assessment of
intangible assets and goodwill as a key audit matter
because of the extent of judgement involved
in impairment assessment and the size of the
intangible assets and goodwill.
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Our audit procedures were designed to challenge
the reasonableness of the key assumptions and
input data adopted in the impairment assessment
prepared by the management with the assistance
of the Group's independent valuer. In particular,
we tested the cash flow forecast on whether it is
agreed to the budget approved by the directors of
the Company and compared the budget with actual
results. We also challenged the appropriateness of
the valuation model and the assumptions, including
the sales growth rates, costs and gross margin,
against latest market expectations and the discount
rate employed in the calculation of value in use.

As any changes in these assumptions and input data
to valuation model may result in significant financial
impact, we tested management'’s sensitivity analysis
in relation to those assumptions and key inputs to
the impairment assessment which included changes

in sales growth rates, costs, gross margin and
discount rate employed.
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18 M % B ] S

VALUATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 192 and 204 to

205.

The key audit matter
BARESSER

BAREsF ANHMZERFZ ZHBE
ENGE

BLAHEAYBHRRMI2IANEINELE
204E E205E & 5T -

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMESFTPNEESLE

The Group has unlisted equity investments of
approximately RMB53,200,000 classified as financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income as at 31 December 2022.
valuer was engaged by the management for the
fair value measurement of these unlisted equity
investments as at 31 December 2022.

Independent

We have identified the valuation of the unlisted
equity investments as a key audit matter because
significant judgement and estimation, including
selection of valuation technique and use of
significant unobservable inputs, have been used in
the fair value measurement by the management
with the assistance of the Group's independent
valuer at the end of the reporting period.
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Our audit procedures were designed to challenge
the reasonableness of judgement and estimations,
including selection of valuation technique and use
of significant unobservable inputs adopted in the
fair value measurement by the management with
the assistance of the Group’s independent valuer.

We have also reviewed the methodology and
the input data used with reference to the latest
available market data.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR'S REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required
to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GaERaRkHEMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR® T ARBFIT
Revenue WA 7 325,620 280,252
Cost of services AR 7% B AR (173,422) (133,228)
Gross profit E A 152,198 147,024
Other income, net gains and losses ~ E b Ug A~ I zs &
Es 1855 9 21,958 20,222
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HEHRB QR EE 37 (14,486) -
Selling and marketing expenses SHE K& A (40,919) (36,803)
Administrative expenses THRAX (90,282) (80,075)
Share of results of associates SREE A EEE (180) (303)
Impairment losses on financial assets 817§ & E R {EE 18 25 (1,903) (1,000)
Finance costs 81 7 B AR 10 (5.024) (6,300)
Profit before tax M B AT & A 21,362 42,765
Income tax expense 8wz 11 (10,478) (12,748)
Profit for the year NEFE s F 12 10,884 30,017
Other comprehensive Hi2mH (X)) &
(expense) income
Item that will not be reclassified R Y EN - -F ]
subsequently to profit or loss: FRmAEA -
Change in fair value of equity BRAREFAEM
investments at fair value through PHEHRE 2 BRI
other comprehensive income RENARBEZE (2,200) 3,421
Item that may be reclassified B EFHHE
subsequently to profit or loss: Bam 2 HE -
Exchange differences arising on BB FINETE B TS
translation of financial statements R E AW
of foreign operations N E5E 10,197 1,877
Other comprehensive income REFEEMPERE
for the year 7,997 5,298
Total comprehensive income AEE2EWERE
for the year 18,881 35,315
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEEkEMZEIRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—_=2__ —E - —4F
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR® TR AR®ETFTT
Profit (loss) for the year UTALELAREE
attributable to: wm A (B8 -
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIEZ RN 13,523 33,011
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A 2 (2,639) (2,994)
10,884 30,017
Total comprehensive income N TATEERFEE
(expense) for the year FEWE (AX)
attributable to: 4EE
Owners of the Company ZAN/NESIE Z SN 21,520 38,309
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR A 2 (2,639) (2,994)
18,881 35,315
Earnings per share BREF 16
Basic and diluted (RMB cent) HAREE (ARKS) 0.20 0.52
a
2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e ISR &

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 R-ZE-_—_HF+_-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—4F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3T AR¥ Tt ARBEFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B E ] 17 50,011 49,809
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 71,371 81,972
Intangible assets mEEE 19 55,614 50,271
Goodwill GRS 20 38,290 38,290
Financial assets at fair value through AR EFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Wz & E 21 53,200 56,821
Financial asset at fair value BERAnBEFABERZ
through profit or loss MBEE 21 3,011 2,260
Interests in associates RN - o 22 5,477 5,657
Deposit paid for acquisition of WHEME  BWE R&E
property, plant and equipment EfEEe 20,979 3,200
Finance lease receivables B & TS e R 23 = 35,951
Other receivables H b e U BR X 25 2,400 1,856
Term deposits FHF R 27 5,030 5,000
305,383 331,087
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H Ath e U BR 3k 25 69,007 49,945
Finance lease receivables A S e R 23 = 2,766
Loan and interest receivables EWE R RF A 24 4,510 5,149
Digital assets HTEE 26 18,991 12,055
Bank balances and cash RITEHR MRS 27 157,806 169,358
250,314 239,273
Current liabilities REAE
Contract liabilities BHAE 28 24,022 31,178
Trade and other payables Z 5 Rk H M FER IR 29 32,174 44,688
Amount due to a shareholder FERT— B R R FKIA 30 57 57
Lease liabilities HEERE 18 11,949 13,912
Income tax payable JE 1 P15 3% 8,736 14,402
76,938 104,237
Net current assets MEEEFE 173,376 135,036
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERTHERE 478,759 466,123
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
n\l_\l/E\/E\ZI- i%;ljtiﬂl%

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 M-ZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H

2022 2021
—ZE_— —E-—%F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
liEsd AR® T ARBF T
Capital and reserves MR
Share capital &N 31 56,662 56,662
Reserves &1 333,153 311,215
Equity attributable to owners RRARHA NEIEER
of the Company 389,815 367,877
Non-controlling interests JEE AR A 2 737 3,376
Total equity i 390,552 371,253
Non-current liabilities FRBEMS
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIBBEE 32 9,403 8,724
Lease liabilities HEaRE 18 78,804 86,146
88,207 94,870
478,759 466,123

The consolidated financial statements on pages 154
to 296 were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 31 March 2023 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Mr. Lu Xing
BITEE
Director

BF

Mr. Gao Yongzhi

BREXE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AEREMRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—fF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i 5% ARETR ARETR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RExER
Profit before tax B 85 Al 4 A 21,362 42,765
Adjustments for: TSR IBEEL AR
Finance costs B F AR AR 5,024 6,300
Bank interest income HRITHEHRA (2,159) (1,151)
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHN 10,346 7,268
Depreciation of plant and equipment WEREETE 12,304 10,043
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 15,437 15,221
Fair value gain on financial asset RANBEFAERNIBEE
at fair value through profit or loss MR ERE (523) (675)
Change in fair value in digital assets BTEEZAAEES 6,606 (23)
Impairment losses on financial assets MBEEREER 1,903 1,000
Share-based payment expenses B REZ 1,839 -
Loss (gain) on disposals of subsidiaries HEMBAREE (W) 37 14,486 (150)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary dHE—RNBRRELNER - 142
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment HERERZEESE 287 -
Write-off of plant and equipment I 5 e 5% A il 3 70 275
Share of results of associates (sl A-WNCIEE | 180 303
Operating cash flows before movements in CEECEIMEERENE
working capital 87,162 81,318
Increase in finance lease receivables ARG M (19,003) (6,557)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 N E b e YR ZOR
other receivables (1) 1,449 (27,280)
Decrease (increase) in loan and FEWE SRR A SR (32 )
interest receivables 639 (5,149)
Increase in digital assets HFEEREN (4,447) (12,032)
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EH8E CRD)EM (7,156) 21,133
(Decrease) increase in trade and B REMBERNERCRD)
other payables 20 (3,887) 7,136
Cash generated from operations LEMERS 54,757 58,569
Tax paid BERHIE (11,215) (11,476)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES ~ REXKFMBRLFE 43,542 47,093
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERTMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Pl & ARBFRE AR®TR

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXRK
Purchase of plant and equipment BERERF (9,621) (2,245)
Purchase of intangible assets BERVEE (15,577) (5,348)
Deposit paid for acquisition of WENE BERRECHH
property, plant and equipment Ee (20,979) (3,200)
Proceed from disposal of plant and HERERRBRERE
equipment 52 -
Net cash (outflow) inflow on disposals of HENBARRE
subsidiaries (M) mAFEE 37 (25) 5
Net cash outflow from acquisition WENRBARRS R LT
of subsidiaries 36 - (32,135)
Investments in associates REE R AR E - (3,960)
Withdrawal of term deposits RETEBEH 3,000 5,000
Placement of term deposits FHEBFX (3,030) (5,000)
Interest received B U F A 2,159 1,151
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXKFARLTE (44,021) (45,732)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AEREMRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ETRT ARETT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEXK
Repayment of bank borrowing HEBRITER - (3,000)
Interest paid BFE - (362)
Proceeds from issue of shares, net of expenses  #17I% {7 BT 15 ZU8 » HBR B X - 39,816
Proceeds from issue of shares upon conversion ¥ 4 a] # i & % B
of convertible bonds BITRHAGHRIE - 33,332
Repayment of interest element of lease liabilities EEME&EZFI S 2 (5,024) (5,589)
Repayment of principal element of lease liabilities EEREBE 2 A4 Lo (14,124) (13,382)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING MEXK (FR)MBREFHE
ACTIVITIES (19,148) 50,815
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE RERREZEY ORD)
IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS b ipc] (19,627) 52,176
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R-A-BNRERAEEED
AT 1 JANUARY 169,358 115,805
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEE % 8,075 1,377
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RTtZA=1t-HWERER
AT 31 DECEMBER, REeEEEN
represented by bank balances and cash ARTERERS 157,806 169,358

j'D‘J‘ »

Y
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=

GENERAL

Chuanglian Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information section to the annual
report.

The Company is principally engaged in investments
holding. The principal activities of its principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 41.

Other than those major operating subsidiaries
established in the People's Republic of China (the
“PRC") whose functional currency is Renminbi
("RMB"), the functional currency of the remaining
subsidiaries is Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

The functional currency of the Company is HKS$,
which is different from the presentation currency,
RMB. As the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
mainly operate in the PRC, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present
the consolidated financial statements in RMB.

1.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

TR _F+-_A=+—HLHFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)")
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the
first time, the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") which are
effective for the Group's financial year beginning
1 January 2022:

Amendments to Reference to the

HKFRS 3
Amendments to

HKFRS 16

Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent

Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

Amendments to
Hong Kong
Accounting Standard
("HKAS(s)") 16
Amendments to
HKAS 37

Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a

Contract
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020
cycle

Amendments to
HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

j')\( »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

ERAMIREETEEMBRE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRS(s)")

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including
the October 2020
and February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to

HKAS 1
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKFRS

Practice Statement 2
Amendments to

HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Lease Liability in a
Sale and Leaseback?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants?
Disclosure of Accounting
Policies'

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)")

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2024.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments and digital assets that
are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting
policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies are set out
below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities (including structured entities) controlled by
the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and
(iii) the ability to use its power over the investee to
affect the amount of the Group’s returns.

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it considers that is has
power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient
to give it power, including:

e  the size of the Company’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

J potential voting rights held by the Company,
other vote holders or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meeting.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of
control stated above.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary.

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted
for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i)
derecognises the assets (including any goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying
amounts at the date when control is lost and (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-
controlling interests in the former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost (including any components
of other comprehensive income attributable to
them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest, with any resulting
difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group.

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.

Assets acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price
is then allocated to the other identifiable assets and
liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at
the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not
give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Business combinations

Acquisition of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If,
after re-assessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Goodwill arising from a business combination is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units (or groups of cash-generating units) that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units)
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to
the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit (or groups of cash-generating units). Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

An associate is an entity over which the Group has BMEARBAEEHEAEATENE
significant influence. Significant influence is the RB-BAXEBEZ2HERTEREENTE
power to participate in the financial and operating KE R E’J%ﬁ BAZES HERE
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or il 38 L B3R

joint control of those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are accounted REERBEAANREXKAERER
for in the consolidated financial statements using REMBmEATIER - BFERE KB
the equity method. Under the equity method, ERANREVERNABR AEE S
investments in associates are initially recognised HHEARMNEBERREME2E KGN E
at cost. The Group's share of the profit or loss tRKERBESERNIBER R EM
and changes in the other comprehensive income PHEEF -MAEBDEHERRNE
of the associates are recognised in profit or loss BERSBaEREE A ARMER BF
and other comprehensive income respectively after AEmEEE MAEETEHAESIE
the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share of E@%&—?FJEETE°1%E$EI7¥KT/£E_JZT&
losses of associates equals or exceeds its interests EEAIRKRBEQRELAR E’J|

in the associates, which determined using the T A2 RENEERELEREBE
equity method, the Group discontinues recognising

its share of further losses. Additional losses are

provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to

the extent that the Group has incurred legal or

constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associates.

Investments in associates are accounted for using REEARIMBEEBWKREFTK A&
the equity method from the date on which the ARE BRERAEREYER-

investee becomes associates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The requirements of HKAS 36 are applied to
determine whether it is necessary to recognise
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s
interests in associates. When necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investments is tested for
impairment as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the net investments
subsequently increases.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at cost
less any identified impairment loss, if any.

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those
services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

. Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a service (or
a bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

J The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

J The Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

o The Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration from the
customer.

The Group recognised revenue from the following

Mmajor sources:

o Provision of online training and education
services

o Provision of educational consultancy services
o Provision of on-site training services
o Provision of financial services

Provision of online training and education services
and educational consultancy services

The Group’s online training and education services
and educational consultancy services are mainly
carried out in the PRC. The Group earns revenue
from online training and education services by
providing pre-recorded online course services to
customers during the service period for a fixed fee,
during which customers can access the pre-recorded
online courses at any time. The service period is
determined from the date of the activation till the
due date of the course as specified in course order.
Revenue from online training and education services
and educational consultancy services is recognised
over time as the customers simultaneously receive
and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to determine progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation of the pre-recorded online courses and
revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis during
the service period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Contract liabilities (continued)

Provision of on-site training services

The Group provides on-site training services to
institutional customers in the PRC and recognises
revenue at a point in time upon completion of
services.

Provision of financial services

Revenue from provision of insurance brokerage
services and investments advisory services are
recognised at a point in time when the relevant
insurance policy becomes effective in accordance
with the commission terms of the underlying
agreements entered into with insurance policy
issuers or when the investments advisory services
are provided.

Revenue from provision of finance leasing services
are included in the accounting policy in respect of
leasing below.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease, at inception of the contract.
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease
arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for
short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option).
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another
systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.

j,)q @ »

Y

176 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

aHaE(E)

HE BB 15 D IR
AEEBRPENBREREPIRHRASE
AR - UL A THI 72 AR AR 765 1O By [ B R o

FER T AR

AR LR MR BB E R A K
AERBRBBERRIFEREZTER
) BB R 2 (0 RN A AR B Bk
BEREAMRBEIRMEE T AR -

o

REREHERBWA CHARTXHE
SRS BER-

HEMESE
HeatRBERREMNGETE-—RERARA
ZHE BB EEERNERN BZA 08
HExB=HE-

AEEES/EEA

AEBRAONBEEHRFEENREE
HExBEaHE - AKREREFERAEA
MAMBHELHERERREERER
HEEBE BKEPEHSE(TEREHARAE
M EMEsfF +t —EAKUANTELESR
ERBEZERNBEE)N-RAEHEM
FOAREREMANEREEREEN
RBRER EWERS —RRIEEER
ERAREAEHEEEMELELENZN
By I AR 20 RIUBR 5P o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the
Group recognises and measures lease liability at
the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise:

J fixed lease payments (including in-substance
fixed payments);

J the exercise price of purchase options if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the
options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability (using the effective interest
method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFHE

The Group as lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial
measurement of the corresponding lease
liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. They are depreciated over the
shorter period of lease term and useful life of the
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a
right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any
identified impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a
lessor with respect to equipment. Leases for which
the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease
income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group's net investment outstanding in respect of
the leases. Finance lease income is recognised and
included in revenue.

Plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of items of plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss.

Digital assets are held mainly for the purposes of
trading.

Digital assets are held in the Group’s digital asset
wallets and are prefunded. Since the Group actively
trades digital assets, purchasing them with a view
to their resale in the near future, and generating
a profit from fluctuations in the price, the Group
applies the guidance in HKAS 2 for commodity
broker-traders and measures the digital assets at
fair value less costs of disposal. The Group considers
there are no significant “costs of disposal” digital
assets and hence measurement of digital assets
is based on their fair values with changes in fair
values recognised in profit or loss in the period of
the changes.

j,)q @ »

Y

180 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3.

EXERTBER

—ERE R RENHERSHEEEER
ZEERMIASELAEMNARKEENS
AR IEHER -MELREER ZHEXH
BEELANEMAKRENERDIRZEEDN
HEMBFRARKREEBNERTE
WHRBEPHER -

BFEEHEASENBFEEEBRTRH
B YRENEE-ARAKEREGRESR
BFEE BEHFEERBKRETAN
KRB E - LA KR B8R B o BREAE -
A AEEERELSGTENFE2RYR
ML ZPEMES  BARBERELE
KRAFEBFEE - AKERSBELM
EANBFEEIHERAK] Bt #F
BEDVREAAEFE IRXEIAEER
BREHHEEANEE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries in
the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for that services.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-
term employee benefits are measured at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHZE=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
‘profit before tax’ as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets
and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at
initial recognition due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date
of remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research
and development expenditure

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised if,
and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

e the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it;

e  the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

o how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Internally-generated intangible assets — research

and development expenditure (continued)

e the availability of adequate technical,
financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible
asset; and

J the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-
generated intangible asset is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the
intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible asset is reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible
assets acquired separately.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and
are initially recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives acquired in a business
combination are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is
carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
bank balances and cash comprise cash (i.e. cash on
hand) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
short-term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather for
investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents, as defined above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of
the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"), and fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Financial assets (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently
at amortised cost if both of the following conditions
are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment.

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) excluding expected credit losses,
through the expected life of the debt instrument,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

(continued)

(i)  Amortised cost and effective interest method
(continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount

at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial
assets, interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and
is included in the "other income, net gains and
losses” line item (note 9).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC!

On initial recognition, the Group may make
an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in
equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is
held for trading or if it is contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the
equity investments, instead, they will be transferred
to accumulated losses.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL. Specifically, debt instruments
that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or
the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL. In
addition, debt instruments that meet either the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities
or recognising the gains and losses on them on
different bases. The Group has not designated any
debt instruments as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with
any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss to the extent they are not part of
a designated hedging relationship. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other income, net gains and
losses” line item (note 9). Fair value is determined
in the manner described in note 6(c).

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECL") on investments in
debt instruments that are measured at amortised
cost and finance lease receivables. The amount of
expected credit losses is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For finance lease receivables and all other financial
instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries
in which the Group's debtors operate as well as
consideration of various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

J an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

J an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

e  significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset
has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in
accordance with globally understood definition or if
an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means
that the counterparty has a strong financial position
and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXEFHE

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

. when there is a breach of financial covenants
by the debtor; or

o information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset and finance lease receivables are more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

j'D‘J‘ »

1 96 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED  ANNUAL REPORT 2022

MBEENRBERERESURE (&)

E R E F
AEBRRBATERRAREERRE
BEENMEBRENEMH BREERER
&R A AT E A — IR R 1 ) 8 KR
— R EE YO

s EMAERMBRE: X

o ABELNERB IR E R
TP EHATKAEAEEA (B
EAKE)2BENR(TEEAEHE
FANEMERR)

Tim R AT anf] - REBR A E %
BENMBENE BRI MEBIORR
BERLEEYN BRIEAKEEEERARE
BEHNEANEARRERNENREE RE
FRIE Bl o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets and finance lease
receivable

Financial asset and finance lease receivables are
credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset and finance lease receivables
are credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

EXERTBER

MBEENRBEREREFURE (&)
FERENFEEERBEMEEKZ

HWEE-—HAXZHAEUHFEELREMR
ERERZ B RKBEESREELETH
TEZENR RYBEEMBEMER
WHREHREERE - MBEELREMR
ERUBAFEERENZEEENATEMNF
HY AT R R B

o BITARBRALBREAMIBEE:

s ERAH WEANBHISF:

o mREMERAR BN MR HE
32:.?’])?! ERANERAC AE
RTARTERARKTEEENR
EHZE

o [ERAURKESETHEHMAMEE
%ﬁyj
e MRYBREMEMBEE LR

WENEE

Y 1
e

gl ER AR FR2022 197



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off financial asset and finance
lease receivables when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade
receivables, when the amounts are over 12 months
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
and finance lease receivables written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a
function of the probability of default, loss given
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is
estimated as the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate. For a lease receivable, the
cash flows used for determining the expected credit
losses is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of financial assets and finance lease
receivables (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures
the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss. In addition, on derecognition of an investment
in equity instrument which the Group has elected
on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investment revaluation reserve is not reclassified
to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated
as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the
amortised cost of a financial liability.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHZE=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees under share
option scheme and share incentive scheme

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period or recognised as an expense
in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share
options are forfeited or cancelled after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will continue to be held in share options
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Share options issued in exchange for services are
measured at the fair values of the services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options
granted. The fair values of the services received
are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the
counterparties render services, unless the services
qualify for recognition as assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating
units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-
generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EXSTHEE

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
the cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

When measuring fair value except for the
Group's share-based payment transactions,
leasing transactions and value-in-use of plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and goodwill for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the
characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly
or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
determines whether transfer occur between levels
of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities
which are measured at fair value on recurring
basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 3, the
directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses
reported and disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The followings are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below), that
the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

De facto control over subsidiaries

Notwithstanding the lack of equity ownership in
It RAIBH B EEFR AR (Beijing Chuanglian
Education Investment Company Limited*)
("Chuanglian Education”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as “Chuanglian
Education Group”), the Group is able to exercise
control over Chuanglian Education Group through
the contractual arrangements.

*  For identification purposes only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

De facto control over subsidiaries (continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether
or not the Group has control over Chuanglian
Education Group based on whether the Group has
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of Chuanglian Education Group unilaterally. In
making their judgement, the directors of the
Company considered the Group's rights through the
contractual arrangements. After assessment, the
directors of the Company concluded that the Group
has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct
the relevant activities of Chuanglian Education
Group and therefore the Group has control over
Chuanglian Education Group.

Judgements in determining the timing of
satisfaction of performance obligations

The recognition of each of the Group's revenue
streams requires judgement by the directors of the
Company in determining the timing of satisfaction
of performance obligations.

In making their judgement, the directors of the
Company considered the detailed criteria for
recognition of revenue set out in HKFRS 15 and in
particular, whether the Group has satisfied all the
performance obligations over time or at a point
in time with reference to the detailed terms of
transaction as stipulated in the contracts entered
into with its customers.

For online training and education services and
educational consultancy services, the directors of
the Company have determined that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group's performance as the Group
performs. Therefore, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that the performance obligation is
satisfied over time and recognised the revenue over
the service period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Determination of the lease term

In determining the lease term, management
evaluates the likelihood of exercising the extension
option/termination option by considering all facts
and circumstances that create economic incentive
to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise
a termination option. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated).

Management has considered the relevant factors
including (i) any significant penalties to terminate
(or not extend), (ii) any leasehold improvements
expected to have a significant remaining value and
(iii) the costs and business disruption required to
replace the leased asset.

Any changes in the lease term will affect the
amount of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets to
be recognised in future years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Accounting of digital assets transactions and
balances

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for
digital assets. Accordingly, for the preparation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
management needs to apply judgement in
determining appropriate accounting policies based
on the facts and circumstances associated with the
Group's digital assets. Given the business model
of the Group, digital assets are measured at fair
value less costs of disposal on the consolidated
statement of financial position. Furthermore, in
determining fair values, management needs to
apply judgement to identify the relevant available
markets, and to consider accessibility to and activity
within those markets in order to identify the
principal digital asset markets for the Group. As at
31 December 2022, the carrying amount of digital
assets was approximately RMB18,991,000 (2021:
RMB12,055,000).

The followings are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimation of useful life of insurance brokerage
licence

The insurance brokerage licence has a legal life of
3 years but is renewable every 3 years at minimal
cost. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group will renew the licence
continuously and has the ability to do so. The
licence is thus considered by the management of
the Group to have an indefinite life because it is
expected to contribute to net cash inflows and will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite. Instead, it will be tested for impairment
annually and whenever there is an indication that
they may be impaired. As at 31 December 2022,
the carrying amount of the insurance brokerage
licence was approximately RMB10,000,000 (2021:
RMB10,000,000).

Depreciation of plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets and amortisation of intangible assets
Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives or lease term, and if
applicable, taking into account their estimated
residual values, while intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
determination of the useful lives, lease term for
leases that include extension/termination options
exercisable by the Group and residual values involve
management’s estimation. The Group assesses the
useful lives, lease term and residual values of plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives at the end of each
reporting period. If the expectation differs from the
original estimates, such a difference may impact the
depreciation and amortisation in the year and the
estimate will be changed in the future period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets

Plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The future cash flow is estimated based on
past performance and expectation for market
development. As the current environment is
uncertain, the estimated cash flows and discount
rate are subject to higher degree of estimation
uncertainty. Changing the assumptions and
estimates, including the sales growth rates, costs,
gross margin and discount rate employed in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

4,

EESTHAHRERAMGT TEE
Ed: Ve

WEMRE CREEEMNELEENMG
sHRE

BELERE ERAREENABRENE
RESRNELEEDNRRANBRFITE
KBE(WMA)IE REETEERDR
B AEBEAFELAERES LEZ
Al (DEEARANREFEEEEENSE
HHEHBREAEEIR: QEERBEER
BREA AT B SR Hs - B REAER
AIRREREEREEMRAFTHORR
BenERFRE: MO)EeHATURE 25
FTANGEEIZRR (BERATRERAA
REBHOIRE) o W EX MG EREE
A O 588 NERE e AR EEMB
ReELBEUMA e

EETHEAERFH2BILEEED
BFEALRRBRENREETRERD -

AXREREDNENBERALHSH
RIAEETTEE - AR E ATRE A A EAEA -
HFARERENUBAXRZIRAREN
THEEREZE ERBRE LG (B
RenEFRAPAANHEEERE KA
EMNERBRR)SAGHATREEEES
BATE-

# )
BB AR AT F3%202 211



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets (continued)
As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts
of plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets were approximately
RMB50,011,000, RMB71,371,000 and
RMB55,614,000 (2021: RMB49,809,000,
RMB81,972,000 and RMB50,271,000) respectively.
No impairment loss was recognised during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. Details of the
impairment of intangible assets are disclosed in
note 19.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires
an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the cash-generating unit and an
appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. The future cash flow is estimated
based on past performance and expectation for
market development. As the current environment
is uncertain, the estimated cash flows and discount
rate are subject to higher degree of estimation
uncertainty. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
goodwill was approximately RMB38,290,000 (2021:
RMB38,290,000), net of accumulated impairment
loss of approximately RMB343,501,000 (2021:
RMB343,501,000). Details of the assumptions used
are disclosed in note 20.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimated impairment of trade and other receivables
The impairment for trade and other receivables
is based on assumptions about ECL. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking information
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in
these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be
necessary to make additional impairment charge
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts
of trade and other receivables were approximately
RMB16,018,000 and RMB46,621,000 (2021:
RMB5,684,000 and RMB37,840,000) respectively,
net of accumulated impairment loss of
approximately RMB1,542,000 and RMB3,818,000
(2021: RMB1,057,000 and RMB2,400,000)
respectively.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Fair value measurement and valuation process of
financial assets at FVTOCI

In estimating the fair value of the investments
in unlisted equity securities classified as financial
assets at FVTOCI, the directors of the Company with
the assistance of independent professional valuer
use their judgements in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique and unobservable inputs for
unlisted equity investments.

As at 31 December 2022, the fair value of
financial assets at FVTOCI was approximately
RMB53,200,000 (2021: RMB56,821,000). The
directors of the Company believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are
appropriate in determining the fair value of these
investments. Details of the assumptions used are
disclosed in note 6(c).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
entities in the Group will be able to continue as
a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on the recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through new share issues
and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new
debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. MEITH
2022 2021
—s-= —EZ—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARBTFIT
Financial assets MBEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEN AT ERN
HBEE 229,985 223,031
Financial assets at FVTOCI BARBEFAEMEE
W Bt 15 & & 53,200 56,821
Financial asset at FVTPL BAREFABERD
B A E 3,011 2,260
Financial liabilities MKkaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  ## $55k Nz £ &Y
AR 30,558 43,654

The Group's major financial instruments
include financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
asset at FVTPL, loan and interest receivables,
term deposits, trade and other receivables,
bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables and amount due to a shareholder.
Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. BIITH
Market risk ™5 &k
(i)  Currency risk (i) EBEERE
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, RNRZB - —FR T —£F
no transaction was denominated in +=—A=+—8" I?HX%J«X

j')\( »

currencies other than the respective
functional currencies of the relevant
group entities, RMB or HKS,
except for financial asset at FVTPL are
denominated in foreign currencies.
The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging the
potential foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

i.e.

The carrying amounts of the Group's
foreign currency denominated monetary
assets at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

HEASEEERE A 2 E]
(BIARBESEITL) NI ZEE
SIME - EARBERRIAERA
BRI BEETAIMESIE -
$;‘%l1#&%ﬂm9h’ﬁ¥ﬁx¢ﬂﬁﬁ
HEEEgERIERR
HQTEAﬁEEH?%%iTFPT =
) SN [ g o

REBRBEARNINETIE
ZEWEEZREENT:

Assets
BE
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%F T ARETTT
United States Dollar (“USD") &7t ([%Ex]) 3,011 2,260
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to USD. No AEEXZHBETHEER

sensitivity analysis is presented for the
exposure to USD as HK$ is pegged to
USD while HK$ is the functional currency
of the group entity holding the foreign
currency denominated assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
finance lease receivables (note 23), loan
and interest receivables (note 24) and
term deposits (note 27).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 27).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of RMB benchmark interest rate and RMB
base deposit rate arising from the Group’s
RMB denominated bank balances.

The Group does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the
management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging the
potential interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

The risk in response to change in interest
rate is insignificant and therefore
sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk is
not presented.

e IR R MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking into account any collateral held or
other credit enhancements, which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade and other receivables, loan and interest
receivables, finance lease receivables, term
deposits and bank balances.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL collectively by using a
provision matrix, estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group'’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

j,)q @ »

Y

218 CHUANGLIAN HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

6. BT H

=E Rk
EERBERAEBERSGHFIAENT
ERNEEMEBRASEELEYB
EEMNER - R_T-__F+_-A
=+—B AEERHEFHRERT
H & M & B & B B 7% g5 18 i &
XHEmEmEERR (Rt RFENGE
AEFmIEMERER) EEBL
BB AKTY & IEE BRI B
BEEMKREE-

AEENEERREERBE S R
H WA BUE KR FIE - B
EHERUF EHFRRETE
ﬁ%o

SAREEREEERR AREEEE
ZRk—ENMEEEEEERE #
REERMETHMEERRF A
REREBBAMBEBHNETFE -

REZREERMS AEECEMA
FEMBHRE LR BRI R
AEFEHBRNEERRNERR
B AEEEREAREBEIEES
BEBANEBALERMETEN
— RRAGFE R 5L BT 7 BT B R 4 b e A
ERBMEEBRE M E AR F
EERRARENEERRDEE
AR



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit risk (continued)

For finance lease receivables and other
non-trade related receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. The Group considers that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of
these amounts since initial recognition and
the Group provided impairment based on
12-month ECL.

Management considered finance lease
receivables and loan and interest receivables
to be low credit risk and thus the impairment
provision recognised during the year was
limited to 12-month ECL.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in the PRC, which
accounted for 96% (2021: 100%) of the total
trade receivables as at 31 December 2022.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
as nil (2021: 21%) and 1% (2021: 28%) of
the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively and they are within
educational consultancy and online training
and education segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. BMIBIA

Credit risk (continued) =ERR (&)
The Group’s current credit risk grading $%@IETTW1§§@Kﬁ§$§&$E%@

framework comprises the following categories: AT A -
Basis for

Category Description recognising ECL
BRAAHEESFEN

5l fut HE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL
default or has not been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition and
that are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 1)

B %) RENRRKBNTHEIBAREERR KA 12A R e B E E B8
RNigigm BEE|EERENTREE (B
E—RE)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL -
significant increase in credit risk since initial not credit
recognition but that are not credit impaired impaired
(refer to as Stage 2)

7 &t B ¥R AREERR KRS INEREER >HEREEEE -
ENTREE (BE_BER) BEERE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL —
when one or more events that have a credit impaired
detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer
to as Stage 3)

R0 %*%*E—Iﬁjzyﬁ%@%ié@iéféﬂ‘ﬂfﬁéﬁi% THEREEEE -

RenBELETNTER ZoMEER EEERIE
EREERE (BE=RKEKR)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is Amount is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group written off
has no realistic prospect of recovery

A ERBERESAREVHREEE URAKAEEH TRIE 2 1% 3

j'D‘J‘ »

Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. BMIBIA

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of
the Group’s financial assets and finance lease
receivables, as well as the Group's maximum
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating
grades.

EERR (&)
TERFANAEEAZVBEERR
BEHERKZNEELR URAK
BEiZEERRIREASNERNEE
[ o

2022 2021
—E-CE “E--F
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal credit carrying Loss carrying qarning carying
rating 12-month or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount amount  Loss allowance amount
RIEETR NEAIEERRAEEEE REAE sk RERE RESE BERA BEFE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) 17,560 (1,542) 16,018 6,741 (1,057) 5,684
BHRAEN (i3 FEERBEEEA (Bl ps)
Other receivables Performing ~ 12-month ECL 50,439 (3,818) 46,621 40,240 (2,400) 37,840
Bt YR B NEABHEESE
Loan and interest Performing ~ 12-month ECL
receivables 4,510 - 4510 5,149 - 5,149
EUEFRTE B NEABHEESSE
Finance lease receivables  Performing ~ 12-month ECL - - - 38,717 - 38,717
RERSEAT B NEABHEESE
Term deposits Performing ~ 12-month ECL 5,030 - 5,030 5,000 - 5,000
THER B4 NEABHEESSE
Bank balances Performing ~ 12-month ECL 157,535 - 157,535 169,276 - 169,276
it & NEARHEESE
235,074 (5,360) 229,714 265,123 (3,457) 261,666
Note: For trade receivables, the Group has applied the Mex: MEBEHIEKERME AKECEER

simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets at FVTPL and financial assets at FVTOCI
as disclosed in note 21 best represents their
respective maximum exposure to credit risk.
The Group holds no collateral over any of
these balances.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. Individual operating
entities within the Group are responsible for
their own cash management, including the
short-term investment of cash surpluses and
the raising of loans to cover expected cash
demands if necessary, subject to approval
by the directors of the Company when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined
levels of authority.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's
contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities is within one year from the
end of the reporting period.

The following table details the Group’s

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
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mBE T R
REBRRDECRRE AEESE
KRR AR EEVEFTNE
BERRFRZKF  ABENAREH
ZEBNRERERERDZHE -
AEEBRTERLEERAEATN
AeEl ERACESNEHKRE
MEEEREMNEHRS TR (MH
BE) BEEEBBETELEE
MRERKF B ARG ARRESL
fE o

RZEBE-_—_FR-_ZFT-—F+=-H
—t+t—H TEEETEMBFEES
B RE BRI —FRENH -

TRFVNAEBEHER BN MG

maturity analysis for its lease liabilities. ST o
On demand Total
or less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 110 2 years 2t05years  5to10years  Over 10 years cash flows amount
BB AR
1L 122F 2255 52106 0FUE  RenesE FafE
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETR AREFT ARETT ARETR AREFT ARETT
At 31 December 2022 RZB-Zf+tZf=t-H
Lease liabilities HEEE 16,449 12,39 33,758 47,922 4,734 115,259 90,753
At 31 December 2021 RZF--F+-A=+-H
Lease liabilities BERE 19,203 12,137 32,309 49,832 14,034 127,515 100,058
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6.

(c) Fair value measurements recognised
in the consolidated statement of
financial position
The following table provides an analysis of
financial instruments and other assets that
are measured at fair value at the end of each

B THE @
() REEUMBRRAREBEIZNAIAN

E 2

TREHVBTAREMBEE (R
AEEBSHBRALELTERS
HERKNRARENE WEIR

reporting period for recurring measurement, BRBEENEEIRE—REE=
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the ) AT
degree to which the fair value is observable in
accordance to the Group’s accounting policy.
2022
—E-CF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-R FZR E=R #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARET R AR®T T ARET T ARBTT
Other assets at fair value BAnBEHENAMEE
Digital assets YTEE 4,369 14,622 = 18,991
Financial asset at FVTPL BORBEHABRNVEEE
Unlisted fund investment FETREERE - - 3,011 3,011
Financial assets at FVTOCI BonBE AR 2ENS
METBEE
Unlisted equity investments FEmEEERE - - 53,200 53,200
2021
“E-—F
Level 1 Level 3 Total
F—1R =/ B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTL ARBETT ARBETT
Other assets at fair value BRRBHENEMEE
Digital assets YTEE 12,055 - 12,055
Financial asset at FVTPL BRARBHABRNUBEEE
Unlisted fund investment FEMESRE - 2,260 2,260
Financial assets at FVTOC| BROpBEARMRERR
B s & B
Unlisted equity investments FEmERMERE - 56,821 56,821

There were no transfers between levels 1 and
2 of fair value hierarchy in the current and

prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. HHIA
(c) Fair value measurements recognised () R&ZE JI?VH# MREIZNWAR
in the consolidated statement of Bt & (&)
financial position (continued)
Reconciliation of recurring fair value NERVBEERF=RANNKLEML
measurements categorised within Level 3 of AREFENEE:
the financial assets:
Unlisted Unlisted
fund equity
investment  investments
JE LT e
EeKRE HEaUrE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®BTT
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—H—H 1,585 53,400
Total gains: Wk B 58
—in profit or loss —RiEm 675 -
- in other comprehensive income —REMEERE - 3,421
As at 31 December 2021 and RZT——F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HBk
:?::E—H_E 2,260 56,821
Total gains (losses): W (E18) 8%
— in profit or loss —RiEm 523 -
— in other comprehensive income —REMEEmKE - (2,200)
Deregistration of FVTOCI IR AR EET A EAM
FHEKE - (1,421)
Exchange realignment bE b & 228 -
As at 31 December 2022 JrAp= Sl
+ZA=+—H 3,011 53,200

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3
of fair value hierarchy during both reporting

periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The gains of approximately RMB523,000
(2021: RMB675,000) recognised in profit or
loss is attributable to the change in unrealised
gains relating to financial assets held at the
end of the reporting period.

For the year ended 31 December 2022,
included in the above total gains or losses is
an amount of approximately RMB2,200,000
loss (2021: RMB3,421,000 gain) relating to
unlisted equity investment designated at
FVTOCI held at the end of the year.

6. BT H

REaRTPBEROREZNARE
523,00075(_%@:—¢ AR
675,000) YRR EHRIFTAE
W EEMRBHRER LS

P B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. BMBEIA @
(c) Fair value measurements recognised () RGZEMBRAREBEINVAN
in the consolidated statement of EFt & (&)
financial position (continued)
Fair value of financial assets and other assets REEMEELNRARBEFEZHE
that are measured at fair value on a recurring BEEREMEENARE
basis
The valuation techniques and inputs used in BEREUHEENSM B TAREAM
the fair value measurements of each financial BEMAAEFEMAZHERE
instrument and other assets on a recurring R ABEFHIWT
basis are set out below:
Financial Fair values as at Relationship of key inputs
instruments and ~ Fair value DRfER Valuation technique and Significant and significant unobservable
other asset hierarchy key inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
HHIAR D 2022 2001 EEHER BERAFIEER Range BREANBBANLEEXR
EtEE £8 SEIZE SR BRBARE AABR il TUREGABENEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TRT  ARETR
Digital assets Level 1 4,369 12,055  Quoted price provided by N/A N/A N/A
HTEE -1 digital markets that are 7N TER TER
considered as active markets
BEBERTSNUTTS
REZHRE
Level 2 14,622 - Quoted price provided by N/A N/A N/A
£/ digital markets that are TR TER TER
considered as active markets
BRBERTENUTTS
REZRE
Unlisted fund Level 3 3,01 2,260  Fair value of underlying Underlying assets N/A The higher the value of the
investment E=8 assets in the fund in the fund TR underlying assets,
FLEERE EeREEEND R HeRHEE the higher the fair value
HEEENERRR:
MERE
Unlisted equity Level 3 53,000 55,000 Market approach by Multiples of comparable 0.36 to 9.60 The higher the multiples/
investments =4 applying market multiples companies; (2021: 0.40 t0 10.02) the lower the marketability
FLmERERE from comparable MELBAAZESE:  03629.60 discount, the higher the
companies and adjusted by Marketability discount (Z%5=—%: fair value
marketability discount mHREETE 0.40%10.02) BHAR/ MERALE
IS ERAAELRARZ 25% (2021: 25%) fERE RAEAS
TEEH LRTERE 25% (ZF=—%:25%)
HTRELEE
Level 3 200 1,821 Asset-based approach Marketability discount ~ 25% (2021: 25%) The lower the marketability
FZR adjusted by s ETE 25% (ZFZ—%:25%) discount, the higher the
marketability discount fair value
BEE URmERBL THERALTERE
B ek MERE

=

rs "]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value of financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

For the unlisted equity investments, if the
multiples of comparable companies to the
valuation model were 5% higher/lower while
all the other variables were held constant,
the carrying amount would increase/decrease
by approximately RMB2,686,000 (2021:
RMB2,000,000). If the marketability discount
to the valuation model was 5% higher/
lower while all the other variables were held
constant, the carrying amount would decrease/
increase by approximately RMB4,150,000

6. BT H

RIEEMEEENR A
BEMARE(E)
HIELTRZIEREM S WEE
BRI ZAIE B AR ZE&E M
ﬁw\s% mMAABEMEBEEHETT
g BREEAEN B HARE
26860007E(_ Z—F AR
2,000,0007T ) ° il EER 2 57
B EEN, R ADS5% mATAE
thESHEETTE FEEESRLD
& AR ®4,150,000T (ZZE = —
& AR#¥3,755,0007T) °

SHEZ A

(2021: RMB3,755,000).
7. REVENUE 7. WA
Revenue represents the net amounts received and W AFERTIRERGH D I & EWRRIEF
receivable for services rendered net of sales related HF(HBEERERE) AEENENRN
taxes. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Mg A ST
year is as follows:
2022 2021
—Eg=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®ETTT
Revenue from contracts with ERUBREER
customers within the scope FISHEEARNZ
of HKFRS 15 EFEHWA
Disaggregated by major services lines BREERBRE S
Online training and education services W R B RS 180,372 216,154
On-site training services 3835 1% 5| iR 7% 9,633 12,340
Educational consultancy services HEBRRG 16,221 14,816
Financial services & B AR 7% 98,007 30,366
304,233 273,676
Revenue from other source 2R B H b 2R By WA
Finance leasing services (note i) BMEME RS (M) 21,387 6,576
325,620 280,252

Note i

Subsequent to the disposal of Leading Fortune Global
Group Limited as disclosed in note 37, the Group is no
longer engaged in provision of finance leasing services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

7. REVENUE (continued) 7.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers by timing of recognition

LONE )
RBEIAFEEIFEFSHOWA

2022 2021
—_E_— —ETZ—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETRT ARBTT

Timing of revenue recognition L ON A3
At a point of time R — (B R 2 107,640 42,706
Over time W& 2= By [ 196,593 230,970
Total revenue from contracts HEEFALHRIMA

with customers 304,233 273,676

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations

The educational consultancy and online training
and education service contracts are with an original
expected duration of one year or less. Accordingly,
the Group has elected the practical expedient and
has not disclosed the amount of transaction price
allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of the end of
the reporting period.

jo 4

= 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
maker, for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses
on types of services provided. The directors of
the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in services. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as
follows:

1. Securities trading — trading of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss;

2. Educational consultancy and online training
and education - provision of educational
consultancy services and online training
and education services and on-site training
services; and

3.  Financial services — provision of insurance
brokerage services, money lending services,
investments advisory service and finance
leasing services.

8.

2 EE R

MARFAATES (NETBLERKE)
REBRDELFZDBRAMBE 2 &
BEFRAEHRZIREER - ARBES
EEREAAKERBN IR ZE T2
RERREMENKEDHALEREL
R AR B ey Al s 0 G E AR -

BEEMmMs AREZ2Hmo AT
1. BREE-HERQAAEFARR

M EE

2. HEFRAULRBEEBINEAE R
HBBEHZ ARG RBEZIRBE
AR#% KRB IR K

3. SRRB-EHARBRELRS  HE
R% REBERRSELEEHEER
i‘%o
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e
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. DIER (@)
Segment revenue and results TEBMAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue REBRELENEE 5 2 REBEH WA
and results by reportable and operating segments. REZHDITAT o

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_T-__F+-A=t—HLHFE

Educational
consultancy
and online
Securities  training and Financial
trading education services Total
BEHH
PR B 43
EHEE ANAMHE SRR At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTR AR%Tn AR®Txn

REVENUE L/ON

External sales SMEBH & - 206,226 119,394 325,620
Segment profit Nt - 37,371 2,823 40,194
Unallocated other income, net gains &5 B E MU - UezE

and losses RERFE (3.429)
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBERAFHZ (15,403)
Profit before tax B 25 B4 7 21,362

= -4
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. ZHEH
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE-_—-F+=-A=+—HLHFE
Educational
consultancy
and online
Securities training and Financial
trading education services Total
YA R
AT 448 45
BHEE ElENE S 2RRT Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT AREF T AREF T
REVENUE WA
External sales SMEBH & - 243,310 36,942 280,252
Segment profit 5 b3 ¥l - 54,392 1,200 55,592
Unallocated other income, net gains &% B E U - Ue
and losses REBFE 1,417
Unallocated corporate expenses AOBEARIHZ (14,244)
Profit before tax B 754 B4 7 42,765

The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment profit represents the
profit earned by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs, directors’ emoluments,
certain other income, gains and losses, depreciation
of certain plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets, loss on disposal of plant and equipment
and certain finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.

REDHBARAZ T RRERNEER
B FE3PT A 2 & FT BUR — e 0 B0 M 4
&0 BT IRENZ i A - X B ) BL AR R 1T
BRAX EFMe ETHMAKRA KE
BB ETHEEREAREREEE
FE HERELREBERNIE THHK
Ko REBTARANTES (I E
RERREBIERERDEMNFZRRAZ
FHERE

Y 4
#
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other than certain plant and equipment,
certain right-of-use assets, certain intangible
assets, financial asset at FVTPL, financial assets
at FVTOCI, deposit paid for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment, term deposits,
bank balances and cash and certain other

receivables; and

7)* 5
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. T HPEH
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets RAZEREEEDHE D 2 AEBREE
and liabilities by reportable and operating segment: RBESNWOT:
2022 2021
—=E-= —E -5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARET T
Segment assets PHEE
Securities trading BHEE - -
Educational consultancy and HEBHRAAR
online training and education WA EIMEE 231,348 253,136
Financial services & B AR 75 81,385 62,162
Total segment assets DEBEERRTR 312,733 315,298
Unallocated corporate assets ROMABEE 242,964 255,062
Consolidated assets EBE 555,697 570,360
Segment liabilities DEEE
Securities trading BHEE - -
Educational consultancy and BEBHAUR
online training and education WEEEIFHE 128,830 155,456
Financial services & B AR & 10,744 13,916
Total segment liabilities NEBEERE 139,574 169,372
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOoBRAFIEE 25,571 29,735
Consolidated liabilities mealE 165,145 199,107
For the purposes of monitoring segment REBRSBEBRNRDBZEADEEIR
performance and allocating resources between
segments:
e all assets are allocated to operating segments e BRETHRELAXRE ETEARE

E-HTEVEE RAAEFTAR
SNMBEE RAREFARME
mRENMBEE KBDE BE

RECHORE  EHBFR R
R R RS A KA T B A IR
S RBEEEB DR TRENH: K&
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. oIER (@)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) THEEREE (&)

e all liabilities are allocated to operating e KRETHMENERER ETHESA
segments other than certain other payables, B BN —BRREKIE ENAER
certain lease liabilities, amount due to a MBEERIEE &N B AaEHEDE
shareholder, income tax payable and deferred THREDER -
tax liabilities.

Other segment information H fth 5 5 & #l

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLHFE

Educational

consultancy

and online

Securities  training and Financial

trading education services  Unallocated Total

LEZAL

RBHE
BHEE N#E SRRE KR @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETR ARETR  AR%Tx

Amounts included in the measure B A ESBEFS
of segment profit or segment assets: AHEEBR:

Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRDEE (M) - 29,172 3,918 21,002 54,092

Depreciation and amortisation TEREHR - 35,294 1,101 1,692 38,087

Impairment losses on financial assets HBEEREER - 1,097 806 - 1,903

Share of results of associates AMEBELAER - 180 - - 180

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment HERREREERR - - - 287 287

Write-off of plant and equipment WHBE k&G - 70 - - 70

Loss on disposals of subsidiaries HENBLARAER - - 14,486 - 14,486

Finance costs BIBRA - 4,895 110 19 5,024

Interest income FISHA - - (533) (2,159) (2,692)

Interests in associates REEARANER - 5,471 - - 5,471

Amounts regularly provided to the chief THRFELEREE

operating decision maker but not included REERAGE
in the measure of segment profit or AR
segment assets: PHEELEE:
Income tax expense FEmAX - 6,223 4,255 - 10,478
N
A

ﬁ' 4
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8.

T-—_F+=H8

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8.

Other segment information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

ST—HLEFE
DEER (#)

Hitbn SHEF (80
ﬁé—g——$+—ﬁz+—ﬁiﬁﬁ

Educational
consultancy
and online
Securities  training and Financial
trading education services Unallocated Total
HEBAIR
AsEdn
E5EE HE ERRE Kol @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETR AREFT ARETR
Amounts included in the measure B A ENHRTRABEEL
of segment profit or segment assets: 8-
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRHEE (W) - 16,207 36,896 147 53,250
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH - 29,685 3 2,525 32,532
Impairment losses on financial assets HHBEERERR - 1,000 - - 1,000
Share of results of associates PMEBE R AEE - 303 - - 303
Write-off of plant and equipment WRBERERE - 275 - - 275
Finance costs B - 5,138 12 1,150 6,300
Interest income MEKA - (243) (1,151) (1,394)
Interests in associates REE DA ER - 5,657 - - 5,657
Amounts reqularly provided to THRNTEEEREE
the chief operating decision maker REERGAGE
but not included in the measure of AHRFASBEELGE:
segment profit or segment assets:
Income tax expense FEREY - 10,772 1,976 - 12,748
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. M FERBEETBRIEMBIA

L.[Dnyﬂ 3
o

/l: 4

L+ |
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. #oEEHR (@)
Geographical information i EE R
The Group's operations are located in the PRC and AEBENEEMRPERES-
Hong Kong.

AEBEZMEFEZRMBRABEKEH
BEER ABEAKEKEIIBEF K
AZEMREENERY  -ARAKEF
MBEEZERZEENBULERY-

All of the Group’s revenue is arising from the PRC
and Hong Kong for both years. Information about
the Group's revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets
is presented based on the geographical location of

the assets.
Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REINEEFHIUA FERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
=B —E-—%F —=E=-= —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T AR%T T ARET T
PRC aE 321,959 278,240 237,443 225,042
Hong Kong B 3,661 2,012 4,299 4,157
325,620 280,252 241,742 229,199
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments. M SERBEETREMH IR
Information about major customers ERTXEEZEFNER
No revenue from customers contributing over 10% MEFESERP W ARRRNSE BB
of the total revenue of the Group for both years. AHBI10% °
LN
b o
V- 4
ﬁhﬂi
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9.

E_E-_—E+-R=+—HIEE

OTHER INCOME, NET GAINS AND 9. HtWA KR=EREEFE
LOSSES
2022 2021
—E-= —=E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®BT
Compensation income (note a) HEBA (HEa) 23,660 15,208
Government grants (note b) AT 8 8L (B aEb ) 365 -
Value-added tax refunded EETR 1,044 1,107
Interest income from loan receivables FE U E SR F E WA 533 243
Bank interest income SRITHBULA 2,159 1,151
Penalty income 1R BA - 500
Fair value gain on financial asset at FVTPL & A A E&F A
HBEENRRERR 523 675
Change in fair value in digital assets HTFEEZLAAEEZS
(note ¢) (Mt5Ec) (6,777) 128
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE— BB A AR - 150
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary BB ARMER - (142)
Others H 451 1,202
21,958 20,222

Notes:

GEE

(a)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
leased training center was temporarily used for non-
training business and received a compensation of
approximately RMB23,660,000 (2021: RMB15,208,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised government grants of approximately
RMB365,000 (2021: nil) in respect of COVID-19-related
subsidies which related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region under the Anti-Epidemic Fund.
There are no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies
related to receipts of these grants.

Included in the amount was net realised loss of
approximately RMB171,000 (2021: net realised gain of
RMB105,000).

D)
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(b)

REBE_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—HILEFE XK
SENBEEFI RO EEAEEFIES
A# - WHRE T H ARM23,660,000T (=F
——%: AR¥15,208,00070) W ES -

REBE_T-_—_F+-A=+—HIEFE &
SEBRREFEERNITHRE BB RERZR
T ESRENRMEFE TS X A20197 ik
7 55 R A8 B 48 b 2 BUT # BE 40 A R #6365,000
T(ZEZ—F &) HERBITHNERENHE
BN Z S ERNESEE

ZEHEEECEEBRIFHEOAARE
171,000 (ZE-—F: 2B KRFFEA
AE#105,0007T) °
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BB A
2022 2021
—E=-= —E -4
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥ T AREFTT
Interest expense on convertible bonds AR ES A B X = 694
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEBENHFNEMX 5,024 5,589
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITERB T EFRX - 17
5,024 6,300
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEBREX
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® T AR®ET T
PRC Enterprise Income Tax P ZERTIST
— current year —AREE 9,799 13,875
Deferred tax liabilities (note 32) ELEFREEE (MsE32) 679 (1,127)
10,478 12,748

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax (the "EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries
is 25% for both years. During the year ended
31 December 2022, two (2021: two) of the PRC
subsidiaries of the Group were recognised as
high new technology enterprises and entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% (2021: 15%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 as the Group did not have any assessable
profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for both
years.

RIBFBEEGEMETOE ([REMFHE])
REEMRBREBRED - P EME QA
RREFEZRENYR25% BE-F
T CHEFZA=T-BIEFE - AEEH
ME (2 - —F :ME)TEHBE R
WARE/BHRMEE  TH15% (=F
TF 5% ) MEBEEREK

B A &R B R P B 4R S 0 4 4F ] 78 B A
BEBFEGR2ERBEN HEBEEZT
ZERZIFBE—F+ZA=+—HIE
FREARBEEANESRIELEME-

.
= 2
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"),
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the

11. 88X

REFREHELABRIES ([RBR
LEEDMEREAL AEEEBEHN
TR SEEREBRLAEENMER-

Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The income tax expense for the year can be
reconciled to the profit before tax per the

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

R B AR

fEmMEMERRERANFE
P15 75 7 32 AT BB AR A s AU AR AT

2022 2021
—=E-= —EZ—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARMTF T
Profit before tax B ¢ B 4 A 21,362 42,765
Tax at the applicable income tax rate %3 F FT15 8 £25%
at 25% (2021: 25%) (ZZE=—F:25%)
AENHRIE 5,341 10,691
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  “~a] FEFN R 895 X #9
for tax purpose MBTE 4,755 3,167
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERTEWB AR
for tax purpose TRy 3% (569) (44)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7K W R F 15 5 18 HY
MR & 6,046 11,447
Utilisation of tax losses previously FRBTARERNIBEE
not recognised (935) (7,102)
Additional deduction for research and  #iff % 5 & &9 %8 SN 008
development expenses (806) (793)
Tax effect of tax exemptions granted & TR B B A 7 2 B 5
to PRC Subsidiaries BERHNMBEE (6,692) (7,054)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBENERRLE 2
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARATRBER
jurisdictions T 3,338 2,436
Income tax expense for the year REFEFEBRX 10,478 12,748

Details of deferred tax liabilities are set
32.

7)* 5
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12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

12. ZEE
AEFHFID B THISBEEDE

-8l

charging:
2022 2021
—ZE_-_— —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARET T
Directors’ and chief executive's EEZRERTHRAEMNE
emoluments (note 13) (BF3E13) 3,394 3,879
Other staff costs (excluding directors’ HEME TR (TEEES
and chief executive's emoluments) E&xS1TBRAEME) 59,111 42,448
Retirement benefits scheme RURAE A G 8
contributions (excluding directors’ (TBEIEEER
and chief executive’s emoluments) BE={THRAEME) 9,955 4,164
Total staff costs =B NR 72,460 50,491
Auditor’s remuneration ZERRD B & 1,298 1,324
Share-based payment expenses ETERaRHN R
granted to consultants NHAX 1,839
Depreciation of plant and equipment  HE MR EITE 12,304 10,043
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAREEENE 15,437 15,221
Amortisation of intangible assets B A EEH
(included in cost of services) (BT ABRTE R AR) 10,346 7,268
Research and development e
expenses (note) (BEE) 2,490 12,363
Loss on disposal of plant and HERE K&EERE
equipment 287 -
Write-off of plant and equipment W 8H R B I 5& A 70 275
Note: Research and development expenses include staff costs ek AERIBEEIRNARFTE  HFALXE

and depreciation, which are included in the above

respective expenses, in the Research and Development

Department of the Group.

B AP PIEy B ARRIR S o

.4 1
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE T -_—HF+_-_A=Z+—HILFE
13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERBETHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ten
(2021: nine) directors and chief executive were as
follows:

ENKERT+HR(ZF F:NA)

EEkBEaTHRAEMESEOME W
T~

Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZEZ-_—_#+-A=+—HILEE

Independent
Executive directors non-executive directors Total
HirES BUFHTES b
Hu  Zhang Leung Wang
Lu Xing LiJia XuDayong Dingdong Jie Song Bo Gao Yongzhi Siu Kee Shu Ping Wu Yalin
BT %5 #AE HER RE R BAE 2RE ES:§:4 BRI
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET AR%T
AR®TR ARBTRT ARMTR AR%Trn T ARBTRT ARMTR AR®TR ARETRT AR¥TR b
(note b) (note ¢) (note b)
(K&Eb) (M&Ec) (HiiEb)
Emoluments paid or receivable SEEAMATHUES 51
in respect of a person’s (TmBERAL
services as a director, whether  HFIB A FIEH)
of the Company and its FrRERBENL
subsidiary undertakings EREME
- Fees -8g 311 362 - 259 492 492 262 104 104 104 2,490
- Salaries and other benefits - & K b8 64 M 448 - - - - - - - 723
~ Retirement benefits scheme - R KR I 8143
contributions 37 49 46 4 16 16 13 = = = 181
412 622 494 263 508 508 275 104 104 104 3,3%
Year ended 31 December 2021 BE-ZE-—-+-A=+—HLHFE
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors Total
WTES BUFNTES et
Leung Wang
Lu Xing LiJia  XuDayong Hu Dingdong Zhang Jie Song Bo Siu Kee Shu Ping Wu Yalin
17 x5 ] HER RE R Z2kE TR% R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR ARBTT ARETRT ARETR
(note b) (notea)  (notea, ¢
(Kizb) (Miira)  (MsFa-c)
Emoluments paid or receivable REMATIESHH
in respect of a person’s (FmBERRAL
services as a director, whether HMEAREH)
of the Company and its FriRERBENL
subsidiary undertakings Gk
- Fees -Hg 299 498 - 995 514 514 100 100 100 3,120
- Salaries and other benefits -FeREMRH 41 L) 530 - - - - - - 613
- Retirement benefits scheme —RIKERIFHE
contributions #K 34 34 47 15 8 8 - - - 146
374 574 577 1,010 522 522 100 100 100 3,879

jo 4

= 4
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS

Notes:

(a) Mr. Zhang Jie and Mr. Song Bo were appointed as
executive director on 25 June 2021 and Mr. Song Bo was
also appointed as chief operating officer on that day.

(b)  Mr. Hu Dingdong resigned as an executive director and
chief executive officer on 28 February 2022 and Mr.
Gao Yongzhi was appointed as executive director on 25
February 2022 and chief executive officer on 28 February
2022.

(c) Mr. Song Bo resigned as an executive director and chief
operating officer on 6 February 2023.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments paid
by the Group during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021. No emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any directors and chief
executive of the Company as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation
for loss of office for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Mr. Gao Yongzhi is also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by his as the
chief executive.

. EERRETBRAEME

R

(@ REXERRBEER-_ZT--—FXA
“THRBZAERNTEE RA RELE
NEZEREREELE

by HMEREAER-_ZT-_—_F-_A-F+/\HET
RITEEHRERNTE MeakELERZT
T HF A+ HBEZTAHNITESREUR
R-ZE-_—F A+ \BEZTAEREH
TE

(0 FREXRAER-_E-_=F-_AXBBEEHTE
EREREELEE

MESSTRABEREANEERHEHE
T HEr_F-_—F+_-_HA=+—H
TFERERRAERBEAEENOE
e - REE_ZBE__FR_ZT_—F
TZA=+—RLEFE AEEHERLK
RAENEERERITBRARXNHE
RELEMNIE  (EAZE AR INA
AEERWRS A RERAE-

BKERENMBARARDITRAR
XA E R & %E{’Eﬁa*hﬂl/\
BRHERGHME -

Y 4
#
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14. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2021: four) was director of the
Company whose emoluments are included in the

14.

disclosures in note 13 above. The emoluments of
the remaining four (2021: one) individuals were as

T—HLEFE

ET#ME

AEESZSHFMOOMLA LS Hf—f
—EC-F ) RARAESE FH

e R EXHWEI3mE - AT A (=

To—F ) ATHMEM

follows:
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Salaries and other benefits e hEAMET 2,611 581
Performance related R 48 20 FE 8 A0 22 B 3R
incentive payments 50 58
Retirement benefits scheme RIRAE R R B
contributions 62 15
2,723 654
Their emoluments were within the following band: RENMSHBELRAT :

Number of employees

BEAE
2022 2021
—_=__ —E - —%F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ T
(equivalent to approximately (EERHARE
RMB862,790 862,7907T
(2021: RMB829,330)) T
AR #829,3307T) ) 4 1

No emoluments were paid or payable by the Group
to the five highest paid individuals including the
directors and chief executive of the Company as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

ﬁ)* »
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15. DIVIDEND 15. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year BHE_T-__F+-A=+—BHILFE
ended 31 December 2022, nor has any dividend N EENSER RN EMKRE  B®E
been proposed since the end of the reporting HEERETEEZRNEMRE (=T
period (2021: nil). Z—F )

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BIRER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings RARARBBEAEBEEREAREERF
per share attributable to the owners of the ETE T ER AT EUE

Company is based on the following data:

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFRT AR®TT

Earnings for the year attributable to ARFTESRERK
owners of the Company for the EERANH AR T
purpose of basic and diluted earnings HBEARBGENRT
per share 13,523 33,011

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
‘000 ‘000
T IR Tz
Weighted average number of ordinary ARETESRERKR
shares for the purpose of basic and EERMNEER
diluted earnings per share hnEFEHE 6,752,211 6,337,608
For the year ended 31 December 2022, diluted HE_T-__F+-A=+—HIEFE"
earnings per share was the same as the basic BRESRMNEGRERNANER  B5f
earnings per share and the computation of diluted EERBEERNTEBRITERRAE
earnings per share did not assume the exercise of i AAzEERENTEES VKRN
the Company’s share options because the exercise HFHTE -
prices of those share options were higher than the
average market price for shares.
7
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e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. BREF

BE_T-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE"
BREFSANEGRAXRBNER 18
FRETRNBEIRIEERLARFHK
1T AR AR B 75 R R 88 R AT R (B
FASE B R AR IZIM -

For the year ended 31 December 2021, diluted
earnings per share was the same as the basic
earnings per share and the computation of diluted
earnings per share did not assume the conversion
of the Company's outstanding convertible bonds
because the conversion of convertible bonds would
result in an increase in earnings per share.

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. BERZ®E

Computers
Leasehold ~ Furniture and and
improvements fixtures equipment  Motor vehicles Total
REMERE HKRRRE ERERAE "E b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETR AR%ETr ARETn ARETn
cosT KA
At 1 January 2021 W-ZE-—%—-H—H 72,351 6,425 10,124 9,657 98,557
Exchange realignment ERRE (80) (6) (8) (62) (156)
Additions NE 966 317 585 377 2,245
Write-off i34 (1,445) (45) (51) (885) (2,426)
Deregistration of a subsidiary ~ #—EHBAA (818) (28) (135) (497) (1,478)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNEBAR - - (132) - (132)
At 31 December 2021 and R-E--F
1 January 2022 +-A=+t-Bk
“2--#%—-f—H 70,974 6,663 10,383 8,590 96,610
Exchange realignment R AR 109 18 38 172 337
Additions NE 9,173 862 2,342 444 12,821
Write-off f 34 - (49) - (188) (237)
Disposal e - - - (663) (663)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBAF - (3) - - (3)
At 31 December 2022 i
+-A=+-H 80,256 7,491 12,763 8,355 108,865

j)* »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 17. BERRE (@)
Computers
Leasehold  Furniture and and
improvements fixtures  equipment Motor vehicles Total
MEMEEE HAREE  ERREE E @i

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETL  ARBTT  ARETR

DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 W-E-—%—-H—H 26,708 2,611 7,749 3,405 40,473
Exchange realignment EEE (49) (5) @) (44) (105)
Charge for the year FERXH 6,933 1,135 978 997 10,043
Eliminated on write-off i sE 5 8 (1,445) (3) (49) (654) (2,151)
Deregistration of a subsidiary s #—EHE LA (818) (28) (134) (356) (1,336)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—BHEAR - - (123) - (123)
At 31 December 2021 and i —
1 January 2022 TZRA=+-Hk

—2--4—-f—H 31,329 3,710 8,414 3,348 46,801
Exchange realignment R R 104 15 26 96 241
Charge for the year ERX M 9,653 698 850 1,103 12,304
Eliminated on write-off S8 B 1 8 - (46) - (121) (167)
Eliminated on disposal HER - - - (324) (324)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAF - (1 - - (1)
At 31 December 2022 R-B__%F

+-A=+—H 41,086 4,376 9,290 4,102 58,854
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=

TZA=1-H 39,170 3,115 3,473 4,253 50,011
At 31 December 2021 W-B-—-%

+-A=+-H 39,645 2,953 1,969 5,242 49,809

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The above items of plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking
into account of their estimated residual values, at
the following basis or rates per annum:

17. BERRE
MBS R R AR B AT AT R A AR
EEEAEREE T LR RHFE

Leasehold Over the term of the leases HEWHFEEE FHHA
improvements
Furniture and fixtures 20%-33% RAREE 20%-33%
Computers and 20%-33% B REE 20%-33%
equipment
Motor vehicles 10%-20% TE 10%-20%
18. LEASES 18. HE
2022 2021
—E - —E -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREET T
Buildings BF 71,371 81,972

The Group has lease arrangements for
buildings used as offices and training centres.
The lease terms are generally ranged from 2 to
15 years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the
year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to approximately RMB4,715,000 (2021:
RMB2,849,000), due to new leases of
buildings.

ﬁ)* »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. LEASES 18. HE
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Non-current JEBNEA 78,804 86,146
Current B HA 11,949 13,912
90,753 100,058
Amounts payable under HEABBEETH
lease liabilities FENEE
Within one year —F AR 11,949 13,912
After one year but within two years — & B F K 8,952 8,557
After two years but within five years {418 7L F 24,295 21,652
After five years fF & 45,557 55,937
90,753 100,058
Less: Amount due for settlement S A 1218 A A B ER
within 12 months (shown BEzeRE (A
under current liabilities) mENAafE) (11,949) (13,912)
Amount due for settlement 1216 A 1& E| 85
after 12 months BEZEH 78,804 86,146

HEe_2-_—_F+-_A=+—HIL
FE -AEBREFITLZESA

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group entered into a number of new
lease agreements in respect of buildings and ERMBITHERABAEEBEOARE
recognised lease liabilities of approximately 4,715,000 (ZZEZ—F: AR®
RMB4,715,000 (2021: RMB2,849,000). 2,849,0007T) °

.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

18. HE

18. LEASES

2022 2021
—=E-= —EZ—4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR%T

Depreciation expense on right-of-use {FAEEENEM
assets — buildings —EF 15,437 15,221
Interest expense on lease liabilities ~ HE&EF B85 5,024 5,589
Expenses relating to short-term leases £245 #if0 & A B A B X 5,278 4,409

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the total cash outflow for leases amount
to approximately RMB24,426,000 (2021:
RMB23,380,000).

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 December 2022, lease liabilities
of approximately RMB90,753,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets
of approximately RMB71,371,000 (2021:
lease liabilities of RMB100,058,000 are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of
RMB81,972,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security
interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

7)* 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BILEE
Cross
Insurance boundary
Customer brokerage vehicle
Software  relationship licence licence Total
Rigge BEER
it PR FRR ARl @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFR
note (a) note (b) note (c) note (d)
B 5 (@) B3 (b) Bt (o) Bt 3 (dl)

COST RA

At 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—F—H 33,133 108,281 10,000 1,242 152,656
Exchange realignment %A% - - - (36) (36)
Additions NE 5,348 - - - 5,348
Disposal of subsidiary HEWRBRA (360) - - - (360)

At 31 December 2021 and RE-—F+-A=+—-HR

1 January 2022 “E-~"#%#—f-H 38,121 108,281 10,000 1,206 157,608
Exchange realignment EHAE - - - 112 112
Additions NE 15,577 - - - 15,577
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+ZA=1+—A 53,698 108,281 10,000 1,318 173,297
AMORTISATION AND BERAE

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2021 - 21,293 78,875 - - 100,168
Charge for the year Emﬁ 2,760 4,508 - - 7,268
Disposal of subsidiary HERBAT (99) - - - (99)
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ—5+ZA=+-BK

1 January 2022 —E--%#—f-H 23,954 83,383 - - 107,337
Charge for the year ERZH 5,838 4,508 - - 10,346
At 31 December 2022 RZE--F+=-A=1+—H 29,792 87,891 - - 117,683
CARRYING VALUES EE{E
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+-A=1+—H 23,906 20,390 10,000 1,318 55,614
At 31 December 2021 RZE--F+=-A=1+—H 14,167 24,898 10,000 1,206 50,271

a
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Software mainly represented online training and education
platforms that are acquired separately or internally
generated which aim at providing end-users an online
learning environment and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over 3-5 years.

No impairment loss has been provided for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Customer relationship represented the signed agreements
with local training organisations of civil servants and
professionals and technicians to provide customised
online training and education services. A subsidiary of the
Group, BIEH (b 7)) H AR K BR A A (Guopei Wang
(Beijing) Education Technology Company Limited) (“Guopei
Wang Beijing”), is authorised by Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security of the PRC to provide online
training and education programmes for civil servants and
professionals and technicians in the PRC. The directors
of the Company were in the view that the customer
relationship had a remaining useful life of 10.6 years as at
1 January 2017 onwards with reference to turnover rate of
the customers.

No impairment loss has been provided for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

Insurance brokerage license represents the permission of
operating insurance brokerage services in the PRC which
was acquired through acquisition of the entire equity
interests in Beijing Zhongjin Insurance Brokerage Limited
("Beijing Zhongjin”) during the year ended 31 December
2017.

The insurance brokerage licence can be renewed after
expiry, as long as Beijing Zhongjin is eligible for the
requirement, and the cost of renewal of the licence is
minimal. Therefore the insurance brokerage licence is
considered to be an intangible asset with an indefinite
useful life and no amortisation is provided.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the management
reviewed the recoverable amount of the insurance
brokerage licence with reference to the valuation issued by
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
to the Group. No impairment loss has been provided for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

j'D‘J‘ »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes: (continued)

(o)

(d)

(continued)

The recoverable amount has been determined on the
basis of value-in-use calculations, which use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 20% (2021: 20%). Cash flows beyond
5-year period are assumed with a 15% (2021: 9%) growth
rate. The growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations relate to
the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted income, costs and gross margin, such estimation
is based on past performance and management's
expectations for the market development. Management
believes that any reasonably possible change in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying values of
the intangible assets to exceed their recoverable amounts.

Cross boundary vehicle licence is acquired through the
acquisition of Sunday Technology Development Limited
("Sunday Technology”) during the year ended 31
December 2018.

The useful life of the licence was assessed to be indefinite
as it can be renewed after expiry each year at minimal cost
and the completion of application form upon renewal.
Therefore the licence was not amortised and was tested
for impairment annually or when events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. It is
reviewed annually to determine whether its useful life
continues to be indefinite. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on
a prospective basis.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
reviewed the recoverable amount of the cross boundary

the management

vehicle licence based on the fair value less costs of
disposal.

No impairment loss has been provided for the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

19. B EE

s : (&)

(o)

(&)

ARESEDEREREEAEEET KAE
BEMERESFHEZVBRESHZAS
METRR - ARBRRATRERF20% (ZF=—
F:20%)FH - BBSFHEZRDNBRR
BRERBIS% (ZTZ—F:9%) HEERET)
ZREBTEERBEANSE B TBBMART
XPHRMERF -ERAEEFENHE MR
BRREBERERA RAREMNENRSR
A/ RHTERER  ZFER DR E TSR 2
BERBLERBEZER - EEERE TR
ZEBRRPARHBREZEMABED I E
EREPEAEZ RAEBBETKRESHE-

REZEZTZ—N\E+_A=+—HALFE B
RE WA E T E B Sunday Technology
Development Limited ([Sunday Technology | )
JEIER

ZAAERAEARERBOAERFY R
H AR AR 8 F R R A RERA R E
HYRAFRBES AL %A & Tﬁ%%
BAGFLEITRERR RHBFLEEFRB

B AT LR B B B TTRUE IR - FF A AE %!
FETRIUETENERFHETESER
BRE DR AIEAFRFARERBER
BRAEATIEEEARR -

R-B-_—FR-_T-_—F+-A=+—8"
EEEBREBEAAEREERAR TEES
B 5 ] 75 /O 7] U [B] 4 58 o

[

N BE_T-_—_FR-_ZT-_—F+-H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

20. GOODWILL 20. &
RMB'000
AREF T
COST R
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZE-_—4F—H—B - —%
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 +Z-ZA=+—H -Z&==—F—H
—ARk=ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 381,791
IMPAIRMENT BAE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, RZ-ET=-_—F—HF—H-
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —ZE-—%®+_-_A=+—H"
—E-—F—-—RA—HK
- —F+-_F=+—H 343,501
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 38,290
At 31 December 2021 RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H 38,290
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

20. GOODWILL (continued) 20. B8 (@)
The carrying values of goodwill as at 31 December R_B__FR_F_—F+A=+—
2022 and 2021 allocated to the units are as H 2EEZFEUNHENREAED T :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREF T
Insurance brokerage —Beijing Zhongjin ReELE-trRPeRRER
Insurance Brokerage Limited ARAR (MR e])
(“Beijing Zhongjin") - -
Insurance brokerage —Well Tunes R - ERENEEERAR
Financial Group Limited (DE®ES])
("Well Tunes”) = -
Educational consultancy and YEBANRBEIENNHE -
online training and education— Housden Holdings
Housden Holdings Limited Limited ( [Housden Holdings ] )
(“Housden Holdings") 38,290 38,290
Investments advisory—RuiLian Financial REER-HEeREEERAR
Group Company Limited (mkel)

(“RuiLian Financial”) - -

38,290 38,290
[N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e RS R R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHZEZ

20. GOODWILL

T__H+-_A=+—-BLEE
20. HE

Goodwill was arising on the acquisition of Beijing
Zhongjin in 2017. The goodwill of approximately
RMB4,350,000 related to Beijing Zhongjin had been
fully impaired in prior year as the actual results of
Beijing Zhongjin did not meet the management'’s
expectations. The carrying value of goodwill was nil
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Goodwill was arising on the acquisition of Well
Tunes in 2017 and was fully impaired in prior years.

Goodwill was arising on the acquisition of Housden
Holdings in 2013. The recoverable amount of
Housden Holdings has been determined based on
a value-in-use calculation, which uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 4-year period and a
pre-tax discount rate of 25% (2021: 25%). Cash
flows beyond 4-year period are assumed with a 3%
(2021: 3%) growth rate. The growth rate is based
on the relevant industry growth forecasts and does
not exceed the average long-term growth rate for
the relevant industry. Cash flow projections during
the budget period is also based on the budgeted
educational consultancy service income and
online training and education services income and
expected gross margins during the budget period.
Expected cash inflows/outflows, which include
budgeted educational consultancy service income
and online training and education services income
and gross margin have been determined based on
past performance and management's expectations
for the market development. Management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying value
of goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount of
goodwill.

Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR AR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

20. GOODWILL (continued)

21.

Housden Holdings (continued)
No impairment loss has been provided for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Ruilian Financial

Goodwill was arising on the acquisition of RuiLian
Financial in 2018. The goodwill of approximately
RMB7,677,000 related to RuiLian Financial had
been fully impaired in prior years due to the change
in external market indicators and business plan
delay. The carrying value of goodwill was nil as at
31 December 2022 and 2021.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

20. & (@)

21.

Housden Holdings (#&)
BHE_T__FR-T-_—F+ZA
=+—BIEEE BEMRREEETIRE
e

It 2wt
FEDR-_Z-NFRBEHKE SR
EE BB emEBANEENARYK
7,677,000LERBEFE2ERE " R
HEIETIZEENEL R ERKTEE
B-R_TE_ZFRZF_—F+=ZAH
=+—H FAEHENREEAS

BAREFT A2 E W &S B
BEE RAANBETABEZNE
BEE

2022 2021
—=E-= —=E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFRT AR®BTR

Financial assets at FVTOCI comprise: RAAEFAHMEZE
WENMBEEERR:
Unlisted equity investments in the PRC R iR

®E 53,200 56,821
Financial asset at FVTPL comprises: RAARETABRHN
MBEERE:
Unlisted fund investment in Hong Kong ~ MEERIELTEESEKE 3,011 2,260
a
V- 4
m[lf
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HZE-—ZT-—&E+-FA=

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21.

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(continued)
The unlisted equity investments represent
investments in private entities established in the
PRC. The Group has elected to designate the
unlisted equity investments that are held for
medium or long-term strategic purpose as financial
assets at FVTOCI.

Included in the above investments are the following
amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of relevant group entities:

+—BiEEE

BRAREFAHEMEEWRE
BEE BAARBEFAEBZNEG
BEE (&)

FEMREREEREREPBEKL ZALE
ERNRE -AEHEDEZRREPHAX
EMBHRAZNIFLTRAERERE
RBARLEFAEMEZERE 2P BE
o

A B R T L B DA SN S B
A F R A KA -

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTFRT AR®TR

usD ETT 3,011 2,260
22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. R NT 2 REH
2022 2021
—=E-= —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T T AREET T
Costs of investments in associates RN
BEBRAR 5,960 5,960
Share of post-acquisition losses SMEWRIEEERE (483) (303)
5,477 5,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22.

23.

e P HmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22. ABEE DT 2R (/
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had RZEBEZ—FR=F _—Eﬂ' A=+—
interests in the following associates that are not H RNEERUATANBEKRAE S QFH#
material: AR
Proportion of ownership
Country of Principal place of ~Class of interests or participating Proportion of Principal
Name of entity Formof entity incorporation ~ operation Share held shares held by the Group voting power held activity
Al E3 fits FEBfEE
ERLHE it e BEHY RS FEkREA2 ERN 2 1Lhl FiisR R L fl TEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--F -%Z--% CZB--E -—Z--%
FEHEMHE (OTL)BRAA  Incorporated  PRC PRC Ordinary 20% 20% 20% 20% Information technology
([5E%45)) AL G 3 LBk consulting services
ERRITHARE
JRBZEEYEFAERAT  Incoporated  PRC PRC Ordinary 49% 49% 49% 49% Information technology
(trezganE]) Rl P k! Tk consulting services
ERRITE DR
Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over & e ASEEEAUEEARAERIERBRZEENR
EHE and L RE R EEHE because it has the power to BAREARE N BARNEEEERIEZ
participate in the operation of those companies under the ERAEENERBAUMBECLEEZSE
provisions stated in the respective Articles of Association. Q AIEE -
FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 23. EHERWR
All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at HE B A BT A A R s SRR
initial recognition over the lease terms. HEBAREER
2022 2021
—=E-= —EZ—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBF T
Analysed for reporting purposes as : HBEENDTA:
Current assets mENEE - 2,766
Non-current assets FEMBEE - 35,951
- 38,717
a
A

ﬁ" 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

23. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 23. EHERWR

During the year ended 31 December 2022, all of RBEE_T__F+_A=+—HBILF
the finance lease receivables are derecognised upon E - FEMEHERKZINEENE QA
disposal of subsidiaries as disclosed in note 37. (GBI FE37FAT IR 58 ) R AR IEFERR ©

The Group entered into finance leasing AEB(EREBEAIRETRET LT
arrangements as a lessor for certain equipment. BEEELH -FIFIUM@MEREN T
The average term of finance leases entered into FHRNF - —RMs ZFHEESHALDT
is 5 years. Generally, these lease contracts do not BIEBHNIRERERIEEERE-

include extension or early termination options.

2022 2021
—E=-= —ET -4
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARET T

Amounts receivable under finance leases Bt & 0 & FE I X

Within 1 year 1R = 22,998
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&E2FR - 22,998
After 2 years but within 3 years 2F1BB3FA - 22,998
After 3 years but within 4 years 3FBEAFA - 22,998
After 4 years but within 5 years AF1&BSFR - 17,997
Undiscounted lease payments REBEHEEN K - 109,989
Less: unearned finance income R B R E A - (71,272)
Present value of minimum lease W HERENKHRE

payments receivables - 38,717

ﬁ)* »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.

24,

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 23. EHEERWK
The effective interest rates of the above finance FHBEEENERFNENF2.45%F
leases ranged 2.45%-4.93% per annum. 4.93% °
The Group measures the loss allowance for finance AEBEERNIEABHEEBSEYN
lease receivables at an amount equal to 12-month CRITEMEHERKFNEBERE R
ECL. As at 31 December 2021, in determining the TEI—FT+ZA=T—H REET%F
expected credit losses for these assets, the directors EENEHEEERR NARIESNG
of the Company have taken into account the HEEMKEELEAESENEBBRTERE
financial position of the counterparties and security FEHEANEEZNORE - URGEREBR
deposit as appropriate, in estimating the probability MEHNEER St REF I BEARR
of default of each of these financial assets occurring kir#Fe (WER) RBE-ZT=—F
within their respective loss assessment time horizon, TZA=T—BLFE HMEERTARK
as well as the loss upon default in each case. No BEE-
impairment loss recognised during the year ended
31 December 2021.
LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24. EWWERKFE
2022 2021
—_E—— —EF -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARS®TR ARBTET
Unsecured A
Fixed-rate loan receivables FE U [E TE FI R B R 4,467 4,906
Interest receivables JE U5 A1 B 43 243
4,510 5,149

The Group measures the loss allowance for loan
and interest receivables at an amount equal to
12-month ECL. As at 31 December 2022 and
2021, in determining the expected credit losses for
these assets, the directors of the Company have
taken into account the financial position of the
counterparties, various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information, as appropriate,
in estimating the probability of default of each
of these financial assets occurring within their
respective loss assessment time horizon, as well as
the loss upon default in each case.

AEEZRBAERNEAABREEBED
SR ERKRER LT EMEBREE RN
—ZF=-= —E - —F+ZRAR=+—
H RETZSEENTEREEERR
AAREZEEEHFHNMEHRR
BEEINMEER RIER LB E B RR (408
B) Wt ZEVEEESB TR EE
FEBARABRENEOBEURSER
THELEE-

Y 4
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—BItFE

24. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 24. ERERRKRAE (&
(continued)
The movement in the allowance for impairment of FEREFRRFERERBEEHESOT

loan and interest receivables is set out below:

2022 2021
—EgE=-= —E - —%F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

1 January —H—H - 350
Provided for the year FANGTE - -
Amount written off as uncollectible B OE W B] 75 8 RRIE - (350)
31 December +=-A=+—8 - -
There has been no change in the estimation RREFER: TEERE R R SEE
techniques or significant assumptions made during BEONMTAERERNBRILEZE -

both years in assessing the loss allowance for loan
and interest receivables.

The effective interest rate on the Group's loan AEBEEREFNEREFNENT
receivables are as follows:

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F

Effective interest rate: BRI R
Fixed-rate loan receivables JE U [ TE FI R E R 6.00% 12.00%

o |

/s j!
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. ESZ R EMEWERK

2022 2021

—=E-= —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T T AREET T

Trade receivables 5 R R 17,560 6,741
Less: impairment loss recognised A TR E &R (1,542) (1,057)
16,018 5,684

Other receivables (note i) H b e UL BR SR (B 5% ) 20,983 37,237
Consideration receivables (note 37) WA E (BFsE37) 26,887 -
Prepayments TE At RIE 7,414 5,940
Deposits bl 2,569 3,003
Value added tax recoverables AJ Uy [B] 12 (E 7 1,354 2,337
Less: impairment loss recognised B R EER (3.818) (2,400)
55,389 46,117

71,407 51,801

Analysed as DR

Current B EA 69,007 49,945
Non-current 3k B EA 2,400 1,856
71,407 51,801

ML

Note i: As at 31 December 2022, included in the balance was
receivable of approximately RMB11,400,000 (2021: nil)
relating to the compensation income as disclosed in note 9.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the balance of
other receivables of approximately RMB30,000,000
(2022: nil) which represented refundable deposit paid for
a cooperation arrangement with an independent third
party. Such deposit had been fully refunded during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

At as 31 December 2022, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately RMB17,560,000 (2021:
RMB6,741,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral over these
receivables.

R-_Z-_—&F#+-_F=+—H #EHhas
SLFT FEOFT 4% 7 A 8 18 IR A G B 2 FE UG IB
ARBEX11,400,000C (ZE - —F:F) o

R-EBE-—F+-_A=+—8 HuEWE
R A S 4 ARK30,000,000T (=ZF
CoF )RR EBYE=FEIALM
AERHEINNARBZES - ERESER
BE-_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HLEFEZH
Rigo

RZEBE-_—_F#+-_A=+—HB EFA&
NEXEZESIRBERBEAODAR
17,560,000 (ZTEZ—F: AR#
6,741,

AEBEY B ZFRBERTE TAE
e

0007T) ©

.4 4
3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EF REMEWER

Trade receivables are due according to the terms
on the relevant contracts as at 31 December 2022
and 2021. The Group rebutted the presumption of
default under ECL model for trade receivables over
90 days past due based on the good repayment
records for those customers, continuous business
with the Group and/or other reasonable and
supportable information. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables net of impairment
losses recognised presented based on the invoice
date at the end of reporting period.

RZBEZZFRZF_—F+ZA=+—
H ESRKERBERBEONIEKE
B - AEEENZERFRUTMENRLE
HALSENFEEXES L HEMEER
THEER BB THHBIEORNE S
EREREEHRHEESEREXTELN
HEE- PBREPBER BREZZAZ25H
EHRWER (MKERARESE)N
BRER DT T o

2022 2021

—=E=-= —EF - —
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Within 30 days 30HA 13,574 4,469
31 to 60 days 31£60H 1,545 516
61 to 180 days 61£180H 728 699
181 to 365 days 181£365H 171 -
16,018 5,684

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix by reference
to past default experience of the debtor and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

There has been no change in the estimation
techniques or significant assumptions made during
both years in assessing the loss allowance for trade
receivables.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

j,)q @ »

Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EZREMEBEWARR (4
(continued)
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade AEERBEEREMIFENEZEETPHOK
receivables based on the ageing of customers RERESRWERGFEMBEREES
collectively that are not individually significant as BT
follows:
Weighted
average Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
¥
AHEEZR REAE BREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
As at 31 December 2022 RZBZZH+=ZA=+—H ARBTRT AR®Tx
Less than 30 days PH30K 1% 13,689 115
31 to 60 days 31260K 22% 1,992 447
61 to 180 days 61£2180K 29% 1,028 300
181 to 365 days 18123651 44% 308 137
Over 365 days HBiB365K 100% 543 543
17,560 1,542
Weighted
average Gross
Expected carrying
loss rate amount Loss allowance
INFEF 15
EHBEX FRE#E BEEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H ARETT ARBTR
Less than 30 days DR30K 1% 4,514 46
31 to 60 days 31E260K 25% 688 172
61 to 180 days 61£2180K 32% 1,028 328
Over 365 days #iB365K 100% 511 511
6,741 1,057

a
A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25. EZREMEWERK

The movement in the allowance for impairment of B SRWESREREZSHEOT
trade receivables is set out below:
2022 2021
—E-C —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBF T
At the beginning of the year R 1) 1,057 2,812
Provided for the year F NG 485
Amount written off as uncollectible A (0] 75 0 8H R 1A - (1,755)
At the end of the year RER 1,542 1,057
The following significant changes in the gross REZ-_T_—_F+= JEJ +—HLtF

carrying amounts of trade receivables contributed T3 8 S EKER

MAERNE NE

b BEBBILM:

to the increase in the loss allowance during the year
ended 31 December 2022:

—  increase in days past due between 31 days - NF31E60R 8 Hi K HE &,
to 60 days resulted in an increase in loss B BB AL N4 A R %275,0007T
allowance of approximately RMB275,000; and K

-~ increase in days past due between 181 days - N 18123650 Z i Hi R H 3L &
to 365 days resulted in an increase in loss WMEBBEBE NN ARKE137,000
allowance of approximately RMB137,000. Vivks

AEBEBERRPAEHEATBEREDN
B 7% IR 2 BB R R 2 1B R T M
B 5 RUIRK -

The Group writes off trade receivables when there
is information indicating that the debtor was in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. EF R EMEWER

FEFRURFORERBEESEHIIMT

The movement in the allowance for impairment of
non-trade receivables is set out below:

2022 2021

—E-= —=E
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET Tt AREET T
1 January —H—H 2,400 1,491
Provided for the year FNEHRE 1,418 1,000
Amount written off as uncollectible 48 5% U [0 75 41 88 SR B - (91)
31 December +=-—A=+—H 3,818 2,400

The following significant change in the gross
carrying amounts of non-trade receivables
contributed to the increase in the loss allowance
during the year ended 31 December 2022:

—  origination of new other receivables net of
those settled resulted in an increase in loss
allowance of approximately RMB1,418,000.

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
The expected credit losses on other receivables are
estimated by reference to past default experience of
the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current
financial position, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
of the industry in which the debtors operate and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date.

KRBT -_—_F+-_A=+—H8BIHF
B THEESRWERERREAABHNEAKX
< BB B AL

- FMWHMEREX (HKREEEE)
EE SREBRBEGEMNMOARE
1,418,0007T °

AEBRESNI2EARREEEED
TRAEEMEEERROEREE  EM
ERURERNFEREEER2EEBHAN
WEEOCEREHAB BT BRI
DT RERHE BBMEBARENEE
B ASEMETEN — BREEMIIA
K B B R FERGROR T R RS L R -

Y 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

26.

27.

DIGITAL ASSETS 26. BFEE
2022 2021
—E=-= —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AREFIT
Digital assets HFEE 18,991 12,055

As at 31 December 2022, digital assets are
measured at fair value less costs of disposal.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, realised
and unrealised loss of digital assets amounted to
approximately RMB171,000 and RMB6,606,000
respectively (2021: realised and unrealised gain:
RMB105,000 and RMB23,000 respectively).

TERM DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, term deposits
represent (i) a 3-year fixed deposit which carried
fixed interest rate at 3.00% (2021: 3.00%) per
annum and will be matured in July 2024 and (ii)
a 2-year fixed deposit which carried fixed interest
rate at 2.25% (2021: nil) per annum and will be
matured in August 2024.

27.

RZZE-_—F+-_A=+—"H BFEE
BARBEREEXNAFE - RBEZZ
T+ A=+ BLEE - &FTE
EZEERRAREREBIINNAEAR
#171,0007T & A R #6,606,000C (=&
——F BERERARERRIE DA BA
R #105,0007T & A R#23,0007T) °

EHFERARRITERRRE

i —E I+ ZA=+—
H EHEREGABEFEFNEIE (=T
ZT—F3E)HEAYBR T _MF LA
B HA 09 34F B E HA M7 3% 2 (i) DA & 8 4F B &
QED (2 —F B ERAEBFR =
ToHFENABBAOMFETEETR

2022 2021
—=E-= —=E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARTRT ARETI

Term deposits EHFR 5,030 5,000

Bank balances carry floating interest rate based on
daily bank deposit rates as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

Details of impairment assessment of term deposits
and bank balances are set out in note 6.

D).
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e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

28. EHEE

2022 2021
—==-= —E - —4F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Educational consultancy and online
training and education service contract

HEBHARBEE
MHBEREE L 24,022 31,178

As at January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB10,490,000.

Contract liabilities include advances received from
institutions or individual customers mainly for the
Group's educational consultancy and online training
and education services.

In general, the Group requests advance payment
from customers who are individuals. The contract
liabilities will be recognised as revenue over
the relevant period of the applicable online
programmes.

Revenue recognised during the year ended
31 December 2022 that was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year is approximately RMB31,178,000 (2021:
RMB10,490,000). There was no revenue recognised
in the current year that related to performance
obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

The significant decrease in contract liabilities in
2022 was mainly due to the decrease in advance
payments for educational consultancy and online
training and education services during the year.

RZFEZ—F—A AaHNREROARE
10,490,0007T ©

AHNRAGEERARBREATPEZH
AEBHEHAARBKBINNEE R
T WER B9 FE A 3K

—RME  AREZREATELIIBR -
BHNEESNERBKEENHABHME
FERBUA -

BE_Z_-_—_#+-_A=+—RILtEE
BRHOBRABERFIHNEHNEEOA
R #31,178,000c (Z T - —F: AR
10,490,0007T) * ANEFEW A ERE @ L
—FEERBHELHEA-

TEC_FANBERERD TEZ2HR
FRHUBERARBEIBINRHE REE
OB A BT B -
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e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

29.

B S REMEMNKRR

2022 2021
—E-= —E - —4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Trade payables Z S EMNIRNK 6,410 11,473
Other payables (note i) H A fE T BR SR (B aEi) 14,528 23,983
Other tax payables H b T BIE 1,673 1,091
Accruals e X 9,563 8,141

32,174 44,688

Note i: As at 31 December 2022, included in the balance of
other payable was the provision for final settlement
of litigation and deposit received of approximately
RMB7,684,000 and nil (2021: RMB7,521,000 and
RMB8,234,000) respectively.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice date at end of the
reporting period.

Msti: @2 T -_—_F+-_A=+—8 HEtEN
FEHRBERESFARERENR LB KL
D RHANRET 684,000 T (T = —
& ANR#7,521,0007T & A R 8,234,000
T e

REEHER REXRBZIINBESE
MR IRE DT

2022 2021

— g — — — % —
—E2_C —ZF=

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT

Within 30 days 30BR 5,659 10,952
31 to 60 days 31E60HA 143 7
91 to 150 days 91Z&150H K 80 1
Over 365 days H3®365H 528 513

6,410 11,473

The trade payables were due according to the terms
on the relevant contracts. The Group has financial
risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

30. AMOUNT DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER

The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE=EZT=-—

31. SHARE CAPITAL

e IR R MR

Ft-A=T—"BLLFEE

31. B&

Equivalent nominal value

Number of shares Share capital of ordinary shares
RiAEE KA LRRMEEEE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE “T-—F —BC-CE “T--F —BC-CE - S
'000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
TR Tk T TEr AR¥Tn ARET:x
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  BREE0.01H L2 @K
Authorised: EE
At the beginning and end of FORELK
the year 100,000,000 100,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 879,000 879,100
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR:
At the beginning of the per year 1) 6752211 5962211 67,522 59,622 56,662 50,135
Placing of new shares (note a) ~ B&EF R (Hia) - 470,000 - 4,700 - 3,911
Issue of new shares upon BRTBRRESS
conversion of convertible Bkl
bonds (note b) (Mizth) - 320,000 - 3,200 = 2,616
At the end of the year FR 6,752,211 6,752,211 67,522 67,522 56,662 56,662
Notes: B 5
(@) On 28 April 2021, the Company entered into a placing (@ RZZEZ—FWHNAZ+NR AQFHERER
agreement with the placing agent for the placing of BT TREHE AIRTR0102B THE
an aggregate 470,000,000 new ordinary shares of the E B E AR A A $£470,000,0000% 5 & @ AL
Company to not less than six independent third parties FRORANEBBALE=F -FIBRNEFEA
at a placing price of HK$0.102 per share. The net 47,790,000/ 7T (FHE R 4 A R #39,816,000
proceeds raised amounted to HK$47,790,000 (equivalent o) WEHRARRMDRE S BFEMOA
to approximately RMB39,816,000) and resulted in the K #3,911,0007T & A R #35,905,0007T ° B¢
net increase in share capital and share premium of EFBEER-_ZE-_—FRAZ-TNHZEK B
approximately RMB3,911,000 and RMB35,905,000 EFHENFRIRARARTBHR-ZE-_—F
respectively. The placing was completed on 28 May mA=Z+NB ZZE=—FRA+NBEZ=Z
2021. Details of the placing are set out in the Company's Z—FRAZT AR E - FBITRMHOER
announcements dated 28 April 2021, 18 May 2021 and 28 FEBRE=ERSHE -
May 2021. The newly issued shares rank pari passu with
the existing ordinary share.
(b)  On 15 September 2021, convertible bonds of the Company b) MZZE-_—FhLAT+HB XARQRAIATREAE

with an aggregate principal of HK$40,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB33,332,000) were converted into
320,000,000 new shares at a conversion price of HK$0.125
per share and result in the net increase in share capital
and share premium of approximately RMB2,616,000 and
RMB30,427,000. Details of the convertible bonds are set
out in the Company’s announcements dated 28 April 2021,
18 May 2021 and 28 May 2021. The newly issued shares
rank pari passu with the existing ordinary share.

40,000,0007% 7T (FBE R 49 A R 33,332,000
TO)MATRRE R B R T R0.125F TR
B & #42 /5320,000,0000% 37 A% 15 » 8 BAR A&
N An B 9 RIF 1 4 A R #2,616,00070
& AR 30,427,000 - BB A AR E 5 A0
BERAATEBRHA-_SE-_—FmMA -+ N\
A —E-_—FRA+N \BE=-ZE=_—FHA
ZHNEHHRAE - FHETROEBEEBRRE
RSk
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32. EEFIEARE
The movements in the deferred tax liabilities during AEEMNBAFTFERLEHIEAENEF
the current and prior years were as follows: RN

Fair value
adjustment on
intangible assets

Intangible arising from
assets acquisition Total
WBEEZ
BRYEEZ
B EE ARERE @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT
At 1 January 2021 W-B-—#— A0 - 9,851 9,851
Credit to profit or loss (note 11) HABE (K1) - (1,127) (1,127)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZE-Z—%+-A=+—H
1 January 2022 R-E-—%—F—H - 8,724 8,724
Charge (credit) to profit or loss Mmer (FTA) B (HE1)
(note 11) 1,806 (1,127) 679
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+-R=1+—H 1,806 7,597 9,403

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused RZZE-__F+ZA=+—RH Xx%EE
tax losses of approximately RMB311,590,000 (2021: # AR ¥311,590,000 (ZE=—F: A
RMB292,122,000) available to offset against future R #292,122,0007T) K ) FA B 1E E5 48 AT
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised A R A% A o 70 R BE TR AT AR 0% F)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. R MARERBELERIBEEE -

The tax losses of approximately HK$230,321,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB198,719,000)
(2021: HK$229,567,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB190,357,000)) may be
carried forward indefinitely while the tax losses
of approximately RMB112,871,000 (2021:
RMB101,765,000) will be expired in the next five
years.

7)* 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32.

33.

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in
respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB313,826,000
(2021: RMB228,601,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 28 May 2021, the Company completed the
issuance of convertible bonds with face value
of HK$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB33,332,000) to an independent third party
who was appointed as the executive Director and
chief operating officer of the Company on 25
June 2021. The holder of convertible bonds was
entitled to convert the convertible bonds into
ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion
price of HK$0.125 per ordinary share at any time
between the date of issue of the convertible bonds
and 13 May 2023. The convertible bonds borne
fixed interest of 3.50% per annum, payable on
the maturity date or, if earlier, upon conversion or
redemption of the convertible bonds.

32.

33.

EEHIERE
BEFECEMERE BT NF—
A—B# AT B A G B
FTE IRk A9 BE B RFB N TR - FE4R & BT 75 3
T WET R KB AR Rt wF EA
ME R =R 4 AR #313,826,0000T (=
T — —4F: AR%228,601,0007T) {E Ik
EFIERE RAAKNERE A i #
BZEEREZENNE TEURTSE
AITER R BE O TR ERE-

AR ES
RZZE-_—FRA-+N\B KQFTK
TRA—2BYE=ZA(HRZZE=Z—FX
AZ+HABEZEABEARRRNITEER
BEEEE)FEITHEEASL0,000,0007%8 T
(HER#H AR%33,332,0005T) 7] #
RESH -TJRREFNFBAGERET
BB ESRAE T =R A+ =
H HA A ] B 1R - 12 B AR E B A%0.1257%8
THERERTRRESFERAEARNAQR
T3 A% o AR R 1B 5 1%3.50% 1) [E E F A
KRB HBEREBE (KRR £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

33. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 33. ATARESR

The net proceeds amounted to approximately
RMB33,332,000 received from the issue of
convertible bonds had been split between a liability
component and an equity component, as follows:

BOTABRBRESAEREFEOARE
33,332,000t 2 B E# D MEmE D Z
EETT OB RIS

Liability Equity
component component Total
BED T2 5B 5 @t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT AREFT
At 28 May 2021 RZZTZ—FRA=-TNH

(date of issuance) (B1TEHH) 30,692 2,640 33,332
Interest charged during the year & RUWEAF B (HI5E10)

(note 10) 694 - 694
Interest payment SN e (345) - (345)
Conversion into shares of EE RN )

the company (31,041) (2,640) (33,681)

The interest charged was calculated by applying
an effective interest rate of 7.72% to the liability
component of the convertible bonds.

On 15 September 2021, the entire convertible
bonds of the Company were converted into
320,000,000 new Shares at a conversion price of
HK$0.125 per share.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the principal
amount of convertible bonds remained outstanding
is nil.

Details of the convertible bonds were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 28 April 2021, 18
May 2021 and 28 May 2021 respectively.

7)* 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a share option scheme approved
by a resolution of the shareholders of the
Company on 28 May 2014 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), the Company may grant options to
the directors or employees of the Company or
its subsidiaries and consultants who meet the
relevant criteria set out in the Share Option
Scheme (the
rewards for their contributions to the Group,
to subscribe for shares in the Company with
a payment of HK$1.00 upon each grant of
options offered and the options granted must
be taken up within 21 days from the date of
grant. The exercise price of the share option
will be determined at the higher of (i) the
average of closing prices of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options,
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for
trade in one or more board lots of the shares
on the date of grant of the options, and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares.

“Participants”) as incentives and

The share options are exercisable at any time
during the option period, subject to the
terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme and any conditions of grant as may be
stipulated by the board of the directors.

e DR R

TR _F+-_A=+—HLHFE

3. RAEAFRRS

B ARt

BRERRBARRR_-_ZT-—MONFHA
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2 (BB EL)  NRR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes shall not exceed 30%
of the number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. The total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes must
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the number
of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme
unless further shareholders’ approval has
been obtained pursuant to the conditions set
out in the Share Option Scheme. No person
shall be granted an option which, if all the
options granted to the person (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12
months period up to the date of grant are
exercised in full would result in such person’s
maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the
number of shares of the Company in issue.

j,)q @ »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. BREOFERNARRS
TRANSACTIONS

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a)
Details of specific categories of options

AR S ()
REBREERLOBEEN

granted under the Share Option Scheme are as BIEFAELT
follows:
Fair value at
Date of grant Vesting period Exercisable period Exercise price grant date
bk
R A H HEN 168 TR E ARfE
18 May 2016 18 May 2016 to 18 May 2017 19 May 2017 to 17 May 2021 HK$0.290 HK$0.136
—Z-R"FRA+NH —Z-R"EFRAT/\HE “T—+tFRAtNEE 0.290% 1L 0.136/ 7L
—Z—+ERATNA ZEZ-FRATtA
18 May 2016 18 May 2016 to 18 May 2018 19 May 2018 to 17 May 2021 HK$0.290 HK$0.155
—Z-RERATNA “E-RERATNHE “EZ-\FRATHLEE 0.290% T 0.155& T
—T-)\FRA+NR ZEZ-FRATtA
18 May 2016 18 May 2016 to 18 May 2019 19 May 2019 to 17 May 2021 HK$0.290 HK$0.169
ZZ-AFRATNA —Z-XERATNBZE —Z-NERATHNAEZ 0.2907% 1T 0.1697% 1T
“Z-NEFRATAR ZE--%AATLHA
28 October 2016 28 October 2016 to 29 October 2017 to HK$0.184 HK$0.076
28 October 2017 27 October 2021
“E-R"ETAZTNH ZZ-R"ETAZTN\BE “Z—+E+AZTNBE 0.184%5 T 0.0765 T
—T—t5+RAZF+/NH ZEZ-%+AZ++tH
28 October 2016 28 October 2016 to 29 October 2018 to HK$0.184 HK$0.089
28 October 2018 27 October 2021
ZE-R"E+AZTNR —Z-R"F+TAZTN\BE —Z-\E+AZt+NBZE 0.1845 T 0.0897% 1L
“Z-N\E+AZtNH “ZZ-5tAZ++H
28 October 2016 28 October 2016 to 29 October 2019 to HK$0.184 HK$0.099
28 October 2019 27 October 2021
ZE-R"E+AZTNR ZZE-R"E+AZ+TN\BE “Z-NETAZThEZ 0.1845 L 0.099% T
“Z-NETRZTNB “E--%+RA=+tH
29 June 2017 29 June 2017 to 29 June 2018 30 June 2018 to 28 June 2022 HK$0.127 HK$0.058
—T—+& AZTNH —E—+t5RAZThHE —T-\EXA=THE 0.1278 7T 0.058/ T
—E-NFRAZtNH —E--_FXAZtNH
29 June 2017 29 June 2017 to 29 June 2019 30 June 2019 to 28 June 2022 HK$0.127 HK$0.066
Sl o e oI =! —T—+tERAZtTNEE —T-NEARA=THZE 0.1278 7T 0.066/8 T
“Z-AFERAZTNH —E--FEXA-TN\H
29 June 2017 29 June 2017 to 29 June 2020 30 June 2020 to 28 June 2022 HK$0.127 HK$0.072
—T—tH5~RAZ+NHE Tt AZTNEZE —Z-TFRA=1HZE 0.127%87 0.072% 7T
“Z-TFEXA=TANA “Z-ZFXA=tTNA
4 January 2022 Note 4 January 2022 to 3 January 2025 HK$0.103 HK$0.068
—E-—4#—F[MA Bt —E--E-AMAZE 0.103% 7T 0.0687% 1L
—“T-RF—-A=H
Note: In accordance with the terms of the Share Option Mer: BB IS R LA
Scheme, these share options vested at the date of N BERE -
grant.
.7 <4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 3. ROEXARRZ (#)
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Equity-settled share option schemes of the AT RERENNERES S (&)
Company (continued)
(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) MEARHEFTE (&)
The following table discloses movements of TERBERESF EEREBMABENAE
the Company’s share options held by directors, NEIBRERFANE S
employees and consultants during the year:
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE--Ff+=ZA=+—-HL
FE
Outstanding
Outstanding Granted Forfeited/ at
at 1 January during the lapsed during 31 December
2022 year the year 2022
R-—BE-C R-BE-=
—HA—H FRARY/ +t=A=+-H
Date of grant =R ief K AT B FREH £ 1 K AT B
Director B
29 June 2017 —E—+&XA=+NH 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) -
Employees EB8
29 June 2017 —E—+EXAZ+NH 27,800,000 - (27,800,000) -
Consultants LG
29 June 2017 —2—+E#~A=-+NA 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) -
4 January 2022 —E--%—AmA - 100,000,000 - 100,000,000

33,300,000 100,000,000 (33,300,000) 100,000,000

Exercisable at the end FRAATE

of the year 100,000,000
Weighted average METFHTEE HK$0.127 HK$0.103 HK$0.127 HK$0.103
exercise price 0.127& T 0.103% T 0.1273 T 0.103# T

o |

|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

3. ROEXFARRS

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

For year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the share options granted were forfeited or
lapsed upon resignations of the personnel
or on expiry of the exercisable period of the
share options.

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
100,000,000 options were granted on 4
January 2022 (2021: nil). The estimated
fair values of the options granted are
approximately RMB2,588,000 (2021: nil).

FERRRERT 2 (&)
BE-_S_—_R_-_T_—F+=
A=+—BLEFE BENERER
EEBBIBRENTITELHER
IR 58 IR 3 SR R

@%:?::$+*H:+—E¢
€+ 100,000,00010 B AL HE A —
——F—ANHERH(=ZZ fi
) BREMBRENGBTALEY
A ANR#2,588,0000T (ZE=-—4:
) o

=

The fair values were calculated using the AREFEAZBAERGE - ERL
Binomial model. The inputs into the model BWABBOT:
were as follows:
2022
—Z:=-=
Weighted average share price InAEF RN BB HK$0.068
0.0687%E T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.103
0.1037%& T
Expected volatility TEER B X 84%
Expected life TEEF A 3 years
3F
Risk-free rate #= J3 B ) R 0.889%

Expected volatility was determined by using
the historical volatility of the Company’s share
price over the previous 3 years. The expected
life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for
the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

EMEBEREBEALRAARER
RIBEMER NBREFE - R
AHNERFHEREEEENRKE
et SRR RN TR RTT
REBNFZEET THE

Y 1
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

3. REOERNARRZ (&)

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Equity-settled share option schemes of the

Company (continued)

(a) Share option scheme (continued)
The Group recognised share-based payment
expense of approximately RMB1,839,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

The following table discloses movements of
the Company’s share options held by directors,
employees and consultants during the year:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

EYNGES ST e o I

(a)

BERE (8)
HEe_2-_—_F+-_A=+—HIL
FE -AEBEZBRGEANRAL
“ AN ER#1,839,0007T (—ZE = —4:
T)e

TRPBEEF EEMBERTEAAR
NEIERERFRNMNE

e -_—4F+-_HA=+—81
FE

Outstanding at

Outstanding at  Forfeited/lapsed 31 December
1 January 2021  during the year 2021
RZZ——%F RZZ——4%F
—A—H FRRK +ZA=+—8
Date of grant B B i ARITE KW i ARITE
Director =
29 June 2017 —E-—tEFEXAZ+NA 2,500,000 - 2,500,000
Employees ==
18 May 2016 —E-RERA+NH 10,700,000 (10,700,000) -
29 June 2017 —E-tEFEXAZ+NA 27,800,000 - 27,800,000
Consultants E
18 May 2016 —E-RERAT+NH 7,000,000 (7,000,000) -
29 June 2017 —E-tEFEXAZ+NA 3,000,000 - 3,000,000
51,000,000 (17,700,000) 33,300,000
Exercisable at the end of FERAITE
the year 33,300,000
Weighted average hniEFHITEE HK$0.184 HK$0.290 HK$0.127
exercise price 0.1847# 7T 0.2907 7T 0.127# 7T

0

o |

% N
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(b)

Share incentive scheme

The share incentive scheme was established
by three shareholders of the Company,
representing 18,000,000 shares of the
Company (the “Share Incentive Scheme”). The
purpose of the Share Incentive Scheme is to
issue options to selected employees, officers,
consultants, agents and advisers of the Group
who meet the relevant eligibility criteria set out
in the Share Incentive Scheme (the "Eligible
Participants”). The employee participants must
have been employed by a member of the
Group prior to the listing of the Company in
November 2004.

The Share Incentive Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect for so long as is necessary to
give effect to the issue and exercise of options
granted in accordance with its terms.

The exercise price per share under the Share
Incentive Scheme is HK$0.20 and each tranche
of option has a term of five years from the
first exercise date, after which any unexercised
portion of an option shall lapse.

Each option will be exercisable subject to a
vesting scale which shall commence on the
date of grant in tranches of 20% each year,
reaching 100%.

During the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021, no options were granted and no
options were outstanding under the Share
Incentive Scheme.

3. ROEXFARRS
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18,000,0008% f% 7 ° B 10 £Z &1 &1 7Y
EMAEMBETEMERMD RS
HEBAERBGENASEEES Ak
AB BEH -RELEXEB([AF
B2HE|)ETERE-EES2H
EVEAR_ZTETNF+—AARA
IHAEXERAEEKE QA -

Befn SZED A EIAS MR 2 E AR AR
SREEGRBETRTEND R
BRERN B ERE R -

7 22 B =t 8 19 | AR 1T 62 (8 /80.20
A BHERER S ETEE HE
AFERARF  HREMBRERT
EMOREE R

FHEREYIREBLOIITEE - &
RE BB EFITFE20% &=
H100% -

HE-_ZT-_—_FR-T=-—F+=
A=Z+—BLFE BERBRMHE
BhEt8l LR mEEREMR
1o

# )
glBERAERAR FR2022 279



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 35. RIKERIFTE

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong. The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the Group companies (the
“employer”) in Hong Kong and its employees are
required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Legislation.
The contributions from each of the employer
and employees are subject to a cap of HK$1,500
per month. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the total amount contributed by the Group
to this scheme and charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income was approximately RMB198,000 (2021:
RMB400,000).

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC,
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute
to a state-managed retirement plan for all its
employees at a certain percentage of the basic
salaries of its employees. The state-managed
retirement plan is responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to all retired employees. Under
the state-managed retirement plan, the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the total amount contributed
by the Group to this scheme and charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income was approximately
RMB9,938,000 (2021: RMB3,910,000).

j,>q @ »
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e DR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &HE-ZE_-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement
dated 29 July 2021, the Group acquired 100%
of the issued share capital of Leading Fortune
Global Group Limited (“Leading Fortune”) as well
as the shareholder’s loan from Mr. Pan Ruixin (the
“Vendor”), the director and senior management of
Leading Fortune and an independent third party to
the Group, at a consideration of:

(i) HK$42,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB34,889,000) in cash as an initial
consideration; and

(i)  HK$124,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB102,837,000) shall be payable by the
Group by the issuance of the promissory note
(the "Promissory Note"”) to the Vendor on the
completion date.

The guarantees and warrants to the Group that
the audited consolidated net profit after taxation
of Leading Fortune and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred as the “Leading Fortune Group”) prepared
in accordance with HKFRS for the 12-month
period commencing on the first date of the month
immediately following the completion date (the
“Relevant Period”) shall meet the guaranteed profit
of HK$160,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB102,837,000) (the “Guaranteed Profit”).
In the event that the net profit for the Relevant
Period does not meet the Guaranteed Profit, the
Promissory Note shall be cancelled upon maturity
and the Group shall not be liable for the repayment
of the principal or any other fees payable by the
Group to the Vendor or the holder of the Promissory
Note. Under the aforementioned circumstance,
the final consideration shall be deemed to be
adjusted downward to HK$42,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB34,889,000). During the
Relevant Period, the Guaranteed Profit did not
meet.

The transaction was completed in 26 August 2021.

6. WIEH B 1 A

BiERAHRAE_Z-_—F+tA-_+HLEH
BEEmE AEENBRMAEE ([EH]
AREEENEATEERASEB Y
FZRIRBTRERREERERAA
([EE])100%E TR ANANLKERE
HREA:

(i) 442,000,000 (HERHODAR
#34,889,0007T) ' EAMIBRE
)5

(i) 124,000,0008 T (HERHARKE
102,837,0007T ) B A AN & B A 5T K
HH S @ETEALZE ([AHE
BN TER-

BEFRAEEERRIRE REBERETEK
HE—RBAMBEARBMI2EARBRE
(TEFEBMRERENB AR (F#E
(REEBE|)BREEEM B RS LR
BNEEZGERB BN FEAED
1R EF;H160,000,000/8 7T (FEZER 4 A
R #102,837,0007t) ([{R&ZEFIHE]) 4
R EE MR A FEREINREFE
EEBESRIEBR TUFHE mAE
BYESEFEERALEBENASHASE
EENEHFINALEZEEREANTME
BB -FLABAT XEREEARAE
T #%242,000,0008 7T (FHERH AR
34,889,0007T) - MIERE I - REERE
FIE o

BRAXSGER-—_E-_—F N NA=-_+xA8
K °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. WEBME A T

Leading Fortune Group is engaged in provision of
finance leases services in the PRC. The Group has
acquired Leading Fortune Group so as to expand
into the finance leasing services market.

The Group elected to apply the optional
concentration test in accordance with HKFRS 3
Business Combinations.

This acquisition has been accounted for as an
acquisition of assets rather than a business
combination, given that substantially all of the fair

BRESRERNTENFREREHERS-
AEECHER=EE UEERERE
HE RS M5 -

AEBRERBR BN BHREENFEIN
[XBAatt] BRMESHERAH -

ERRBEECREEWEMIERKA
AR ARAEENEERBERARD
MARESETR —ABRUNAI#HEE

value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated (BNRtEH S U FKR) o
in a group of similar identifiable assets (i.e. finance

lease receivables).

RMB’000

AR¥ Tt

Cash consideration ReNRE 34,889
Note: The fair values of the promissory note as at the acquisition WeE: RKEARERR-_ZT-_—F+ZA=+—

AREREEBENAAREN N RERE - Bt
RIFFEK B EIFEN G RegE 2 FB R

date of completion, the profit guarantee cannot be met. #o

date and as at 31 December 2021 are nil and nil
respectively. As a result, based on the contracts exist at the

REBRHEINERBEELREGEN

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date

of acquisition are as follows: g
RMB’000
AR® T T
Finance lease receivables mEHE R 32,160
Bank balances and cash RITER IR 2,754
Tax payables J& A 5t 18 (25)
Net identifiable assets at fair value BARBEFTENA HRIEEFRE 34,889

j)* »

Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36.

37.

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of
subsidiaries

36. WHEHKIE 2 7 (@)

WERERNRE R FHE

RMB’000

AR¥T T

Cash consideration paid 2ERNEEKE 34,889
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired & :EWRERELRRESEED (2,754)
32,135

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 December 2022, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interest in as well as the
shareholder’'s loan to Leading Fortune to the
Vendor for HK$43,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB41,924,000). The Vendor can
choose to settle the consideration in cash or eligible
cryptocurrencies. The transaction was completed
on 23 December 2022. Further details of the
transaction had been set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 4 August 2022, 1 September
2022, 30 September 2022, 1 December 2022, 23
December 2022, 3 January 2023 and 31 March
2023.

37. HEWB AT
R-_E-—_F+-_A=-+=H K&
B LA43,000,0008 T (FHERHARK
41,924,0007T) M) E & A & 77 & H B
ENEERERRRER BRI NEE
NBEEHEERNEEEEERE-ZE
RGR_E-_—_F+_A-+=H%K-"
ZREHME—THFBLEHNAQF A H
AB-E-_F)N\AMNB -—ZE=-_FNA
—RB ZEZZFhA=+RH %=
F+-_fA—R —E-_—_F£+-A=-+=
B - =F—A=BARKk=-FT=-_=F=
A=+—BKHA%-

Consideration RE
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Consideration received in form of BRARBENEERINZEEER
eligible cryptocurrencies at fair value EWRE 15,954
Deferred consideration FEERE 25,970
41,924
a
2
V- <
o -
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e ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

37. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. HEHEB XA (@)

Consideration (continued) RE (&)
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control REERBBZEERABEIN:
was lost:
23/12/2022
—E—-=
+=HA=+=H
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Plant and equipment S E ] 2
Right-of-use assets EREEE 96
Bank balances and cash WITHEHBEIES 25
Other receivables H b e U BR 5K 4,323
Finance lease receivables B & TH & RN GRIR 57,226
Other payables Hh E TR K (905)
Lease liabilities HEAE (107)
Income tax payable FET RIS HX (4,250)
56,410
Loss on disposals of subsidiaries: HENB AR ZEE:
RMB’000
AR TR
Consideration received and receivable B R EWRRE 41,924
Less: net assets disposed of WL ECEEFE (56,410)
(14,486)
Net cash outflow arising on disposals of HEMB AR ZIRE M H F5E
subsidiaries:
RMB’000
AR TR
Cash consideration received BEWRERE =
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of & : HE&E Z RITEHNIES (25)
(25)

ED*'

o |

/s j!
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e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HE-_TE-—F+-_A=+—HILtFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group has recognised loan interest
income of approximately RMB476,000 (2021:
RMB206,000) from a shareholder.

As at 31 December 2022, the loan and
interest receivables from the shareholder
amounted to approximately RMB4,510,000
(2021: RMB4,291,000) in aggregate, which
are unsecured and carried interest at fixed
rate of 6% (2021: 12%). The interest rate is
determined based on prevailing market rate

and agreed between both parties.

Other than the above or disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group had no other material transactions with
related party during both years.

38. BERRS
RE&z-—_T-_—&#+-_HA=4+—H
EFE AEBEEERRE—BRE
B E A B WAL ARA476,0007T
(ZZ=—%F: AR¥206,0007T) °

RZZEZ=ZF+=ZA=+—H0 &
WREERRFMEEENBARKE
4,510,000 (ZZEZ—F: AR®
4,291,00070) * % & 58 A IR I A
Im‘u%%( T —F:12%) &t
8 o FI K YR BIRITH B KFE RETH
EhpmETE-

BRA LR M B mR o Pr
BEESN AE BN EFE A E
HEAETEEMBEARS

The remuneration of directors and other FANEERHEHMEZETEEXNEN
members of key management during the year BT :
were as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E - —%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBF T
Short-term benefits = HE 5,874 3,896
Post-employment benefits BER 212 A 243 146
6,117 4,042
The remuneration of directors and other EERAEMEIEEREKRKENMS
members of key management is determined DHEFMEESZEREARE K&
by the remuneration committee having regard ERXRBERNENRTSBEE
to the performance of individuals, the Group’s JE °
performance and profitability and market
trends.
Y 1
7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising
from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash
flows from financing activities.

39.

METHRELEBEZHEK

TRALAEERETHMELARZ
2 pRASMFASED BETD
FFELEBERAEREEXAKRBE LR
ERRGARERERNESBRRE
/ﬁ@.ﬁﬁi/ﬂbi%

Bank Interest  Convertible Lease

borrowing payable bonds liabilities

WITE/H BN AJBREER HEAE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETTT ARETIT ARBTIT ARETET

At 1 January 2021 RZE-Z—F—H—H 3,000 - - 110,672
Financing cash flows MERERE
— Repayment —EX (3,000) (17) 32,987 (18,971)
Non-cash changes IR EE
— Conversion into shares of —E AR ARG

the Company - - (33,681) -
— Increase in lease liabilities —HEBELEM - - - 2,849
— Interest expense —F B X - 17 694 5,589
— Exchange realignment —[E XA - - - 81)
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—HA—H - - - 100,058
Financing cash flows MERERE
— Repayment —gX - - - (19,148)
Non-cash changes e
— Increase in lease liabilities —HEBEEM - - - 4,715
— Disposals of subsidiaries —HEMRBAT - - - (107)
— Interest expense —F B8R - - - 5,024
- Exchange realignment —EHFE - - - 211
At 31 December 2022 RZTEZ=ZF+=A

=+—H - - - 90,753
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 &=

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

TR+ -_RAR=t+—HILFEE
40. A7) B B B AR R 3R

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBARNRE 2,002 1,998
Right-of-use asset EREEE = 1,467
Financial asset at fair value BAREGFABRZR
through profit or loss MBEE 3,011 2,260
Other receivables H i U R 47 42
5,060 5,767
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables HAth 8 Ui B 3K 674 1,929
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE W B B A B R TE (a) 274,718 261,366
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERE 326 3,802
275,718 267,097
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H A e 5 BR 3K 6,099 5,160
Lease liability MERR - 1,344
Amount due to a subsidiary e — BT B A Bl FE (a) 1,348 1,226
7,447 7,730
Net current assets MEBEESE 268,271 259,367
Net assets BEFE 273,331 265,134
Capital and reserves B A &
Share capital & A< 56,662 56,662
Reserves & (b) 216,669 208,472
Total equity RmEE 273,331 265,134
a
; ~
V- <
o -
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e PR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #H#ZE-ZT-_—_F+_-_A=+—BItFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40. &P T BT IS AR R R (@)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Notes: B 5
(@)  The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured, (@ ER(EMWBARNKREAEER 288
interest-free and repayable on demand. AREREER-
Capital Contribution
Share Translation  redemption  Share options from Other ~ Accumulated
premium Special reserve reserve reserve reserve  shareholders reserve losses Total
s [d BRE
RiyEE KHRE BRERE B i RRHE R b5 B3t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR  AR%TR

At 1 January 2022 R-E--%-f-H 1,223,891 57,814 43,812 595 91,367 1921 141,000 (1,351,934) 208,472
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - (11,526) (11,526)
Other comprehensive income for the year REREM2ERS
- Exchange difference arfsing on translation of  ~§i R AN EHEAS

financial statement from functional cureny 2 ERELMERZE

to presentation currency - - 17,884 - - - - - 17,884
Total comprehensive income (expense) FERZENE (w88
for the year - - 17,884 - - - - (11,526) 6,358
- Recognition of equity-settled share-based  ~BREEREROROTA
payment expenses BB - - - - 1839 - - - 1839
At 31 December 2022 RZFZZF+ZA=1-H 1,223,891 57,814 61,696 595 93,206 1,921 141,000 (1,363,460) 216,669
Capital Convertible ~ Contribution
Share Special  Translation ~ redemption Share bonds from Other  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve options reserve reserve  shareholders reserve losses Total

ArKEE BiE  URRER
RiEE  HARE  BEGE Gl &l R RRLE  RkRE  RiER it
RMBOOO  RMB00D  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMVBOOO  RMBOOD  RWBOO0  RMBOOD  RMB00D  RMB'000
ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETI AREBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR

At 1 January 2021 R=F=-%-A-A 1,157,559 57,814 48,331 595 91,367 - 1927 141,000 (1,341,358) 157,235
Loss for the year TEREE - - - - - - - - (10,576) (10,576)
Other comprehensive expense for the year AEREMZERR
- Exchange difference arising on translation of -HRERAYHEREAE
financial statement from functional currency SIERELNERZE
10 presentation currency - - (4,519 - - - - - - (4,519)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TFERERRLE - - (4519) - - - - - (10,576) (15,095)
- sue of new ordinary share from placing -REEMEAHEER 35,978 - - - - - - - - 35,978
- Transaction costs attributable to issue of -EREMBAINEBRELNLANE
new ordinary shares from placing (73) - - - - - - - - (73)
- Recognition of equity component of convertible bonds - ERTERKESNERTH - - - - - 2,640 - - - 2,640
- Issue of new shares upon conversion of -BRTRRESRETHRS
convertible bonds (notes 31 and 33) (W#31733) 30,427 - - - - (2,640) - - - 27,781
At 31 December 2021 RZF=-5+-f=t-H 1,223,891 57,814 43812 595 91,367 - 1,927 141,000 (1,351,934 208472
(1A »
: 8 <
#:“J h
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR AR MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL M. ZRFEEEMBLAFE
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at R ZFR=F_—F+=A=+—
31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows: H ARG EEMBARIMFBELOT
Place of
establishment/
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of subsidiary operation Class of shares held capitaliregistered capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
B/ ERRL/ BEARMARKE/
HEARLHE Y FrERAER ithax FRAREMARERRREREANL TEEH
2022 2021
—B-CF "B -F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE 3 % B3
Precious Luck The BVI Ordinary US§100 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBRNEE  EAR 100%7 REBR
Guopei Wang Beijing The PRC Registered Capital RMBS5,000,000 - 51% - 51%  Provision of online education
development service
AERILR HE Eali-v AR 5,000,000 REBEHELREH
Bejjing Zhongjin The PRC Registered Capital RMB50,000,000 - 99.50% - 99.50%  Provision of insurance brokerage services
7Lk il ifas AR50,000,0007 RERBRELRE
M| S EEAEANERAR The PRC Registered Capital RMB10,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of online education
development service
hE AR AB%10,000,0007 REBEABEERE
NEEBEAEHHERRA  The PRC Registered Capital RMB2,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of online education
development service
HEl g AR 2,000,000 RUEBRAZERBE
Well Tunes Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,390,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of insurance brokerage services
ERRY i ERR 3,390,000/ 7T RERRELRE
RuiLian Financial Hong Kong Ordinary 2022: HK$30,000,000 = 100% - 100%  Provision of investment advisory services
2021: HK$25,000,000
hBeR 53 LRk ZZZ2:30,000,0005 RUERBERRS
2222500000050
BRAGES The PRC Registered capital RMB10,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of online education
development service
HE ifEL AR%10,000,0007C REBEARERRE
China Oriental Culture Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% - 100% - Acts as administrative center of the Group
(Hong Kong) Limited
PERANL (FR)ERRE  FE EER 1B ERRERTHAL
China Oriental Culture Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 100% - 100% - Acts as administrative center of the Group
RERFUERAA 53 LRR 1% ERAEETHAL
Housden Holdings The BVI Ordinary Uss2 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBRRER  EAR BT RERR
Leading Fortune The BVI Ordinary US$5,000,000 - (note c) - 100%  Provision of finance leasing services
#E iERaEE  LBR 5,000,000%7T () 100%  RERERERH

a
~

ﬁ" 4
G n
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZEZT—=-—

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Ft-A=1+—"BLFE

41, RAFETEMBRABDFE (@)

(continued)
Place of
establishment/
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid share Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of subsidiary operation Class of shares held capital/registered capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
A/ R/ BREARERRA/
LN EEY s RIS ithgx RRRREMARRERRRREAL TEXH
2022 2021
—BCoCE “B--F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
B B BE &
CL Education Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$28,146,300 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
EBHERRAA 1 ERR 28,146,300 0 REAR
FRABRAREREERAR  The PRC Registered capital RMB150,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Provision of technical consultancy services
(“Beijing Chuanglian Guopei")
(L REIBELE]) PE Eaiw AR %150,000,0007T RERITHARE
IRABHEREERAR  ThePRC Registered capital RMB11,000,000 - - - - Investment management and the
(note a) (note a) provision of educational
consultancy services
HE HMELR AEH11,000,0007T (Hza) (Mita) RATRRREAEZARE
Guopei Wang Beijing The PRC Registered capital RMB5,000,000 - - - - Provision of internet information services
(note a) (note a) and the promotion of technologies
ARRILR HE HMER AR 5,000,000 (Hita) (i) REDBEEARERRWEE
FREEEREREERAT  The PRC Registered capital 2021: RMB9,000,000 - - - 100%  Inactive
("tREE2") (note b)
il MR Z2I-FARE (Hitb) HRERER
9,000,0007C
Wellstone Credit Financial Group Hong Kong Registered capital HK$2 - 100% - 100%  Provision of money lending services
Limited
MEEEENBERAT Bk Eaiw 2B RERERS

* All other entities established in the PRC are limited liability
companies. Beijing Chuanglian Guopei is a wholly foreign
owned enterprise established in the PRC.

= -4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e IR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(o)

The Group does not have legal ownership in equity of
the subsidiaries. The PRC regulations restrict foreign
ownership of companies that provide telecommunications
and information services. In order to enable the Group
to operate such services, the Group has signed certain
contractual agreements on 25 March 2011 with the
registered owners of the subsidiaries to obtain subsidiaries’
control by way of controlling the voting rights, governing
its financial and operating policies, appointing or removing
the majority of the members of their controlling authorities,
and casting the majority of votes at meetings of such
authorities. In addition, such contractual agreements also
transfer the risks and rewards of Chuanglian Education
and Guopei Wang Beijing to the Group and/or the Group's
other legally owned subsidiaries. As a result, they are
presented as controlled structured entities of the Group. As
at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has 100% of
voting right for Chuanglian Education and 51% of voting
right for Guopei Wang Beijing.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, bt F# L % has
been deregistered with no material impact.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
disposed Leading Fortune. Details are set out in note 37.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries

woul

d, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

(b)

()

41. KRR EEH B QA RIFE

AEBTERNBARBETHEEITHA
o BUEBMREBIRHEERELRBN AR
RINEFTBE# - BERNEEEEEZSRE
AEBER-_E——F=ZA=-t+HBHEKEB
RElAMBEBAESETEANOHE UEBE
Sl =R RIEFMBE QRN X BEHEMS
R IBHR - 2T 3B S H A% Bl 8 K35 Ak
B URRZERBENSZ LRAZHE-
AN ZEA N BFENER AR E R EEA
trROEREEREREE R, HAEEE
HEATHEBENHBAR AL HRAKXEE
S REEEEE - R E - —FR T~ —
F+-A=+—B AEBHEEEBHEN
100% 35 = 4 o B 55 4840 R H951 % 1% 24 o

RBE_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—HIEFE i
REEREDEN UEEATE-

RZB-_—_F+_A=+—HULFE A%£H
BHERE  FIFEHNMIE37 -

ERFAIAEENBRABARARRES
ARIBEREAGEXGEREEZNE
RAE-ARABEETRRIHEMKE QA
MFBERHERREAN TR

Y 4
#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 41. XATEEM B D RIFFE (@)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company RmERR RNAREAEMEAREEM
has other subsidiaries that are not material to the ETMBERNMBAR -ZEWBAA K
Group. A majority of these subsidiaries operate in ZERPBERBEEEE - ZSMBLAAN
the PRC and Hong Kong. The principal activities of FEEBHMRBOT

these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal activities Place of incorporation Number of subsidiaries
TEXK FE 1M Ak SZ b B ME FEAE
2022 2021
—_=-__ —EF-—F
Inactive Hong Kong 3 3
RN N
The PRC 38 25
as
Singapore 1 1
ES IR
Investment holding Hong Kong 3 3
REER s
The BVI 5 4
REERES
The PRC 1 1
i3
51 37
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities at T M8 £F J8 2R Be 7 WA {8 £F & 1A {3 o] B ] -
the end of both years nor at any time during both MEMNBAREEMNEBES-
years.

e
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. ARFEEHMEB R TFE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary BEERKEREZNHEZEWS
that have material non-controlling ARFHE

interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TRIINTAEEHREEERFEERERD
subsidiary of the Group that have material non- FEEMBRARFE:

controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership interests

Place of establishment/ and voting rights held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name incorporation/operations non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FREREGREREERR AEE
i R/ FEAL S B REZEAAL FERRENER REt RS
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

S¥-SF 0 CERC-F 0 S®ESF SES-F 0 Z®REDE CECOF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTR ARETR  ABMTR  ARETR

Guopei Wang Beijing The PRC 49% 49% (1,288) (1,628) 14 1,302
EEALR h

Individually subsidiaries with

immaterial non-controlling

interests (1,351) (1,366) 723 2,074
ABEPEAFERESY

@RI AR

(2,639) (2,994 737 3,376
Summarised financial information in respect of the TXH#HINEEASEEEEERNEERE
Group's subsidiary that has material non-controlling R EMNB AR BEERE - LA TE
interests is set out below. The summarised financial BEMBEESEBRANARBHENNS
information below represents amounts before intra- ¥ o
group eliminations.
a
A

o
(C_— n
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R MR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 HZE=T ==

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

F+-A=t+—AILFE

41. XATETEMBRABTFE (@)

GuoPei Wang Beijing Eipg il
2022 2021
—=E—-= —E-—4F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Current assets MENEE 17,824 32,090
Non-current assets IEREBEE 835 830
Current liabilities mEaE 18,629 30,262

Equity attributable to owners of RAGHA ANEG#EZR

the Company 16 1,356
Non-controlling interests JEVE AR HE 2 14 1,302

5

=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZE—-ZT-_—F+_-_A=+—HItFE

41. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. ARFEEHMEB R TFE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

GuoPei Wang Beijing (continued) Bl 3% 4 40 3 ()

2022 2021
—_=2__ —EF - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRE ARET
Revenue WA 95,541 114,022
Expenses il (98,170) (117,344)
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBERZERX
expenses for the year 48 =E (2,629) (3,322)
Loss attributable to owners of /NI L S DN o) OF
the Company (1,341) (1,694)
Loss attributable to non-controlling FEIER S B (L B 1R
interests (1,288) (1,628)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year NS 2 A FH 258 (2,629) (3,322)
Net cash (outflow) inflow from KB EEER
operating activities Be (ORE)RAFE (8.836) 15,092
Net cash inflow from investing activities KRB & E 5K
R mANFE 86 155
Net cash outflow from financing activities R BB & 25K
BE M LFRE (6,354) (5,924)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Be ORd) mAFE (15,104) 9,323
a
4-

iy
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e PR R M R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 EHE-ZE-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

42. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Group entered into new arrangements
in respect of leasing of offices and training
centres. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
of approximately RMB4,715,000 (2021:
RMB2,849,000) were recognised at the
commencement of the leases.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022,
part of the consideration for the disposals of
subsidiaries of approximately RMB15,954,000
were received in the form of digital assets as
further detailed in note 37.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2022,
other payables in the form of digital assets of
approximately RMB8,234,000 (2021: nil) were
utilised to settle the repayment of finance
lease receivables.

(d) During the year ended 31 December
2022, part of the Group's digital assets of
approximately RMB7,740,000 (2021: nil) were
utilised to provide new finance lease.

43. CAPITAL COMMITMENT
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
year but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

42.

43.

EXFRERS

(@ B#EZFT-_—_F+-HA=+—HL
FE AEEREERDERFIF
DEIM M -REER G A H
REAREERHERBHARE
4,715,000 (ZTEZ—F: AR®
2,849,0007T) °

by REz—Z-_—-—F#+=-A=+—8H
LEFE - BHrHEMRBRARREHA
R #15,954,000t LB FEEF R
B - 5 R E37 ©

(0 HHEZZT-_—_F+-A=+—HL
FE-HMUBRFEEFANEMNK
TE#4) AR #8,234,000 (Z & = —

FE)ARLEEREHERKARD

£
DA °©

B

=

5

d) Bz2-Z-_—_#F#+=-_A=+—H1
FE AEBEFHIBETEEHNDARK
7,740,000t (ZZE=-—F :T)FHR
REFOREHEE -

BAREE
BRI EXRERLEABENFREANARX
m

2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARETT

Capital contribution of acquisition of WHEME  ME KR

property, plant and equipment KT E 25,794 -
Capital contribution of interest REEE RAERATE

in associates 13,840 13,840

7)* 5
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